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Michal Wanner

Alexander Bekovich Cherkassky’s Campaign to Central
Asia and India in 1714-1717

Abstract

The study deals with one branch of the Russian policy of the Peter I
period, heading towards establishing contacts with India via Central Asia.
Author describes in introduction the Russian attempts to establish trade
and diplomatic relations with India in the 17" century. Subsequently, he
analyses the information and errors, relied on by the Russian policy in this
area, their gradual disproving by various expeditions organized both from
the Siberian centers, both from Astrakhan. The greatest attention is paid to
campaigns of Alexandr Bekovich Cherkassky in Central Asia 1714-1717.
Based on a detailed study of sources, he attempts to evaluate the
significance of these expeditions both for growing of geographic knowledge
of the area as well as assessment of the possibilities of Russian expansion to
Central Asia and India. The conclusion is devoted to the analysis of the
causes of the tragic end of Cherkassky campaign to Khiva in 1716-1717.

Keywords: Alexandr Bekovich Cherkassky’s Campaign in Central Asia
in 1714-1718, Russian Expansion, Central Asia, the period of Peter I,
Russian Indian Policy, Geographical Discovery of Caspian Sea.

he study deals with one branch of the Russian policy over

the Peter I period, heading towards establishing contacts

with India, so catching the western-European dominance in
that region up. The author pursues the aim to gradually map and
appraise single components of Peter I's effort in this direction. It is a
follow-up to the published works devoted to the development of the
Indian trading community in Astrakhan,' and attempt by Peter to
penetrate the East-Indian trade by gaining co-operation with
Madagascar pirates2.

The story of the first campaign to India in history is linked to the
expansion of Russia to Central Asia. Out of all attempts at
independent penetration to India and establishing business contacts,
this was the most ambitious, the most liberal and the most complex

1 WANNER M., Indian Trading Community in Astrakhan in Context of Russian-
Indian Relationship (1636—1725), West Bohemian Historical Review, Pilsen-
Hamburg, 1/2012, 115-131; Ibid., Development of Indian Trading Community in
Astrakhan in Context of Russian-Indian Relationship (1725-1800), West Bohemian
Historical Review, Pilsen-Hamburg, 1/2013, 34-51

2 WANNER M., The Madagascar Pirates in the Strategic Plans of Swedish and
Russian Diplomacy 1680-1730, Prague PHIR, Prague-Vienna, 2008, 73-94
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one. For that reason the catastrophic failure has led to long-term
consequences, and has been kept in the Russian history as a
permanent memento. A low number of historical studies3 covering
this theme is the reflection of aversion to this topic in the Russian
society, as well as deficiency in sources, or a number of obscurities in
the interpretation of single actors’ behaviour. On the other hand,
most of the key sources were published as early as in the tsarist
Russia4, others in the Soviet eras. The study is based on investigation
into the mentioned sources, tries to critically compare them, and to
set Bekovich’s expedition to the overall context of the Indian and
Caspian policy.

Russia’s Indian Policy up to 1713

The effort to establish direct business contacts with India was one
of the constants in the Russian foreign policy over the entire early
modern period. Russia was kept well informed about the
development in India through the news coming from Persia and
Bukhara, mediated by Indian trading communities in Russia, mostly
the one in south-Russian Astrakhan. However, it appears fairly
logical that just mere information was hardly sufficient to satisfy the
tsarist government. Taking its cue from Portuguese and other west-
European traders, it tried to establish direct diplomatic and trade
relations with India. Therefore, four deputations in total were sent to
India in the 17% century. The first of them was led by Nikita
Syroyegin in 1646; the leaders of the second one in 1651 were Rodion
Pushnikov and Ivan Derevyensky. Neither of those missions

3 The campaign is widely mentioned in the syntheses of Peter's foreign policy,
Russian-Central Asian trade and diplomatic relations, but only two independent
studies were devoted to it so far: OMAROV O. Yu., Otvazhny issledovatel”
Kaspiyskogo morya, Makhachkala 1965. VILINBAKHOV V. B., Aleksandr
Cherkassky — Spodvizhnik Petra I., Nal’ chik 1966. Important studies have also been
devoted to Cherkassky expeditions from the point of view of geographical discoveries
(viz note. N° 93).

4 Zapiski Bebera, Russky arkhiv, 1872, N° 7-8. 1334-1457; Dyelo, 1714-1718
godov, ob” otpravlenii leyb’-gvardii preobrazhenskogo polka kapitan’poruchika
knyazya Alexandra Bekovicha Cherkasskago, na Kaspiyskoe more i v’ Khivu, IN:
BYCHKOV A. F. (ed.), Materialy Voyenno-uchenogo arkhiva Glavnogo shtaba, St.
Peterburg, vol. I, 1871, 197-202. BEZGIN 1. G., Knyazya Bekovicha-Cherkasskogo
ekcpedicia v Khivu i posol “stva flota poruchika Kozhina u Murzy Tevkeleva v Indiu
k Velikomu Mogolu (1714-1717 g.), Bibliograficheskaya monografia, St. Peterburg,
1891, 239 p.

5 OVCHINIKOV R. B., SIDOROV M. A. (eds. ), Russko-indiyskie otnoshenia v
XVIII v., Sbornik dokumentov, Moskva, 1965, 33-52.
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succeeded, since envoys had been forced to go back in the middle of
their journey.® The third delegation led by a Bukharian merchant
Muhammad Jusuf Kasimov arrived in Kabul, controlled by the Great
Mughals those times, in 1676. However, Emperor Aurangzeb did not
admit that Russian mission. He had just a general idea about Russia
and its importance, what is more he had been fully occupied with a
rebellion in Delhi.”

The course of events in the sphere of diplomatic relations, not
successful until those times, went on in a bit more systematic manner
during the reign of Peter I, when another pillar of foreign relations,
the Caspian policy, part of which became also Indian policy, was
being built besides the traditional Baltic and Black Sea ones. Peter
had been particularly interested in Oriental antiques and rarities.
Samples of mostly coins and letterings collected by his order would
become the core of the Asian Museum later on. What was also laid
during the era of his reign were foundations of Russian Orientalism.
On the other hand, his dismissive attitude towards envoys from
weaker Asian countries was extraordinarily demonstrated by
exposing his non-Russian vassals and Asian serfs at his court to the
public ridicule and bizarre ceremonies.8

A number of steps to establish constant trade and diplomatic
contacts were taken in the late 17 and the early 18t centuries. The
instructions to single expeditions show that the prime aim was to
establish business relationships. The most significant out of those
expeditions was Semyon Martynovich Malen’kov’s one (also
Malen’koy) in 1695. He undertook a journey to Isfahan in Persia, and
in January 1698 he went abroad a ship in Bandar-Abbas harbour to
sail to Surat in India. Between 1698 and 1701 he was staying on the
Indian subcontinent. He met Emperor Aurangzeb while he was
leading the Army of the Mughal Empire against the Maratha people
on Dakshin. Malen’kov received Aurangzeb’s ferman allowing him
duty-free trade in all towns in the Mughal Empire. In 1701,
Malen’kov bought a number of goods and set out on journey back,
once again across Persia. However, on the way he died in the town of
Shamakhi (Schemakha) in Azerbaijan in 1702. Nevertheless, his
mates delivered the goods to Moscow, together with two unused

6 May 26, 1651- at the latest May 15, 1667, delegation to India of the merchants
R. Pushnikov and I. Derevyensky, in: LAVRENCOVA T. D., OVCHINIKOV R. V.,
SHUMILOV V. N. (eds. ), Russko-indiyskie otnoshenia v XVIIv., Sbornik
dokumentov, Moskva, 1958, Doc. N° 49-55, 99-123.

7NEPOMJASHCHY N. N., Russkaya India, Moskva, 2010, 64-65.

8 KEMP P. M., Bharat-Rus, An Introduction to Indo-Russian contacts and
travels from medieval times to the October revolution, Delhi, 1958, 62.
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letters of recommendation for the Khan of Khiva and Balkh (the
expedition did not go through Central Asia)® and precious notes
about India at the turn of the 17t century. Also Aurangzeb’s ferman
arrived in Russia, but it would be found impossible to translate it in
the Posolsky Prikaz. Malen’kov’s journey demonstrated to Peter I the
possibility to establish the trade with India by land.°

After the naval battle of Hang6 in July-August 1714 it became
evident that the victory in the Northern War had been definitely
inclined towards the Russian part. Tsar Peter had already broken
through his longed-for window to Europe, and appeared in the Baltic
region. However, the treasury was empty; there were just a few
sources of income for the state. It was necessary to fill that window to
Europe with trading contents. The traditional goods, which Russia
could offer to the west - corn, hemp and wax, had not brought in a
handsome profit. Therefore, it was necessary to search for other
sources of gains to finance war. The thing that best documents
Peter’s considerations on matters of business relationships with India
are talks of 4 December 1714 with a Hannover resident staying in
Petersburg, Friedrich-Christian Baber, about how profitable for
Russia would be trade with India, and during which he pointed out
Astrakhan as the central point of trade with India and Persia. Those
times, Peter I had been already thinking about digging a canal
connecting the Volga River with the Black Sea, so with the
Mediterranean Sea, despite exercising certain restraint resulting
from the slow progress on the canal Volga-Don construction works,
which had begun in 1707.1

Nevertheless, the events of the year 1713 brought about the change
of the dominant orientation of Russian policy on India. First of all, it
was a Turkmen magnate, Hodja Nefes’s initiative, whose motivation
remains not quite evident. Provided with different sorts of goods,
Nefes arrived at Tyub-Karagan wharf on Mangyshlak (also
Mangghyslaq) Peninsula in 1713. He confided to the locals that he
had a certain important task regarding the Russian state, and asked
them to take him to Astrakhan. He met there one member of the
Indian community, who was called Prince Mikhail Zamanov (also
Samonov or Samanov). He was of Persian origin from Gilan, and

9 May 7, 1695 — April 30, 1716, Travel to India of P. Malen”kov, Russko-indiyskie
otnoshenia v XVII v., Doc. N° 251-260, 356-377, 391-393.

10 JLANICKY W. A,, Snosheniya Rosii s Sredneyu Aziyeyu i Indiyeyu v XVI-XVII
v., IN: Chteniya v Imperatorskom obshchestvye istorii i drevnostey rossiyskikh pri
Moskovskom univerzitete 1888, 56.

11 Zapiski Bebera, Russky arkhiv, 1341.
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would leave for Russia later on where he would convert to
Christianity. Nefes told him about a river in the Bukhara Khanate
where it was possible to pan gold. Basing on that information,
Zamanov organised a joint journey to Moscow, where he introduced
Nefes to His Tsar Majesty, Peter 1. Whereas Zamanov left Moscow
and went back to Astrakhan, Hodja Nefes stayed there.2

Peter had come together with the monarch of Khiva, Khan
ShakhNiyaz, as early as a few years before, in 1700. That monarch’s
power position was rather unstable, so he needed his northern
neighbour to help him suppress some Turkmen tribes. In 1700, in
accord with a feudal tradition, he offered Peter to become his vassal.
That agreement would be never reached as the Khan would die.
However, in 1709, Peter answered to request alike put in by the
Khan’s successor Aran-Mamet saying ,,we’ve agreed on providing
Khan and all his territorial possession with protection to eternal
subordination.™s3

This step would significantly affect Russian thoughts in the future,
and during the period of Alexander Bekovich Cherkassky’s campaign
to India, which is the subject of this study, might have helped
perceive insufficiently political realities in Central Asia. However,
instantly after 1709, Peter I fully engaged with affairs of the Northern
War put his mind out of that question. Only later on he formed his
opinion that control over the Khanate of Khiva lying off the Russian
southern border, and bordering on India, according to what he
thought, would allow him to open a way to India by land. In addition
to that, the Khan of Khiva as a Russian vassal could protect Russian
caravans heading with goods to India. At a time, Hodja Nefes
communicated to him that the Amu-Darya River flowing through the
Khanate of Khiva and Bukhara was abundant in golden sand. He also
told him that the large river had once flown into the Caspian Sea, and
that it had been possible to arrive in gold-yielding towns of India
alone by that river. However, having worries about the chance of that
favourable water way Russians would jump at, the local Turkmen
monarchs decided to divert the Amu-Darya towards the Aral Sea,
therefore would dam the old riverbed with a dyke. Supposedly, to
take this dam to piece was not that complicated, so the water would
flow into the Caspian Sea once again. Nefes swore that his
compatriots were ready to help Russians cross dry sands and steppes.
His news would fall on fertile ground.*

12 OMAROV O. Yu., Otvazhny issledovatel ', 25-26.
13 Quoted by Istoriya Uzbeckqj SSSR, vol. 1, part 111, Tashkent, 1955, 440.
14 LUKAWSKI Z., Dzieje Azji Srodkowej, Krakéw, 1996, 197-198.
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At that period, at the end of 1713, the Governor General of Siberia,
Prince Matvey Petrovich Gagarin, told Peter that the so-called ,,sand
gold” could be found on the Syr-Darya River around the town of
Yerket. He supposed that the town, also called Erket or Irket, was
situated in Siberia. Actually, it was obviously the town of Yarkand
lying on the same-named river in today’s Xinjiang.!s

What was considerably more valuable for Peter than the testimony
about gold was information on the possibility to reach India by water
across the Caspian Sea. Many of the west-European sources also
indicated that the Amu-Darya River had lately flown into the Caspian
Sea. Peter became interested in the chance to get the river back to its
original bed. The Tsar had been creating visions according to which
the system of canals could make it possible to lengthen the link with
the Baltic region, so he would gain the key to the main and the most
profitable trade route running between the west and east, and he
would become a middle man in trade between India and Europe.®®

Variety of plans had been hatched, despite unfavourable financial
situation of Russia. A project to develop the trade between India and
China was designed from Fedor Stepanovich Saltykov’s pen no later
but in 1714. The plan forms Chapter XXV and XXVI in the document
»~The Statement of the State Profits”. That project suggested that the
Tsar should build supporting points, and first of all an extensive
development of navigation by European and Siberian rivers and
adjacent seas in the area from the Northern Dvina River mouth to the
Amur River mouth. The author assumed that ,then East-Indian
vessels could be sent for merchants from Your state, which will
bring a handsome profit and the state wealth”. The plan also called
for following the caravan trade between southern Russia and India.'”

Another direction of advance was Siberia. The expedition of Ivan
Dmitrievich Bukhgol'ts in 1714-1717 followed the one of Tobol’sk
aristocrat F. Trushnikov. In 1713, he undertook a journey to explore
Central Asia from the north. He went through East Turkestan to
Kuku-nor Lake (Qinghai), to the upper Huang-he River, across
Kalgan, and came back to Tobol’sk in 1716. This expedition yielded a

15 GROSSUL-TOLSTOY P., Dela russkogo oruzhiya 1 politiki v Sredney Azii (po
povodu voyny Rosii s Chivoyu), Odessa, 1871, 3-5. KNYAZHECKAYA E. A, Istoriya
odnoy geograficheskoy oshibki petrovskogo vremeni, IN: Puteshestviya i
geograficheskiye otkrytiya v XV-XIX vv., Moskva-Leningrad, 1965, 57-67. Included
are reproductions of sketches of M. P. Gagarin and P. Chicharov showing the position
Erketi-Yarkend.

16 LEBEDEV D. M., YESAKOV V. A., Russkiye geograficheskiye otkrytiya i
issledovaniya s drevnikh vremen do 1917 goda, Moskva, 1971, 153, 155-156.

17 Russko-indiyskie otnoshenia v XVIII v., Doc. N° 7, 33-36, link 34.
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number of finds about the Khanate of Bukhara and the Dzungar
Khanate. However, it did not confirm gold occurrences in Yarkend.
The Bukhgol’ts’s expedition, not very well organized one, was moving
ahead across Siberia, from Tobol'sk by the Irtysh River to
Yamyshevsk Saline Lake (also Zaysan Lake) in today’s Kazakhstan,
where they would build a fort. However, during the next period they
came into conflicts with Dzungarians, were forced to bring the fort to
a halt in 1716, and to retreat to Tobol’sk. They would never reach
Yarkend they were expected to seize. The outcome of that expedition
was just incomplete information about the region, Lake Zaysan, and
the position of the town of Yerket (Yarkend).:8

Another direction the Tsar focused his exploration effort on was
Persia. In his order of 7 July 1715 he instructed the envoy from Russia
to Isphahan, Artemy Petrovich Volynsky, to explore trade routes
from Persia to India, possibilities for linking the Russian trade to
those routes, and the conditions of the local trade and trends of
Indian market. His task was to find out ,rivers that flow into the
Caspian Sea, towns that are possible to reach by these rivers from
that sea, whether there is such a river running from India that
would flow into that sea.™?

The third, central focus of Russia, was on Central Asia. In 1714, the
Tsar admitted in Petersburg the envoy from Khiva, Ashur Beg, and
bearing the title of Russian feudal lord he entrusted him with a
journey to India. The Khivan protested, and demanded from Russia
the pledged protection for his lord against attacks from wild
Turkmen tribes. Ashur Beg would not obey the Tsar’s order;
nevertheless, the negotiation led the Tsar to believe that Russian
military expedition would not encounter any stronger opposition.
Therefore, in May 1714, the Tsar decided to launch a military
expedition to Central Asia. The one that became a leader was the
commander of the guard Preobrazhensky Regiment, a native of the
Caucasus, Muslim by origin, Prince Alexander Bekovich Cherkassky,
since Peter thought that Muslim origin would help Cherkassky find
common ground with the Khan of Khiva.z°

Prince Bekovich Cherkassky was born in Little Kabarda in the
Caucasus; the date of his birth remains unrevealed. The first
reference to him dates back to 1688, when after a fire in the town of
Terki, the former commander, Voivode Borisovich Matyanov, was

18 I.UKAWSKI Z., Historia Syberii, Wroclaw-Warszawa-Krakéw, 1981, 121.

19 Russko-indiyskie otnoshenia v XVIII v., Doc. N° 8, 36.

20 DRUHE D. N., Russo-Indian Relations 1466-1917, New York — Washington —
Hollywood, 1970, 47-48.
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instructed to put Afanasy Borisovich Kozlov in command. That
record written while taking that command and property over reveals
that Devlet-Girei-Murza, Bekovich’s original name, was hold hostage
in Terki between 1688 and 1689.2* He is believed to be secretly
kidnapped by Russians from his family in the period of the first
Caucasian conflicts. His kidnappers did not know the boy’s name,
what they only knew was that his father had been bek, that means
prince, therefore called him Bekovich. Nevertheless, he himself
derived his origin from the chief prince — valiy of Great Kabarda, Kaz
Psheapshok (died 1615). Prince Bekmurza Djambulatov, Kaza
Psheapshok’s grandson had six sons: Tatarkhan, Shevlokh, Devlet-
Girei, Batok, Kaysin and EI'murza. They were called Bekmurzins after
their father, and also Bekovichs. Bekmurz’s children were called
Bekovichs in Russian documents.22

Prince Alexander was raised in the house of Peter I's tutor, Prince
Boris Alexeyevich Golitsyn’s, together with his sons. Noted in the
diary of I.G. Korb, a secretary of the delegation from Emperor
Leopold I to Peter I that was on a visit there between 1698 and 1699,
is one entry from 1698 relating to a formal dinner hosted by B. A.
Golitsyn, where Austrian guests were served by Golitsyn’s sons ,,who
were joined by a young Cherkessian prince, only recently secretly
kidnapped from his parents, Cherkessian princes, a Tatar who has
been baptized.” Unlike the Golitsyns, whose faces showed modesty
according to the envoy, ,,the Cherkess’s face wore broad-minded and
strict expression betraying natural soldier.”3

In 1699, Prince Peter Il - Murzich Cherkassky’s widow, Princess
Anna Vasilyevna, maiden name Nagaya, presented young Prince
Alexander with her vast landed estates in Romanovsky domain
(uyezd). Prince Alexander, like many other boyars’ adolescent sons,
left abroad in 1701 to study navigation and ship-building.24

When he returned to Russia he entered the service in the
Preobrazhensky Regiment.?s In 1711, he was sent to his homeland

21 Akty istoricheskiye, sobrannyye i izdanyye istoricheskoy komissiey 1676-1700,
St. Peterburg, 1842, 314-315.

22 Cherkassky, Alexandr Bekovich, Russky biografichesky slovar” A. A. Polovcova,
St. Peterburg, 1896-1918, vol. 22, 1914, 177-183, link 177.

23 Quoted ibidem, 177.

24 List of persons sent to learning in Italy and the Netherlands in the 17" and 18t
centuries compiled by Prince Ivan Borisovich KURAKIN — PLATONOV F. P, B. 1.
KURAKIN i A. P. Prozorsky (1697-1720), Doklady Akademii nauk SSSR 1929, 236.

25 ANDRYEYEV A. A., Kvoprosu o rannem periode biografii Aleksandra
Bekovicha Cherkasskogo, IN: Arkhheologiya i etnologiya Severnogo Kavkaza.
Sbornik nauchnykh trudov k 75-letiyu Ismaila Magomedovicha Chechenova,
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with a letter from the Tsar to princes — beks of Kabardia to make
them take part with Russia. Russia’s aim was to gain allies against the
Kuban Khanate that had been carrying out systematic raids on the
south of Russia. Bekovich soon informed the Tsar that after reading
his letter, Cherkessian beks had indicated their willingness to swear
an oath to the ruler of all Kabardians. Alexander had found his
mother and both brothers in his homeland, and asserted influence
over the local feudal lords through their mediation. No later than in
May 1714, Cherkassky suggested facing the Ottoman influence in the
region by erecting a Russian fort, gaining control over the mountain
nations, establishing trade contacts and entering into a treaty of
alliance in case of war with Persia.2¢

On the Tsar’s order of 2 June 1714 Bekovich was sent to explore
the stream of the Amu-Darya, a size of the dam, possibilities for
diverting the river to its original bed, to map the eastern shore of the
Caspian Sea, and to get a fort for 200-300 men built at the site where
the river had originally flown to the Caspian Sea. Another aim was to
force the Khan of Khiva to become a serf, and to be loyal to the
Russian Tsar, as well as persuade him to send his people down the
Syr-Darya River (also called the Seykhun those times) to the above
mentioned small town Erketi to prospect for deposits of gold.2”

The Governor of Kazan, Saltykov, and the Voivode of Astrakhan,
Chirikov, were given an instruction from the Tsar to provide Bekovich
with ,one thousand five hundred soldiers, five thousand roubles for
all costs, and to instantly satisfy every requirement of Prince
Cherkassky.” Embarking on that expedition with Bekovich was also
Hodja Nefes, with whom Cherkassky had been discussing for long
hours, and the Turkmen had been answering in detail all questions.
One member of that expedition was a mining master Blyuger, whose
task was to explore deposits of silver in the Caucasus. The expedition
finally consisted of 1,650 infantrymen, 33 artillerymen, 19 cannons,
and 100 sailors. The total costs amounted to exorbitant sum: 30,638
roubles.28 That troop was considered to be sufficient, despite the fact
that the Russians had estimated the forces of the Army of Khiva at

Nal’ chik 2013, vol. 2, 132-138.

26 Materialy Voyenno-uchenogo arkhiva Glavnogo shtaba, St. Peterburg, vol. I,
1871, Doc. N° I and II, 197-202.

27 Zapiski Bebera, Russky arkhiv, 1872, N° 7-8, 1387-1389.

28 Materialy Voyenno-uchenogo arkhiva, Doc. N° III, IV, V and VI, 202-209.
Details of an economic character are described in the document Listing created from
the columns of dispatching the Guard Captain of Mr. Prince Cherkassky on the
Caspian Sea since the beginning of his journey in May 1714 to 10t May 1717, Ibidem,
401-506.
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200 thousand men, which had been the number of Khan’s male serfs.
They saw their superiority over Khiva in deficiency of its artillery, as
scalibre and range of fire” of those few seized cannons “are nowhere
near as great as Russian ones”.?9

Bekovich Cherkassky'’s First Expedition

Devoting himself to the expedition, Bekovich spent all the summer
and nearly all the autumn in Kazan and Astrakhan in 1714. He met
Turkmens there, who affirmed that the Amu-Darya was ,not a
smallish river running from the mountains of India, winding its
way through the countries of Bukhara and Khiva, and flowing into
a lake called the Aral Sea, which lies at a distance of a 14-day march
from the Caspian Sea.”3® On 7 November 1714, the expedition of
approximately 1,500 soldiers, including a hundred Yaik (Ural)
Cossacks, set off on two schooners and 27 strugss* to Gur’yev (today’s
Atyrau). However, a storm had blown in, during which six strugs
disappeared, therefore the expedition would be forced to sail back to
Astrakhan. Bekovitch devoted the winter time to build 20 new,
modern and faster vessels.

What occurred in January 1715 was one event that would soon
have adverse impact on Bekovich’s second expedition. Thirty
thousand Kuban Tatars under the command of Khan Bakht-Girei
approached Astrakhan to destroy stations and villages of the local
Kalmyks. They killed three thousand of them, and moved away with
captives and loot. Bekovich Cherkassky organised the expedition to
help Kalmyks, however Kuban commander presented the Governor
of Astrakhan an instruction written by the Tsar, allowing to ,attack
Kalmyks wherever they meet them.” This incident would affect the
Kalmyks’ position, mostly Kalmyk Khan Ayuka’s reluctance to join
the Russian expedition, and later on his willingness to defect to the
side of Khivans.32

On 25 April 1715, the expedition set sail from Astrakhan and easily
reached Gur’yev. Bekovich was visited by Turkmen nomads there
with whom he had a long and detailed talk about the Amu-Darya old
bed. The nomads affirmed the information they had acquired from

29 Zapiski Bebera, Russky arkhiv, 1872, N° 6, 1084 a 1168.

30 Quoted by SOKOLOV A. P., Opisi Kaspiyskogo morya s nachala
ose ‘mnadcatogo veka po nastoyashcheye vremya, in: Zapiski Gidrograf. depart.
Morsk. Min-va“, N° 10, St. Peterburg 1852, 3.

31 Strug or struga — Russian sailboat or rowboat with a flat bottom used in the
16th to 18th centuries. Served for transporting people and goods.

32 VILINBAKHOV V. B., Alexandr Cherkassky, 28-29.
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Hodja Nefes adding that it would be necessary to dig a canal 20
verstas33 in length to the Red Waters Bay to get the river to its
original bed.

Another voyage during which the eastern coast of the Caspian Sea
to the Bay of Astrabad (Gorgan) was described brought about a
discovery of a lagoon lake called Kara-bogaz-gol. The expedition
arrived at the Bay of Tyub-Karagan on Mangyshlak Peninsula. The
main forces of the expedition set off along the sea shore to the Red
Waters (at Balkhan or Krasnovodsk Bay) locality. A smallish troop
led by aristocrats Fedorov and Zvansky was sent to explore the Amu-
Darya old bed, and to verify the testimony they had been presented
by the nomads. Hodja Nefes left together with explorers. They
travelled ten days from Tyub-Karagan along deserted caravan paths
to finally arrive at the Kara-agach River. Behind the river a grand
mound came in their view that was one and a quarter of arshin
(0.9m) in height34, three sazhens (6.39m) in widths3s, and five verstas
(5.3km) in length. Running about two verstas (2.2km) off the mound
was the Amu-Daryas3®, stretching towards the Caspian Sea was a long
dry valley, which according to Nefes’s witness had once been the old
river bed (Aktam-Uzboy).37

Due to the proof the explorers brought back to the camp at the
Red Waters Bekovich would finally become convinced that the
original assumption had not been erroneous. On 4 August 1715,
Prince wrote to Tsar Peter an account of his discoveries saying: ,.I
arrived to a site called Aktam, where the Amu-Darya had flown into
the Caspian Sea. Now there is no water there or close vicinity either,
since the river is dammed for several reasons in the section
Kharakoe, in a four-day-ride distance of Khiva. From the dam the
river must run to a lake called the Aral Sea.”s8

It was also clear that an expedition into the interior had to be far
better organised. Therefore, on 7 October 1715, Bekovich ordered to
load vessels, and the complete expedition party came back to
Astrakhan. First, the Prince immediately left for Moscow, next for

33 1 versta = 1,06 km

341 arshin = 0.71m

351 sazhenh = 2,13 m

36 December 15, 1717 Testimony of Astrakhan Nikolai Fedorov made in the office
of Senat relating to the dam on the river Darya, Materialy Voyenno-uchenogo
arkhiva, Doc. N° XCVI, 387-390.

37 Testimony of Hodja Nefes, Tatar Altyn Useynov and Yaik Cossacks Fyodor
Yemel yanov and Mikhail Byelotyelkin made in Kazan Fortress on 11t October 1717,
Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXXVI, 327-328 (Testimony of Hodja Nefes).

38 Quoted by SOKOLOV A. P., Opisi Kaspiyskogo morya, 5.
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Petersburg and the Baltic region to inform the Tsar of the expedition
outcome; he showed him the first map of the eastern shore of the
Caspian Sea, which has not been preserved until the day.39

Preparations for the Second Expedition

Tsar Peter had been staying in Mitau (Mitava, today’s Jelgava)
those times, where he personally commanded the army fighting
against Swedes. Regardless of being engaged in those affairs, he
delayed other matters to hear Bekovich, and entrusted him with
particular tasks regarding the eastern march. Peter’s aims were clearly
defined in the order to Cherkassky issued on 14 February 1716:

(1. 40) ... 7. Likewise to equipped him with ships, put
merchants on board and sent them down the Amu-Darya to
India, to sail as far as ships can sail, to go to India from there
while paying attention to rivers and lakes, to describe water and
land routes, mostly that water one running to India by that or
other rivers, next to go back to India by the same way, provided
he would hear about a better route to the Caspian Sea, he would
go back by that one, and would describe it.”

Further on, Bekovich was supposed ,to visit the Khan of Khiva as
well as the Khan of Bukhara, to bring them to serfdom otherwise to
friendship provided it would not be possible.” The order (ukaz)
stated that ,for the sake of all these matters it is necessary to assign
him four thousand men, vessels, and all he needs, documents for
both khans, and merchants to khans and Mughals” and ,,and pick
Lieutenant Kozhin out of naval officers, to sent him and five or more
navigators, who will be used for both journeys, the former as
merchants others in Erketi”. Lieutenant Kozhin was supposed to spy
on all information on spices or other goods. He had two younger
merchants at hand for that task.4°

Prince Bekovich Cherkassky was given more detailed instructions in
the Tsar’s ukaz of 13 May 1716. Peter pointed out that it was imperative
to use peaceful means to make Khiva and Bukhara take the Russian
part. The local magnates both in Khiva and Bukhara had often
organised conspiracy, or deposed their khans from their thrones. Peter
was ready to ensure khans protection, provide them with Russian

39 The Senate orders to the captain-lieutenant Cherkassky from January and
February 1716 about the need to travel to St. Petersburg, messages of Kazan governor
P. P. Saltykov to the Senate from September 1714, February and April 1715, IN:
Materialy Voyenno-uchenogo arkhiva, Doc. N° VII, VIII, IX, X, 210-212.

40 Russko-indiyskie otnoshenia v XVIII v., Doc. N° 9, 37.
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guard to protect them in exchange for their loyalty and acting ,,with

intention of our interests”. Peter would say that khans and the noblest

magnates had to be given generous presents on his behalf.

Bekovich was supposed to investigate possibility for diverting the
Amu-Darya to its original bed, and to estimate ,how many people
they needed for that mission”. He was also supposed to build ,.a fort
for a thousand people” by the old river mouth to the Caspian Sea as a
base for another expansion to Central Asia. As soon as the dam had
been ruined and they returned to the closer vicinity of that fortress,
to build another fort, whose purpose would be to discourage khans’
desire to re-gain the control over the situation.4

Peter devoted particular attention to exploring a water route to
India. It was essential to clarify the possibility to reach that country
by sailing the Amu-Darya. If so, it would be necessary to describe the
complete route in detail, and to explore other routes, perhaps more
suitable ones. On that account, a group of “merchants” under the
command of Lieutenant Kozhin, a navigator and cartographer, was
incorporated into that expedition.42 The Tsar had assigned Bekovich
the rank of Captain of the Guard.43

On 14 February 1716 in Libau (Libava, today’s Liepaja), Peter I
also issued a special ukaz for Lieutenant A. N. Kozhin. He entrusted
him with the following task:

,Go as a merchant until Captain Lieutenant Prince
Cherkassky Alexander Bekovich release him, down the Amu-
Darya (or other rivers that flow into it) as far as possible to
India, to find out a water route to India.

At the moment it will not be possible to go by water, continue
to India by land, and to secretly gain information there. To go
back by the same way, unless he finds another, better water
route, then to return and describe everything everywhere they
go, either by water or by land, and draw a map.

To find out more about the sorts of goods of Indian
provenance, firstly spices or else.

To see and describe other things that are not written here, and

41 Tbidem, Doc. N° 21, pp. 46-47; The previous life of Lieutenant Alexander
Ivanovich Kozhin (he also featured as Nikita Kozhin) is not known too much. He was
graduated in 1711 in the school of navigation in astronomy class. He became one of
the first Russian cartographers. In 1715 he created the description and map of the
Gulf of Finland that was published. Ocherk russkoy morskoy istorii, St. Peterburg,
vol. 1, 1875, 365.

42 Russko-indiyskie otnoshenia v XVIII v., Doc. N° 13, 40-41.

43 Ibidem, Doc. N° 26, 50.
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which might relate to the state interest.”*4

On 31 March, the Tsar additionally entrusted Kozhin with: ,When
you are at Mughal’s in East India, buy as many various big birds as
you like, first of all ostriches, cassowaries, and other ones, also
varied smaller ones, and animals of different species, also small
ones, and handling them with caution bring them back.”# Kozhin
was given 5,000 roubles to purchase them, and 1,000 roubles for
transport costs.46

No later but that day, Chancellor Prince Gavril Ivanovich Golovkin
informed the Senate and the Secretary of the Posolsky Prikaz Peter
Vasilyevich Kurbatov of the Cherkassky’s expedition, and entrusted
him with creating letter of recommendation, stating correct titles of
the Khan of Khiva and the Khan of Bukhara, and finding out the title
of the Great Mughal.4” In March, an Indian, Radgeram Sidorov from
the Astrakhan Indian community was called as adviser to explain the
titles used in the Mughal Empire43, since it was not possible to easily
find out the title of the Indian emperor (it had been found out,
besides other things, that the document Malen’kov had been given
from the Mughal Emperor had got lost49). What proves that the
question regarding the titles was considered to be weighty and was
not played down is the fact that Cherkassky himself urgently asked
competent authorities for issuing the documents of safe conduct as
early as on 23 April and 8 May.5° On 18 May, a special list of Russian
tsars addressed to padishahs of India5, added with used salutations
and titles was put together, but the documents themselves would be
only delivered to Cherkassky by the letter of 14 June 171652.

As early as on 17 March 1716, the Tsar wrote a letter to the Khan of
Bukhara to inform him of sending ,,a merchant Alexander Ivanov,
Kozhin’s son, to India across the Bukhara country,” and asked him
to let that envoy freely pass the Bukhara territory, and for help if
needed.53 Written on 18 May was also Peter I's letter to the Shah of
Persia containing information about A. I. Kozhin’s journey across

44 Ibidem, Doc. N° 10, 37-38.

45 Ibidem, Doc. N° 18, 45.

46 Tbidem, Doc. N° 26, 50.

47 Ibidem, Doc. N° 11, 39 and Doc. N° 12, 40.

48 Tbidem, Doc. N° 14, 41 and Doc. N° 15, 42.

49 Ibidem, Doc. N° 17, 42.

50 Ibidem, Doc. N° 14, 41 and Doc. N° 15, 42.

51 Tbidem, Doc. N° 22, 47.

52 Tbidem, Doc. N° 25, 50.

53 Ibidem, Doc. N° 19, 45 and 46 and Doc. N° 20, 46.
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Persia to Indias4, as well as a special request for admitting Kozhin

addressed to ,the Shah of India”. Besides of phrases in language of

the code, it also included a request ,,to allow him to sell goods sent

along with him in the state of Your Majesty, and to freely buy the

local goods without paying duty on them.” 55

Bekovich Cherkassky’s Second Expedition

In the second half of September in 1716, the second expedition set
off towards the eastern coast of the Caspian Sea. Now, it was a
complete army consisting of 70 vessels carrying about 4,000 people,
besides others, three infantry regiments and two regiments of
Cossacks (1,500 Yaik, and 500 Grebensk [Terek] Cossacks), a company
of captured Swedish dragoons, and 500 Tatars. Undertaking the
expedition were also artillerymen, engineers and architects, as well as
merchants, clerks, translators, doctors or members of other
professions. The expedition-related costs amounted to 220,000
roubles those times, amazingly, at the time when the tsarist treasury
was nearly empty. This shows again the importance Peter I attached to
the idea of opening ,,the window to India”.5

On 9 October, the ships dropped their anchors at the well-known
Tyub-Karagan Bay where they met with Hodja Nefes and his smallish
escort. Bekovich stationed there Colonel Khrushchev’s Penzensky
Infantry Regiment and command him to erect a fort, which would be
called St. Peter’s Fort. Bekovich acted so at his own will. No such an
item had been included in Peter’s instructions. The reason might be
seen in relationship between Bekovich and Kozhin, who was acting
quite independently, so the tension between them was growing.
Kozhin would keep proving that ,the site is not convenient for building
a town, as there is neither land and forest nor fresh water but
sand”57 Water in wells was salty and rotten, so Kozhin had worries
that diseases would occur at a garrison. Bekovich held his own in
saying that an old route to Khiva was leading just from there.58

54 Ibidem, Doc. N° 23, 48.

55 Ibidem, Doc. N° 24, 49.

56 The gradual formation of expedition, shipbuilding, its equipment and weaponry
are described in detailed orders of the Senate from 15t to 28t March and gt April to
2nd July 1716, IN: Materialy Voyenno-uchenogo arkhiva, Doc. N° XVII-XXXV,
XXXIX-LVIII, LXV-LXVIII, 226-248, 258-279, 285-290.

57 November 18 , 1717 Testimony of Lieutenant of the Fleet Kozhin made before
the Senate, on the March of Prince Cherkassky to Khiva on 18t November 1717,
Ibidem, Doc. N° XC, 374-379, quotation 375.

58 Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXXVIII, 361-362.
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The Prince sent to Khiva heralds with letters and gifts along that
way. Nobleman Ivan Voronin left for Khan Shirgazi (also Shergazi) to
assure him of a peaceful character of the delegation. Another
aristocrat, Alexey Svyatov was supposed to make a Khan’s relative,
influential magnate Columbay, take his part. At the same time,
another delegation led by an aristocrat Davydov was heading to the
Khan of Bukhara. However, Davydov went to Bukhara across Persia.
Bekovich ordered Kozhin to take him by sea to the town of Astrabad
(today’s Gorgan).59

In the meantime, the main forces of the expedition had been
advancing about 200km by land to the south, where they founded a
small fort (today’s Alexandrovsk) off Bekhtemir-Liman Bay (later on
re-named Alexander-Bay to pay tribute to Bekovich), and stationed
some of the companies of the Krutoyarsk regiment, further on to the
Red Waters, where a fort, which would be occupied by the Azov
Regiment, was built on the Balkhan Bay shore, on the site of a future
town of Krasnovodsk.¢°

Kozhin and Davydov, who had failed in reaching Bukhara, arrived
there on 10 November. Both of them reported that the Persian
authorities had not let the delegation go across their territories due to
the local rebellion. Bekovich did not believe Davydov, and secretly
sent Mikhail Zamanov to Astrabad to analyse the true situation.®

Those times Kozhin was busy with frantic activities. He had
explored the site and did a few topographic surveys. He believed that
no old river bed existed, even ,There is no river flowing into the
Caspian Sea close to that site.” ©2 According to him a fort was not
worth building there, since there was not enough fresh water, pasture
for animals, and the like, there. Nevertheless, Bekovich did not trust
in Kozhin’s foresight. He was convinced of his own power. Late that
year he left for Astrakhan to finalize essential preparations for the
crucial stage of the march. Owing to ice that had covered the Caspian
Sea he had to go back by land. He also took Kozhin with him,
apparently to keep him under his surveillance. Also Zamanov, who
had been staying for a while in Astrabad, arrived in Astrakhan in
February 1717. He reported that Persian authorities had had no
intention to create any barriers against Davydov. Supposedly, it had
been only Kozhin’s intrigues that discouraged a hesitating herald
from the journey to Bukhara. The thing that occurred next was an in-

59 Ibidem, Doc. N° XC, 375.
60 Tbidem, Doc. N° LXXXVI, 329-330 (Testimony of Hodja Nefes).
61 Tbidem, Doc. N° XC, 376.
62 Thidem, Doc. N° XC, 376.

24



OT KONTINENS, az Uj- és Jelenkori Egyetemes Torténeti Tanszék tudomanyos kézleményei, N° 2014/1.
ELTE, BUDAPEST, 2016.

depth conversation between Bekovich and Kozhin. Leading the
expedition, Bekovich exacted obeying all his commands with no
delay. The talk, however, resulted in Kozhin’s departure for
Petersburg aiming to persuade Tsar Peter and Menshikov about the
meaningfulness of the expedition withdrawal.®3 At the same time,
Cherkassky’s testimony about their conflicts was heading to
Petersburg beginning with words Lieutenant Kozhin did not act like
a human being but a beast.”%4

Bekovich was most likely to grasp the sheer complexity of his
mission. Kozhin’s ,merchants” had gained disturbing information
according to which nobody believed there that Russians had come in
peace. Khiva and Bukhara hostile to each other had agreed on fighting
against foreigners together, and were preparing military operations.
Kozhin mostly based on a letter written by the Kalmyk Khan Ayuka,
where he had written that ,,the local Bukharians, Kazakhs, Karalpalks
and Khivans are preparing together, and want to go by fighting
against service people /that is Cherkassky’s forces/”.

In Astrakhan, he was delivered information from his heralds he
had sent to Khiva, according to which Voronin had not been admitted
well. Shirgazikhan had been travelling those times, and the Russian
herald had been virtually held prisoner. It was only by virtue of
Columbay, who had been given presents from Svyaty, that Voronin
was treated with indulgence. When Shirgazikhan returned in March
1717, he admitted the heralds, listened to them, however, would not
come to end clearly apparent war preparations in Khiva. As Voronin
stated: ,, They are scared, those in Khiva, and they think we want to
seize Khiva using a trick; therefore, they do not admit us.” 6

Russians’ hope for getting the Khan onside had died, but Bekovich
assumed that Shirgazikhan would change his mind as soon as he had
seen the magnitude and power of the Russian troops. Therefore, he
amassed reinforcement in Astrakhan joined by Tatar, Armenian,
Khivan, Bukharian and Russian merchants. In the meantime, there
had been decrease in number of members of the basic contingent. As
Kozhin had anticipated, diseases stroke in new forts. Over 500 people

63 Information of Kazan vice-governor Kudryatov on a separate journey of
Lieutenant Kozhin to St. Petersburg issued after 7th May 1717, Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXI,
203-294.

64 1717, Notes of Prince Cherkassky sent to Vasily Nikitich Zlotov, Ibidem, Doc.
XCI1, 380-381, quotation 380.

65 March 5, 1717, Letter of Kalmyk Khan Ayuka to Lieutenant Kozhin that
Bokharians, Karakalpaks, Kazakhs, Khivans are preparing attack on Russians,
Ibidem, Doc. N° LXX, 292-293, quotation 292.

66 Ibidem, 302.
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died in Tyub-Karagan in May 1717.7 Bekovich hoped he would
reinforce his troop with Turkmens suffering privation under khans of
Khiva, but allied Turkmen tribes did not display their willingness.®8
Only Kalmyks kept providing Russians with valuable information.®9
In the late spring, Bekovich was left with 2,200 people able to march,
mostly Yaik and Grebensk Cossacks.7?

Those forces set off across the steppe towards Gur’yev, where their
camp would be attacked by Karakalpak tribes. They captured 60
Cossacks, and looted part of their draught animals. Cherkassky
arrived there by sea in June, and brought there his two brothers and
personal guard consisting of 20 Kabardians. Taking part in the
expedition was his wife Marfa Borisovna (maiden name Golitsyn)
and their three children. A storm blew in while ships were sailing to
Gur’yev. Some of the troops saved themselves on the shore, so went
on to Gur'yev by land, unfortunately the ship carrying Bekovich’s
family got wrecked in the Volga mouth below Astrakhan, and his wife
and two daughters died. Only his younger son and a domestic servant
saved their lives.”

Bekovich feeling miserable sent about a one-hundred troop as
reinforcement to the fort in Tyub-Karagan in June, and was
advancing himself along the Red Waters towards Khiva. He avoided a
usual caravan route; instead the troops followed a winding way along
the Emba River instead.”? The journey was nowise easy since
Lprovisions and many horses were lost on the way ... because of a
long journey and lack of feed many horses died”. 73

By Peter’s order Bekovich received on the way he was supposed to
send merchants to Persia and India, next to China and Bukhara. He
appointed Murza Tevkelev to lead the expedition, but he would be
driven to Astrabad due to the storm on the Caspian Sea, where he

67 June 25, 1717, Astrakhan Commander in Chief Chirikov on nombers of dead
soldiers in Tyub-Karagan and Letter of Kozhin of July 13, 1717 on a similar situation
in the Red Waters, Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXVIII, 301 and Doc. N° LXXXIX, 301-302.

68 May 1717, Letter of Astrakhan Commander in Chief Chirikov to Lieutenant
Kozhin, Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXIV, 298.

69 May 16, 1717, Letter of Khan Ayuka on gathering of 2,000 soldiers and their
dragging the Red Waters, Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXIII, 297.

70 Qctober 7, 1717, Testimony of Cossack Tatar Urazmet Akhmetyev on campaign
of Bekovich Cherkassky to Khiva, Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXXIII, 314-323, link 314-315.

7t Notes of General-Lieutenant Shubert and Department Commander Colonel
Folton- de Barason on journeys of Prince Alexander Bekovich Cherkassky to the
Eastern shore of the Caspian Sea and on his journey overland to Khiva, National
Archives of Georgia, Central Historical Archives, f. 1087, d. 612, 11. 9-16.

72 Materialy Voyenno-uchenogo arkhiva, Doc. N° LXXXIII, 315-316.

73 Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXXVI, 352 (Testimony of Fyodor Jemel “janov).
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would be thrown into a jail. He would not be set free until Bekovich
Cherkassky’s death by Artemy Petrovich Volynsky, a Russian envoy
to Persia’s intervention.74

The army approached Aral Lake, next went a long way along its
shore. When they reached a well called Chil’dan, the rest of the
Turkmen guides ran away, thus the troops were advancing along
caravan paths from one well to another. In August 1717, the
expedition reached the Amu-Darya, so was at a distance of 100 to
150km from Khiva. Trying not to bring the matter into military
confrontation, Cherkassky sent a one-hundred-men troop of
Cossacks under Koreytov’s (also Kireytov) command to deliver a
letter to the Khan of Khiva explaining once again the peaceful
purpose of the delegation. Heralds from Koreytov arrived at a camp
situated on the Akkul River (the Amu-Darya tributary) to tell him the
letter had been delivered, and the great Khan’s herald was heading
towards him. While meeting with that herald Bekovich assured him
they were coming in peace. The herald went back to the Khan. The
Russian troops were advancing until the troops of Khiva blocked
their way by Aybugir Lake (today’s Sudochye Lake).7

The Russian troops were deployed along the lake exploiting it as a
natural barrier, and surrounded themselves with a war wagon wall.
They had been resisting attacks all day long. As the evening was
progressing, Khivans retreated, but would strike again next day. The
Russians dug a deep trench during the night, and surrounded three
sides of their camp with a mound. The thing that had great
importance was seven Russian cannons, as the troops of Khiva had
none. Likewise the Russian troops had been better drilled. Despite
superiority in number of attackers (16 to 24 thousand at a guess)
Khivans suffered huge losses, whereas Russians only lost ten men.7¢

On that account, Shirgazikhan initiated talks. His herald Hodja
Ishim declared that the Russian camp had been attacked by Khivans
without the Khan’s knowledge, which he deeply regretted. Bekovich
sent his herald, a Tatar Altyn Useynov, to the Khan to assure him that
»Cherkassky has been sent out by His Tsarist Majesty’s herald not
by the troops.” Useynov returned together with Hodja Ishim, who
informed Cherkassky that the Khan had arranged a session with his
relatives and would sent an answer in the morning.””

74 OMAROV O. Yu., Otvazhny issledovatel’, 47-48.

75 Materialy Voyenno-uchenogo arkhiva, Doc. N° LXXXVI, 332-333 (Testimony
of Hodja Nefes), 353 (Testimony of Fyodor Yemel"yanov).

76 Tbidem, Doc. N° LXXXIII, 314-323, link 316-317.

77 Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXXVI, 363.
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The Khivans launched another attack in the morning but would be
repelled again. However, betting on the previous account, Bekovich,
believed that it was possible to negotiate in a peaceful way. He sent
his emissaries who would demand explanation for the Khivan
perfidious action. Shirgazikhan was now very helpful. He ordered the
troops away the lake, and issued the command to punish culprits
»one man to be pierced his nostril, another one his ear.” Paying his
tribute to Bekovich, he sent Columbay and Hodja Nazar with other
magnates who would demonstrate they were ready to accept
substantial concessions.”®

The following day, on 22 August, Bekovich was invited to the Khan
to talk face-to face. He went there with his two brothers and brought
along ,Prince Mikhail Zamanov and other commanders, 250
dragoons, 200 Yaik Cossacks, 50 Grebensk Cossacks; 500 people in
total”, as well as presents, silver, sable pelts, and sugar. Frank
Frankenberg and Grigori Pal’chikov had been given command of the
rest of the troops.”?

Despite expressing dissatisfaction with building Russian forts on
the shores of the Caspian Sea during the talks, Shirgazikhan declared
he accepted all conditions of the Russian Tsar. Then he invited
Bekovich to visit Khiva. Khivans and Russians set out on a journey,
however, on the way in a camp by a small river called Porsugan, in
the distance of a two-day journey from Khiva, the Khan invited
Bekovich to his tent and told him ,,he would not have enough food to
keep them just in one town, Khiva, therefore it would be necessary
to accommodate them in five other ones.”8°

The course of events that occurred afterwards remains unclear; in
general, there are several versions and sub-versions, as the only facts
we know about those occurrences are based on additional testimony
of nomads or surviving Russians, Tatars and Turkmens, who,
however, did not belong to the circle of the supreme commanders,
therefore had not been involved in the key decisions. Their testimony
mostly includes speculation and mediated information.

According to some of them, Bekovich had got caught in that
obvious trap, and with a light heart commanded his soldiers to obey
the order. Although Major Frankenberg had been extremely reluctant
to obey that mediated order, and had demanded to be given it by the
supreme commander in person, he finally surrendered. Khivans had
been waiting until the Russian troops separated and set out on the

78 Tbidem, Doc. N° LXXXVI, 336-337, quotation 337 (Testimony of Hodja Nefes).
79 Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXXIII, quotation and link 317.
80 Tbidem, 319.
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journey then attacked them from reserve. Most soldiers were killed,

the rest of them were taken captured. Bekovich, Zamanov and other

commanders were beheaded before the Khan's very eyes. Also

Palchikov, Frankenberg, Zamanov, Zvansky and Ekonomov were

executed, others were taken captives.8:

According to another version Bekovich was taken prisoner and
forced under threat to issue command to separate the united troops.
The order was carried out, the troops slaughtered. Bekovich, still
alive, was stripped off the skin, which would be treated with
conservation resin. Zamanov was treated alike. Afterwards the heads
of Russian princes were carried on sticks along streets of Khiva, next
sent to the Khan of Bukhara.82

Other version of the story says Bekovich was beheaded in the town
of Porso situated close to the Porsugan River.83 By hearsay,
Cherkassky sacrificed his troops for the sake of saving his life, and
would comfortably spend the rest of his life at the Khan of Chiva’s.84

All mentioned versions are not verisimilar, and cannot be
supported with expedition members’ eyewitness testimony that
would fully accord with the time. They form traditional spectrum of
opinions corresponding to different a priori attitudes of information
mediators from effort to excuse the hero failure to a traditional
theory of conspiracy.

Sirgazikhan boasted about his victory, but Bukharians did not
accept the offered present in the form of Bekovich’s chopped-off
head. Finally, more careful attitude would prevail even in Khiva. The
upcoming public execution of 40 Russian officers was halted, and
some of the captives, including both brothers of Cherkassky, would
be allowed to go back to Russia.85 The first more ample testimony to
the catastrophic end of the expedition was presented in the Kazan
Fortress already in October 1717 by those who had made their escape
by various ways.8¢

Turkmen nomads, who had behaved friendly towards Russians

81 Ibidem, 319-320; Doc. N° LXXXVI, 340-341.

82 NEPOMYASHCHY N. N., Russkaya India, 103.

83 OMAROV O. Yu., Otvazhny issledovatel’, 56.

84 Cherkassky, Alexandr Bekovich, Russky biografichesky slovar” A. A.
Polovcova, 183.

85 December 30, 1717, Report of the Kazan governor Peter Samuelovich Saltykov
on liberation of Russian prisoners and assaults on Russian fortress, Materialy
Voyenno-uchenogo arkhiva, Doc. N° XCVIII, 391-394.

86 QOctober 11, 1717, Order of the Senate on authorization of the Commissioner
Grigori Netesov in Kazan to interrogations of survivors, Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXXIV,
323; Ibidem, Doc. N° LXXXVI, 350-351 (Testimony of Altan Useynov).
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soldiers, were now displaying growing aggression.8” The Russian
forts suddenly fell into the conditions of a real siege. They got neither
reinforcement nor help. It was worthless holding them in a waste
land.88 Therefore, the garrison of the fort by the Red Waters sailed
away on remaining ships to Astrakhan in October 1717. While they
were on their way a heavy storm blew in. Some of their ships sank
others were washed away by the stream to the mouth of the Kura
River. They spent winter there, and in the spring of the year 1718 they
could go back to Astrakhan. The garrison of the fort in Tyub-Karagan
Bay wintered on the site. They faced attacks by Turkmens, but in the
spring of the year 1718 they went back to Russia as well.89

As regards Kozhin, he had been imprisoned in Petersburg, and
brought to trial. Kozhin accused Cherkassky of betrayal. Apparently,
Peter I had felt sympathy for Bekovich, however, after receiving the
account of the terrible end of the expedition, the situation changed
and Kozhin would be granted pardon.o°

Rumours about the Khiva expedition failure had spread around
Russia. A saying “Defeated like Bekovich” became synonymous with
failure, and would be included in dictionaries of idioms. Peter I
bitterly regretted the failure of the Khiva march. He did not abandon
his plans, but had no resources to organise another expedition. He
sent an Italian in the Russia’s service, the Secretary of the Posolsky
Prikaz Committee on Eastern Matters, Florio Beneveni, to Bukhara
in 1718. He managed to establish friendly relationships in Bukhara,
map the local markets, and came back to Russia via Khiva, where he
had not been given a hearty welcome. But he would arrive to Russia
only in 1725, after Peter I's death.s

The thing that dramatically affected the failure of the expedition
was Cherkassky’s naivety that had made it possible to lure his troops
into a trap. The role which Cherkassky’s weakened mental condition
caused by the loss of most of his family occupied in that decision
remains just a subject of speculation. The failure, however, had been

87 December 7, 1717, Report of the Kazan governor P. P. Saltykov to the Senate on
the state of Tyub-karagan fortress, Krasnovodsk Fortress and Fortress of St. Peter,
Ibidem, Doc. N° XCIII, 383-386.

88 Qctober 15, 1717, Letter of the Kazan governor P. P. Saltykov to the Senate,
asking whether it makes sense to keep the crew in the newly established
strongholds, if confirmed reports on death of Bekovich Cherkassky, Ibidem, Doc.
Neo LXXXVII, 359-360.

89 OMAROV O. Yu., Otvazhny issledovatel’, 57.

90 NEPOMYASHCHY N. N., Russkaya India, 104.

9t BENEVENI F., Poslannik Petra I na Vostoke: posol'stvo Florio Beneveni v
Persiyu i Bukharu v 1718-1725 godakh, Moskva, 1986, 156 p.
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pre-destined by a great deal of other factors, such as ill-considered

construction of forts on unsuitable sites bound by huge military

forces or soldiers’ exposure to diseases, which decimated most of the

expedition, and the like.

The basic aim of the expedition, that is the establishment of
business relationships with India, was not accomplished, since it had
been based on insufficient knowledge of the region geography, and
the basic incorrect assumptions regarding the possibilities of
transport by the Amu-Darya. One problem also lay in the military
and conquering character of the expedition that had been easy to
identify a mile off. Even though the key motivation of that mission
was trade, the whole undertaking possessed a trait of feudal
expansion based on, besides others, a vision of enforcing rights of
Russian feudal lord over his vassals. However, this vision did not
correspond to the true situation in Central Asia. Howsoever it had
been expensive and extensive venture, the Russian troops facing the
superior number of Khivans were just in a slight chance of winning.
Their technological superiority over far more numerous army of
Khiva was not that overwhelming to play a key role. Chance of long-
term sustainable success and permanent presence in the region was
slender due to enormous distance from the Russian centres and
generally hostile character bringing logistic problems. What supports
importance of these factors is the course of events after otherwise
formally successful Russo-Persian wars Peter had waged in 1722-
1723. Russia’s huge territorial gains in the Caspian region had to be
given back to Persia nine years later.92

Therefore, among the principal assets of that expedition are
geographical discoveries and making maps of the eastern cost of the
Caspian Sea. Information provided by Cherkassky and mainly Kozhin
made it possible for von Berden and Samoynov to draw a manuscript
map known as ,General Flat Picture of the Caspian Sea” as early as
in 1717. Peter I charged a respected scientist from Paris Guillaume
Delisle with its further processing, and would himself add it with oral
notes. The map was printed with cartographic desription in French in
Amsterdam in 1720. That was just the one that would allow Peter I to
enter the French Academy of Science.%

92 KURUKIN 1. V., Persidsky pokhod Petra Velikogo: Nizovoy korpus na
beregach Kaspia (1722-1735), Moskva, 2010, 384 p.

93 Details on the genesis of the map in studies BERG L. C., Pervye russkie
karty Kaspiyskogo morya, Izvestiya AN SSSR, seriya geografiya i geofyzika,
1940, N° 2, 160-165. KNYAZHECKAYA E. A., Sud "ba odnoy kartiny (o geografe
A. Bekoviche-Cherkasskom), Moskva, 1964, 29-32. FEDCHINA V. N., Kak
sozdavalas” karta Sredney Azii, Moskva, 1967, 48-52. LEBEDEV D., YESAKOV

31



Michal Wanner: Alexander Bekovich Cherkassky’s Campaign to Central Asia and India in 1714-1717

Russia embarked on the real expansion to Central Asia only over
156 years later by the Khivan campaign in 1873. When the Governor-
General of Turkestan region, Kaufman, gave Major-General
Golovachev order to launch repressive raid on the tribes that had
been refusing Russian serfdom, the Russian public understood the
command as revenge for Bekovich.94

V. A., Russkie geograficheskie otkrytia, 157-164.
94 SHIROKORAD A. B., Rossia - Anglia: neizvestnaya voyna 1857-1907, Moskva,
2002, 145.
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Conjoncture agraire a U'époque de Napoléon IIT!

Abstract

The author presents the economic developpement of the period of
Napoleon III. He focuses on the agriculture and he presents the changes of
this branch of the French economy. First of all we know the situation of the
French rural population. We know the developpement of the railway during
the Second Empire. And the author presents the changes in the economy
and in the agriculture in detail, backed up by statistics.

Keywords: agriculture, Second Empire, Napoleon III, modern
consumption, railway, customs policy, rural population.

I nest pas nécessaire que la frontiére des périodes de
conjocture et de récession économiques coincident avec celle
des régimes politiques. Néanmoins, le régime de Napoléon III
recouvre une période conjoncturelle dans I'économie. Bien que le
progres basé sur le renouvellement technique se soit accéléré déja
pendant la Monarchie de Juillet, son apogée ne sera atteint que
durant le Second Empire.2 L'essor dans I'agriculture commence au
début des années 1850 et dure jusqu’au milieu des années 1870. Les
ouvrages spécialisés parlent souvent, en exagérant un peu le
phénomene, de ,l'dge d'or de la campagne” & propos de ces deux
décennies.3
L'industrialisation moderne créa de nouvelles conditions pour
I'agriculture, et elle devait s’y adapter. Pendant le Second Emprire
s'opere un changement dans la nature de I'’économie frangaise.
Auparavant, le caractére de cette économie était déterminée par
l'agriculture. Pour les années 1860 le pricipal régulateur de
I’économie seront l'industrie et le secteur tertiaire.4 La population
active non-agraire, la population urbaine et l'augmentation des
revenus ont également contribué a 1'élargissement de l'offre, et la

1 Traduit par Dr. MAROSVARI Maria.

2 BARJOT, Dominique: Histoire économique de la France au XIX® siecle, Paris,
1995. 36.

3 LENHOF, Jean-Louis: La France (années 1830-1870), dans BARJOT,
Dominique, dir. par, Les sociétés rurales face a la modernisation. Evolutions
sociales et politiques en Europe des années 1830 a la fin des années 1920, Etude
comparée de la France, de UAllemagne, de UEspagne et de lltalie, Paris, 2005. 50.

4 BARJOT (1995): 38.
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réponse du secteur agraire a ce phénomene ne pouvait étre que la
croissance de la production.5

L'un des produits les plus importants de I'industrialisation
moderne fut le chemin de fer révolutionnant le trafic. L'économie
francaise prit son temps pour développer son réseau. En 1850, il n’y
avait que 1.931 kilomeétres de voie ferrée. La construction s’accéléra
pendant la période de Napoléon III, lorsque I'Etat, a partir de 'année
1851 a offert des concessions pour une période de 99 ans aux
compagnies. Les grandes lignes ont été construites.® C’est le chemin
de fer qui réussit a réaliser le transport massif des marchandises et
de la population. Les rails ont soudé les branches de ,l’hexagone
francais”. Tandis que dans les années 1840 le chemin de fer n’assura
que 7% du trafic des marchandises, dans les années 1870 cette
proportion atteint 50%. Le réseau du chemin de fer créa un marché
national unique tout en ouvrant les régions isolées et autarciques
devant une économie de marché. Grace aux trarifs de transport bon
marché il réussit a établir une concurrence au niveau national (plus
tard au niveau international) a lintérieur du monde des
consommateurs. Quant au prix du blé, 'un des produits les plus
importants de I’économie traditionnelle, la différence de prix selon
les régions pouvait atteindre 70%. Cet écart a baissé autour de 30%
dans les années 1870. L’équilibre des prix mit fin a la situation
privilégiée des régions qui se trouvaient a proximité des grands
marchés de consommation. Par conséquent, I'agriculture était dans
I'obligation de se consacrer a une production la plus appropriée
suivant les régions.”

L'un des plus grands probléemes de I'économie traditionnelle
consistait dans la faible capacité, la lenteur et le cott élevé du
transport terrestre. A I'époque de Napoléon Ier, la durée du trajet
entre Paris et Calais (300 kilomeétres environ) était de 40 heures en
chariot, dans les années 1830, apres la constitition du réseau routier,
ce méme trajet demandait 26 heures. Par le chemin de fer, dans les
années 1850, la durée s’est réduite a 6 heures 40 minutes. La
rapidité du transport a rendu possible dans les villes la
consommation massive des produits périssables (lait, primeur,
viande). Par exemple, avant l'avenement du chemin de fer, la
consommation du lait était le privilege d’'une couche sociale

5 TOUTAIN, Jean-Claude: La population de la France de 1700 a 1959, dans
Cahiers de I'.S.E.A., N° 133 - janvier 1963. VII-VIIL.

6 TOUTAIN (1963): VII-VIIL

7 GAVIGNAUD, Geneviéve, Les campagnes en France au XIX¢ siécle (1780-
1914), Paris, 1990. 80.
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restreinte dans les grandes villes.® Un mulet pouvait transporter 170
kilos de marchandises par jour a une distance de 30 kilometres. Un
chariot de bonne qualité avec deux chevaux a réussi a transporter, au
maximum, 15 q a une distance de 35 kilometres. Dans les années
1830, les diligences mettaient 24 heures pour faire 200 kilomeétres.
La vitesse moyenne des omnibus, dans les années 1860 était autour
de 45 kilometre/heure.?

Le grand stimulateur, plus efficace méme que la diminution dans
le temps du transport, fut la baisse du tarif. Au début du XIXe siecle,
une tonne-kilomeétre sur la route cofitait 50 centimes, ce tarif était de
30 centimes dans les années 1830. En 1870, par voie de chemin de
fer une tonne-kilometre cottait une centime. Pour un voyageur-
kilomeétre en diligence, dans les années 1830, il fallait payer de 11 a
16 centimes, tandis qu'en chemin de fer, en 1870 seulement 5
centimes.1©

La fonction la plus élémentaire de la production agraire consiste a
satisfaire les besoins de la population en denrée alimentaire. Si 'on
prend en considération uniquement l'accroissement de la
population, le défi n’est pas considérable. A partir du milieu du XIXe
siecle, la croissance de la population ralentit: en 1851, le nombre de
la population est de 35,7 millions de personnes, en 1861 de 37,4
(avec le rattachement de Nice et de Savoie qui correspond a une
population de 668 mille personnes), et en 1872 de 36,1 millions
(compte tenu de la perte dune population de 1,5 millions de
personnes suite a 'annexion de I’Alsace et de la Lorraine)." La
proportion entre la population rurale et urbaine change également
lentement, mais c’est la premiere période ou la diminution de la
population rurale peut étre exprimée en chiffres absolues, pas
seulement de manieére proportionnelle. Les proportions entre
populations rurale et urbaine sont les suivantes: en 1851 74,5 : 25,5,
en 1872 68,9 : 31,1. En chiffres absolues, entre 1851 et 1872, la
population rurale a diminué de 26,6 millions a 24,9 millions de
personnes, c’est-a-dire de 1,7 millions d’habitants (6,6%). Par contre,
la population urbaine a augmenté de 9,1 millions de personnes a 11,2
millions, c'est-a-dire de 2,1 millions de personnes (22,8%). Par
rapport a I’Angleterre, a la Belgique et a ’Allemagne la population

8 ROWLEY, Anthony: Evolution économique de la France du milieu du XIXe
siécle a 1914, Paris, 1982. 214.

9 GAVIGNAUD (1990): 66-67.

10 CARON, Francois: Histoire économique de la France, XIX¢ - XX¢ siécles, Paris,
1981. 74.

1 TOUTAIN (1963): 19.
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urbaine francaise a augmenté d'une maniere plus lente et
proportionnellement sa part était plus basse dans la population
totale du pays.:2

Le changement social est mieux représenté par la croissance
d’une population active, ayant acces a un revenu régulier (population
avec emploi régulier). En 1845, le nombre de cette population active
était de 13,5 millions de personnes dont 7 millions travaillaient dans
lagriculture. Le retournement s’est effectué en 1872, date apres
laquelle le nombre de la population active dans I'industrie et dans le
secteur tertiaire a dépassm celui de 1'agriculture : le nombre total de
la population active est de 14,7 millions dont 7,5 millions sont
emloyés dans I'industrie ou dans le secteur tertiaire (50,7%).:3

La croissance de la population urbaine et celle de la population
active dans I'industrie et le secteur tertiaire était alimenté par 'exode
rural. L'exode rural massif a commencé dans les années 1830 pour
atteindre son apogée dans les années 1860. Entre 1830-1840, 40
mille personnes quittaient la campagne annuellement, entre 1851-
1872, ce nombre était de 71 mille. En premier lieu, c’étaient les
ouvriers journaliers qui tournaient le dos a l'agriculture. Malgré ce
phénomeéne, la campagne francaise restait ,,surpeuplée” par rapport
a la terre disponible. Les plus nombreux étaient les petits
propiétaires.4

Dans les années 1870, on pouvait constater une pénurie en
ouvriers journaliers dans plusieurs provinces. La ville s’est
prolétarisée, tandis qu’a la campagne se déroulait une sorte de
,déplorétalisation”. A l'intérieur de la population active agricole la
proportion des domestiques et des journaliers a diminué tandis que
celle des propriétaires a augmenté. En 1851, la proportion des
domestiques et des journaliers a l'intérieur de la population agricole
était de 39%, en 1881 de 33%. La diminution n’était pas uniquement
conséquence de I'exode rural, mais découlait du fait qu'une part de
cette population est devenue petit propriétaire, accroché a la terre et,
contibuant a accélérer le parcellement des propriétés.'s

La croissance de la population urbaine et 'augmentation de la
population active ont contribué, par l'intermédiaire des besoins, a

12 TOUTAIN (1963): 54-55.

13 PINCHEMEL, Philippe: Structures sociales et dépopulation rurales dans les
campagnes picardes de 1836 a 1936, Paris, 1957. 221-222.

14 DESERT, Gabriel: Prospérité de lagriculture, dans DUBY, Georges et
WALLON, Armand, sous la direction de, Histoire de la France rurale. t. 3, Apogée et
crise de la civilisation paysanne, 1789-1919, Paris, 1976. 222-223.

15 LENHOF (2005): 69.
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dynamiser la production agricole. L’élargissement des besoins était
beucoup plus considérable que la croissance de la population
urbaine et celle de la population active. Ce dynamisme fut dopé du
coté des revenus. Quant a la population agricole, son
autoconsommation dans le domaine des produits agricoles n’était
que partielle et elle diminuait en fonction d'une production
spécialisée. Le revenu réel des personnes vivant de I'agriculture n’a
augmenté que de 10% dans la premiére moitié du siecle, par contre,
pendant le Second Empire cette augmentation était de 25%. Le
revenu réel de la population vivant de l'industrie et du secteur
tertiaire n’a augmenté que de 2-3% par décennie entre 1830-1850.
On peut constater une augmentation considérable a partir des
années 1850: une hausse du revenu réel de 6,7% en 1860 par rapport
a année 1851, et une hausse de 9,5% en 1870 par rapport a 1861.1°
Le coiit des denrées alimentaires calculé par personne d’aprés des
moyennes des décennies successives a augmenté de 80% entre les
années 1845-1854 et celles 1865-1874 : de 167 francs a 295 francs.
Cette hausse prend en considération I'augmentation des prix aussi,
autrement dit, la somme destinée a l'achat des provisions
n’augmentait pas si considérablement.?”

La consommation, et par conséquent a travers elle la production
agricole, a été de plus en plus déterminée par les grandes villes et les
régions industielles naissantes, puisque les revenus se concentraient
la-bas. Pendant le Second Empire débute le changement a partir
d'une consommation traditionnelle vers un nouveau type de
consommation moderne. Jusque-la, la population consommait des
produits, mangeait des denrées dont la production en grande
quantité était assurée a proximité. Dans le systeme moderne de
consommation, c’est la production qui, dans la majorité des cas,
s’adapte aux besoins des consommateurs.!8

En premier lieu, c’était les différents types de blé qui assuraient
les calories nécessaires a la subsistance humaine. Pour produire des
calories d'une méme quantité, mais d’origine animale, on avait
besoin, compte tenu du niveau de la culture agricole de I'époque,
d’'un territoire cinq fois plus grand qu’auparavant. Ainsi, dans
I'alimentation populaire, méme dans les années 1860, 60% de

16 CARON (1981): 92.

17 TOUTAIN, Jean-Claude: Consommation alimentaire en France de 1789 a
1964, dans Economies et sociétés (Cahiers de 'I.S.E.A.), t. V, N° 11, novembre 1971.
2023. )

8 MONTANARI, Massimo: Ehség és bdség, A taplalkozds eurdpai
kultirtérténete, Ford. KOVENDI Katalin, Budapest, 1996. 173.
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calories nécessaires étaient assurées par les céréales. F. Braudel a
dénommé les Francais ,mangeurs de pain”.9 C’est a partir du milieu
du XIXe siécle que la consommation du pain blanc commence a faire
reculer celle d’autres types de pain. Pourtant, on peut constater une
hausse plus importante dans la consommation d’autres produits que
dans celle du pain.

La consommation annuelle des produits alimentaires par
personne ((d’apreés des moyennes des 10 ans)z2°

céréales | pain | pomme viande autres vin
(kg) (kg) | de terre | (kg) produits | (litre)
(kg) (kg)
1845-54 271 261 39 26 12,2 134
1855-64 295 286 | 71 30 13,5 131
1865-74 304 279 92 33 13,7 162
croissance | 12% 7% 135% 27% 12% 21%

Proportionnellement, 'augmentation de la consommation était la
plus importante dans le domaine de la viande, puisque celle de
pommes de terre a chuté de maniere extréme, di a mildiou de la
pomme de terre a la fin des années 1840. Entre 1835-44, sa
consommation annuelle moyenne était de 81 kilogrammes,
autrement dit, la croissance véritable était 13%.

Jusqu’au milieu du 19¢ siécle, une des maladies durables de la
campagne francaise était le parcellement des champs et la
proportion tres élevée des petits lots et des petites propriétés. La
catégorisation des propriétés dans les statistiques francaises est
différente par rapport a ce qui se fait chez nous: on parle d’un petit
lot au-dessous de 1 hectare, dune petite propriété entre 1-10
hectares, d'une propriété moyenne entre 10-40 hectares et dune
grande propriété au-dessus de 40 hectares. A peu prés 76% des
propriétés ne dépassaient pas 10 hectares et cela correspondait a
24% du territoire. La proportion des propriétés moyennes était de
20 % qui correspondant a 30% du territoire. Tandis que la grande
propriété ne couvrait que 4% du total, mais elle correspondait a 46%
du territoire.2* Les propriétés dépassant effectivement 100 hectares
étaient peu nombreuses, 40 mille au total qui correspondait a 25%
du territoire agricole.

La capacité de subsistance ou celle de réalisation de profit

19 BRAUDEL, Fernand: Franciaorszag identitasa, t. 11, Az emberek és a dolgok,
Ford. MTHANCSIK Zsbfia, Budapest, 2004. 270.

20 TOUTAIN (1971): 1918 et 1922.

21 LENHOF (2005): 73.
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dépendaient largement du type d’exploitation. L'unité économique de
base était l'exploitation, la ferme agricole. Le parcellement des
propriétés déterminait plus ou moins la répartition des exploitations,
mais les deux ne coincidaient pas totalement. D’'une maniére générale,
il y avait plus d’expolitations que de propriétés, puisque la plupart des
moyennes et grandes propriétés n’étaient pas exploitées par les
propriétaires eux-mémes, elles étaient confiées apres les avoir
départagées en plusieurs unités, aux fermiers. Les exploitations étaient
encore plus fragmentées que les propriétés. Dans les années 1860,
environ 85% des exploitations ne dépassaient pas 10 hectares.22

Derriere ce morcellement se trouvait le phénomeéne de la
surpopulation de la campagne francgaise. Dans le cas des petits lots et
des petites propriétés, ils ne disposaient pas de terrains suffisants
pour assurer leur survie. La croissance de la population agraire
n’était pas proportionnée a I'élargissement du terrain exploitable et a
la croissance du gain. Cette situation est appelée par Jules Michelet,
dans les années 1840 ,faim de terre”.23

Comme la possibilité de 'acquisition des terres était limitée, le
revenu qui manquait a la subsistance pouvait étre assuré par
diverses maniéres, ou bien par des activités extérieures (travaux
journaliers, artisanat) ou bien par l'intensification de I'exploitation
de la ferme (agrandissement de la valeur de la production par unité).
Un facteur favorable a l'intensification dans les exploitations des
petits lots et des petites propriétés résidait dans le fait que le main
d'oeuvre familial était a leur disposition et que ce type
d’investissement ne coftait rien. Le fermier des petites exploitations
continuait de produire pour la subsistance méme dans le cas ou son
revenu ne compensait pas la valeur du travail investi. Par contre,
cette , flexibilité” de I'’économie des parcelles contribuait a maintenir
Llattachement a la terre” de la population. Si la terre assurait la
subsistance, le producteur ne partait pas.24 Quant a
I'approvisionnement en capitaux par unité d’exploitation en France
(et en général en Europe occidentale) il n’y avait pas de différence si
considérable entre petites et grandes exploitations, au détriment des
petites, comme en Hongrie. Ce qui manquait dans une petite

22 GOUJON, Pierre: Le temps des révolutions inachevées, dans HOUSSEL, Jean-
Pierre, dir. par, Histoire des paysans francais du XVIII* siécle a nos jours, Paris,
1976. 290-291.

23 LAURENT, Robert: Les cadres de la production agricole: propriété et modes
d’exploitation, dans BRAUDEL, Fernand et LABROUSSE, Ernest, dirigée par,
Histoire économique et sociale de la France, t. 111, L'avenement de ['ére industrielle
(1789 - année 1880), Paris, 1976. 633-634-.

24 AUGE-LARIBE, Michel: L'évolution de la France agricole, Paris, 1912. 170.
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exploitation, c’était le total des capitaux: celle-la n’a pas réussi a
produire la somme nécessaire au renouvellement de son activité
économique, tandis que la grande exploitation avait les moyens de
concentration et de regroupement.2s

Dans ces conditions, la croissance de la production agricole
correspondait globalement aux besoins. C'était une période de
croissance pendant laquelle, durant un quart de siecle, les prix élevés
des produits agricoles étaient durables, surtout par rapport aux
années 1820-40. On appelait cette période ,lage dor de la
campagne”, tout particulierement a cause du bon comportement des
produits agricoles. C'était le secteur agraire qui tirait profit du
changement survenu dans la structure des prix de 1’économie
entiere: tandis que les prix des produits industriels stagnaient entre
1850-1860, ceux des produits agricoles augmentaient de 0,4-0,9%
de moyenne annuelle.2¢

Les prix des produits agricoles les plus importants, ceux des
céréales, entre 1865-74, étaient de 20% plus élevés en moyenne de
dix ans que durant la période entre 1845-54. Le prix de pommes de
terre, entre le milieu des années 1840 et 1850 augmentait de 63%,
puis il stagnait. Cette augmentation brusque s’explique par une
production extrémement faible de pommes de terre a la fin des
années 1840. Le prix du vin présentait plus de caprice encore,
puisqu’il réagissait sensiblement a tout changement en quantité ou
en qualité également, survenu dans la production. Dans les années
1850, la production a diminué a cause de l'oidium, par conséquent
les prix ont considérablement augmenté aux marchés de vin de
I’époque : dans les années 1845-54, un hectolitre de vin coftait 11,56
francs en moyenne, tandis que dans les années 1855-64 cette méme
quantité cotitait 29,18 francs, autrement dit, 'augmentation était de
152%. Ce niveau de prix élevé restait durable grace au bon
comportement du vin. Les prix des viandes ont également augmenté
et, de maniére plus importante que ceux des céréales. Entre 1845-54,
un kilo de viande cofitait 0,89 francs, par contre, entre 1864-75 il
cottait 1,54 francs (augmentation de 73%). Dans les années 1840, on
pouvait acheter pour le prix d'un quintal de blé 31 kilos de viande, a
la fin des années 1860, 19 kilos. Le marché a donc surévalué la
viande et c’était le cas pour le lait également. Le prix du lait, du
beurre et du fromage a augmenté de 50%.27

25 LAURENT (1976): 669-670.

26 LENHOF (2005): 61-62.

27 TOUTAIN, Jean-Claude: Le produit de l'agriculture francaise de 1700 a 1958,
t. I, La croissance du produit de lagriculture entre 1700 et 1958, dans Cahiers de
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L’agrandissement de la production résultait de I’élargissement
des territoires agricoles, de la croissance des investissements (main-
d’oeuvre, nouveauté technique, fumage) et de 'augmentation des
rendements. Au milieu du 19¢ siecle, les moyens pour agrandir les
terrains a exploiter étaient limités. Les réserves en territoire étaient
jusque-la absorbées par la production. Il ne restait que des terrains
en friche dont I'exploitation par les techiques des siéecles précédents
et a cause du manque des capitaux présentaient un obstacle trop
grand pour la société. Surtout a 'ouest, au sud-ouest et au centre de
la France se trouvaient des territoires dont la transformation en
terre labourable, en pré, en paturage ou en bois devenait possible.28

La transformation des paysages ne pouvait étre possible que par
I'établissement d’'un réseau routier et des chemins de fer et elle a pu
étre accéléré par la participation active de 1'état. Napoléon ne
disposait pas d'une politique agraire élaborée, il ne pouvait ignorer
pourtant que la plupart de ses électeurs vivaient a la campagne.
Comme président tout autant comme empereur, il soutenait, de
maniere quasi spectaculaire, le drainage des marais, la
transformation des prairies incultes et la plantation des foréts. A
partir des années 1850, une série de lois servait a inciter les
changements. Parmi les travaux, le plus important était le drainage
des Landes du sud-ouest et le commencement de son boisement.
L’empereur lui-méme a acheté une propriété de 900 mille hectares
la-bas ou il a fait planter une pépiniere. Pendant deux décennies, on
a fait le drainage de 300 mille hectares de terre et y ont planté des
pins maritimes.29

Dans la région de la Sologne, a poximité de la ville d’Orléans, et
dans les Dombes au nord-est de Lyon, on a également entamé des
travaux pareils. La Sologne a eu droit a une attention particuliére,
étant donné que Napoléon possédait des terres la-bas également.
Cest aussi pendant le Second Empire qu'on rend fertiles les champs
de bruyere de Bretagne et qu'on commence a transformer le delta du
Rhoéne (Camargue) pour 'adapter a la culture agricole. Ces deux
décennies représentaient la derniére grande période du défrichage
en France.3°

I'LS.E.A., N° 115 juillet 1961. 188-192.

28 SPECKLIN, Robert: Grandes travaux et taches quotidiennes, dans Histoire de
la France rurale, t. 111, 194-196.

29 DANSETTE, Adrien: Naissance de la France moderne, Le Second Empire,
Paris, 1976. 301-302.

30 DU PLESSIS DE GRENEDAN, Joachim: Géographie agricole de la France et
du monde, Paris, 1903. 47-56.
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En 1852, 47 millions 460 mille hectares de terres étaient cultivés
sur les 53 millions d’hectares. En 1873, les terres cultivées
représentaient 47 millions 460 mille hectares, c’est-a-dire une
augmentation de 485 mille hectares, 1%.3* Cet agrandissement
n’était pas suffisant pour une -croissance importante de la
production. Ce qui était plus déterminant, c’était le redéploiement
intérieur en faveur des terres arables et des vignes. Au début des
années 1860, l'étendue des terres labourables a atteint sa plus
grande dimension avec 26 millions 200 mille hectares qui
correspondait a 56% de terres exploitées. La culture des vignes
occupait, de tout temps, une place privilégiée dans l'agriculture
francaise: apres la culture des champs et I'élevage, elle arrivait en
troisieme position. En 1849, il y avait 2 millions 193 mille hectares
de vignes, en 1873, 2 millions 583 mille hectares d’explotations dans
la culture de vignes, atteignant ainsi sa plus grande dimension.32

La croissance de la production a été rendue possible par
l'agrandissement des surfaces ensemencées. Elles se sont élargies
plus considérablement que I'étendue des terres arables, et ce
processus représente la diminution des terres en jachere ainsi que le
gain d’espace de l'alternance des cultures. Par contre, le processus
était lent: en 1852, 22% des terres labourables étaient en jachere, en
1873, cette proportion était de 18,7%. L'étendue des terres en friche a
diminué de 14,7% en deux décennies. La surface ensemencée des
céréales atteint son étandue la plus importante dans les années
1860, puis survient une lente diminution. Elles sera remplacée par la
plantation des especes fourrageres. Leur étendue, étant donné
qu'elle repart d'un niveau bas, augmente plus rapidement que celle
d’autres cultures: entre 1852 et 1873, on constate une augmentation
de 47%, traduisant ainsi les besoins grandissants de I’élevage.33

La diminution des terres en jachere fut accompagnée par un lent
renouvellement des moyens techiques. Selon les statistiques de
I’'année 1862, seulement 25% des charrues étaient des charrues en
fer ou moitié en fer. Cette proportion est de 27% dans ’année 1873.34

3t Statistique agricole de la France, Résultats généraux de Uenquéte décennale
de 1892, Publiée par le ministre de 'agriculture, t. I, 242.

32 Statistique de la France, Agriculture, Résultats généraux de l'engéte décennale de
1862, Publiée par le ministre de I'agriculture, du commerce et des travaux publics, t. II,
Strasbourg, 1868. 125-127. Statistique international de lagriculture, 1873, Rédigée et
publiée par le Service de la Statistique Générale de France. Nancy, 1876. 19.

33 Statistique agricole de 1852, Statistique de la France, deuxiéme série, publiée
par ministre de I'agriculture, du commerce et des travaux publics, t. II, Paris, 1860.
405-407. Statistique interationale de agriculture, 1873. 18-19.

34 Staistique de la Franc, Agriculture, 1862, t. I, CXXVI-CXXXIX, Statistique
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En 1862, il n’y avait que 10 mille semoirs en ligne tirés par cheval.
Parmi les instruments de moisson, le changement le plus important
était la propagation du faux au détriment de la faucille. On est a la
premiére période de la mécanisation de la moisson. La moissoneuse
tirée par cheval et la faucheuse sont également connues, mais en
1862, seulement 9 mille sont utilisées recpectivement de chacune.
C’est dans le domaine du battage qu'on constate les chagements les
plus radicaux: en 1852, 50 mille batteuses sont en fonction, tandis
qu’en 1873, 130 mille, et parmi elles, 7 mille a vapeur. Une batteuse,
avec un personnel de 5-6 individus, effectue le travail fait par 30-40
personnes sans machine.35

Le résultat de 'alternance des cultures, qu’on ne pouvait introduire
que parallelement avec un fumage régulier, la culture du sol améliorée
et l'investissement grandissant en main-d’oeuvre aboutissaient a une
croissance des rendements. D’une part, les especes a rendement bas ont
été supplées par des especes a haut rendement: le blé représentait plus
d’importance par rapport aux autres céréales. Les especes fourrageres
étaient privilégiées au détriment de l'orge et I'avoine. D’autre part, le
rendement de telle ou telle espece calculé par rapport a une unité de
terrain, a augmenté. Compte tenu de grands écarts des rendements, il
est préférable de les analyser d’aprés des moyennes étalées sur dix ans.
Ainsi, on peut constater que le rendement moyen des céréales dans les
années 1840 était 8,44 quintals/hectare, tandis que cette proportion
dans les années 1860, était de 10,58 quintals/hectare. Donc, les
rendements ont augmenté de 25%, avec des écarts régionaux tres
considérables. Parmi les céréales le plus important, le blé, dans les
années 1850, dans le Bassin Parisien et dans les régions du nord du
pays, avait un rendement de 13-16 quintals/hectare. Par contre, dans la
plupart des régions situées au sud de la Loire, ce rendement était entre
8-10 quintales/hectare.3¢

Les rendements de céréales anglais, hollandais et belge étaient de
40-50% plus élevés par rapport a celui de France. Il n’y avait que le
rendement de deux espéces de plantes cultivées ou la France ne
présentait pas de retard par rapport a ses voisins de I’Europe
occidentale et d’autres pays européens. Quant aux rendements des
cultures de vignes, elle avait incontestablement la premiére position
en Europe. La betterave donnait, dans les années 1860-70, 300
quintals par hectare, tout comme en Angleterre ou en Belgique. En
Europe du Nord, on ne cultivait plus de vignes depuis longtemps, et

internationale de lagriculture, 1873. 12.
35 Statistique internationale de U'agriculture, 1873. 12.
36 Statistique agricole de 1852, t. 11, 400.
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I'agriculture des pays méditérranéens étaient moins développée que
celle de la France. Si I'on prend la moyenne des rendements des
années 1851-1860, elle était de 16,6 hl/h, celle des années 1861-70,
25hl/h, ce qui correspond a une augmentation de 50%. Les
rendements élevés dans les régions viticoles de Languedoc ont
contribué a inciter d’autres régions aussi de les atteindre, les
plantations languedociennes composaient des especes avec un
rendement de 30-40hl/h. C'étaient les rendements suisse et
allemand, dans les années 1860, avec une moyenne de 20hl/h qui
étaient proches des rendements francais.s”

Le cheptel des animaux de diverses especes et d’utilisation a
augmenté en nombre pendant ces deux décennies, mais cette
croissance était modeste, de 4%, en prenant en considération le
nombre des animaux. Cette croissance a été accompagnée par un
changement dans la structure de 1’élevage et de la conposition du
cheptel. La croissance est survenue grace a celle du nombre de
cheval, de vache et de porc. Le cheptel des moutons, aprés avoir
atteint un record dans les années 1850, a diminué: en 1852 le
nombre des moutons était de 33 millions, tandis qu’'en 1862
seulement 29 millions. Avec le rétrécissement des jacheres et des
terres a exploitation commune, les moyens de 1’élevage des moutons
ont considérablement diminué. Ce qui renforcait cette tendance,
c’était la diminution du prix de la laine avec l'apparition de
I'importation australienne.38

La croissance lente du cheptel en nombre n’exprime pas le
progres effectif de 1'élevage. Ce qui révele sa productivité c’est le
changement dans les especes d’aimaux a élever et 'augmentation
des rendements en viande et en lait. C’est 'époque ou se répandent
des especes de mouton, de porc et de vache qui donnent plus de
laine, de viande et de lait. Le rendement annuel moyen de lait était
au début des années 1850 environ 900 litres par an, ce qui, a la fin
des années 1860 dépassait 1.000 litres. En 1852, un boeuf de
boucherie a donné 253 kg de viande, en 1873, 300 kilos, on peut
donc enregistrer une augmentation de rendement de 18%. Le
rendement de viande dans le cas du cheptel du porc était de 10%.39

En convertissant les rendements en valeur de production (la
valeur des produits exprimée en monnaie d’apres des prix constants)

37 Statistique agricole annuelle, 1912, Ministére de I'agriculture, Paris, 1914. 60-63.

38 SEE, Henri: Histoire économique de la France, t. II. Les temps modernes
(1789-1914), Paris, 1951. 317-318.

39 LAVERGNE, Léonce de: Economie rurale de la France depuis 1789, Paris,
1866. 39-40, TOUTAIN (1961): 1.1, 155.
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on a I'indice de la productivité.

Cet indice est réel dans le cas ou on prend en considération le prix
du produit final (le produit qui arrive a la table du consommateur ou au
marché), que I'on calcule d’aprés la valeur de la production totale. Un
tiers des produits agricoles annuels est réutilisé dans I'agriculture elle-
méme, dans le processus de la production. Par conséquent, on doit
enlever de la valeur de la production totale celle des grains, de la paille,
du fumier et de I'alimentation des animaux (blé, fourrage, lait etc...).4°
Le produit final ainsi calculé, projeté a un hectare dans les moyennes
des années 1845-1854 était de 160 francs, tandis que dans les années
1865-74 de 197 francs. Donc, la productivité a augmenté de 23%.4

Si l'on exprime les changements quantitatifs d’apres des indices
naturels (mesure de poids et de capacité), on doit constater que la
contribution des divers secteurs était différente. Quant a la
production des céréales, entre 1845-54 et entre 1865-74 elle a
augmenté seulement de 9%, par contre, a I'intérieur de cellei-ci, la
production de blé a augmenté de 19,5% et celle de 'avoine de 17%.
Ce qui veut dire que la production des autres céréales a diminué ou a
stagné durant cette période. Quant a la croissance de la production
de vin, elle a dépassé méme celle des céréales : dans la moyenne des
années 1865-74, la production a augmenté de 26% par rapport a
celle des années 1845-54. Pour cette méme période, la production de
betterave a triplé, celle des pommes de terre a augmenté de 61%. La
production du fourrage de pleins champs a augmenté de 65% et la
ration par animal de 46%. Les Fancais pouvaient manger de 32% de
plus de viande produite en France et consommer de 17% de plus de
lait. Par contre la production de laine et de cocon a diminué.42

L’augmentation de la production peut étre mesurée d’apres le
produit final également. La croissance selon des indices naturels et
le changement structurel de la production ne peuvent étre comparés
qu'a l'intérieur de tel ou tel secteur (p.ex production des céréales). Il
est donc impossible de mesurer la relation entre des secteurs de
nature différente (p.ex culture végétale et élevage). Le produit final
agricole a augmenté de plus de 24% entre 1845-54 et 1865-74.
Proportionnellement, la production des céréales a diminué
lentement a partir des années 1860, mais encore au début des
années 1870, elle représentait 40% de la valeur de la production
végétale. L’augmentetion la plus dynamique quant a la valeur de la
production était a enregistrer dans le domaine de la prodution des

40 LAVERGNE (1866): 476.
4t TOUTAIN (1961): t. II, 91, 128 et 207-208.
42 TOUTAIN (1961): t. II, 6-8, et 13-16.
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légumes et des fruits. A I'intérieur de I'élevage c’était la valeur de la
viande qui augmentait de maniére la plus importante: au début des
années 1850 elle représentait 46%, au début des années 1870, 50%.
Les proportions entre les deux grands secteurs, culture végetale et
élevage, ont a peine changé en faveur de 1'élevage. Entre 1845-54,
66,1% du produit final était représenté par la culture végétale, entre
1865-74, 65,8%. La diminution se voit renforcée pendant la crise des
céréales a la fin du siécle.43

L’agriculture francaise, grace a son rythme de croissance, pouvait
assurer les besoins de consommation, mais l'importation est
devenue nécessaire en quantité considérable, de deux produits : de
céréales et de viande. Dans les années 1860, 3-5% de la
consommation des céréales et 4-8% de celle de viande étaient
assurés par I'importation. Parmi les matiéres premieres, dans les
années 1860, I'industrie textile avait besoin de deux fois plus de laine
que la production intérieure pouvait mettre a sa disposition.
L’exportation s’est effectuée uniquement pour le vin, pendant le
Second Empire cette exportation annuelle éatit en moyenne 2-3
millions d’hectolitres. Les importations en produits agricoles ont
toujours étaient plus grandes que les exportations, et la proportion
des importations a également augmenté. Pour la moyenne des
années 1847-56, 5% de la valeur du produit final agricole était
représenté par l'exportation et, 9,7% par l'importation. Pour la
moyenne des années 1857-66, 9,3% du produit final est représenté
par 'exportation et, 15,1 par 'importation.44

La politique douaniére de I'état a également contribué a I'essor du
commerce extérieur des produits agricoles. Jusqu'aux années 1840
une politique douaniere protectionniste était en vigueur. La grande
pénurie des denrées alimentaires des années 1846-47 avait comme
effet la diminution des douanes a I'importation. Le protectionnisme
est resté de regle, mais en appliquant des tarifs douaniers bas.
Napoléon III a abandonné ce régime a partir des annés 1860,
lorsqu’il a signé des contrats de libre échange avec la plupart des
pays européens. En 1861, les douanes a limportation ont
pratiquement disparu. Jusqu'a I'époque de la crise des céréales
c’était une période de libre échange.45

43 TOUTAIN (1961): t. I, 126-129.

44 LEVY-LEBOYER, Maurice et BOURGUIGNON, Francois: Léconomie
Sfrancaise au XIX¢ siecle, Analyse macro-économique, Paris, 1985. 45.

45 GAVIGNAUD (1990): 81.

46



OT KONTINENS, az Uj- és Jelenkori Egyetemes Torténeti Tanszék tudomanyos kozleményei, N° 2014/1.
ELTE, BUDAPEST, 2016.

David Vilagi

Integration versus segregation
Two examples of resolving the ‘native question’

Abstract

Through the centuries of European expansion and colonization one of
the most re-emerging issue — faced by the colonial administrations — was
the 'native question’. While the methods of settling the problem were
numerous in theory, in practice relocation proved to be a most
straightforward resort without reference to geographical, political, legal or
economical conditions. In this article this process is traceable through two
distinct instances from the 19t century.

Keywords: 19™h century, North America, Natal, segregation policy,
Indian Removal Act

uring the course of the European expansion, all of the

coloniser nations faced a significant question: what to do

with the natives? Many answers were given to this
question during the period of the colonisation from assimilation to
genocide. As a general rule, drastic solutions were typical in the early
period. Later on - primarily driven by the influence of the thinkers of
Enlightenment - the coloniser nations tried to use more humane
methods, but of course there were always exceptions.

The two examples submitted are similar in many aspects. Since
the simplest and cheapest solution was the occupation of native
territories where the natives were either expelled or relocated. This
points to the fact that it was an ultimate dénouement. It was widely
applied and other methods were tried only on the pressure of the
circumstances.

Native policy in Natal

This script could be followed up in South Africa, where during plenty
of wars the British Empire expanded its borders to northern direction. It
is enough to mention here the sequence of the Xhosa wars.!

However expelling the natives had its own limits, mainly when the
unoccupied areas ran out. Natal is a good example for this, where in the
1840s a settling process took place. The end of this process was a statute

1 Between 1779 and 1879 there were nine Xhosa wars altogether. During this
period the border continually moved to the northern direction, until in 1879 a whole
Xhosa inhabited territory got under British authority.
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on 23 June 1849,2 which regulated the jurisdiction between natives.3

In 1840 the Boers invaded Natal, and the Volksraad was formed in
Pietermaritzburg. The Volksraad immediately negotiated with the
issue represented by the local Africans. At first the Boers expected
that the Africans will run away from the invaded territories, but
usually the reaction of the Africans was totally different. They stuck
to their accustomed environment and even if they lost some of their
territories, they tried to stay.4

Settling the situation in Natal was more and more necessary
because of the migration from Zulu territories. The new Zulu king,
Mpande sought after the consolidation of his authority. Although he
was widely known as the most peaceful member of the dynasty
(within Zulu standards, he was rated as a particularly soft ruler), his
ascension to the throne was interlocked with a bloody massacre.
Mpande was convinced that his only surviving half-brother Gqugqu,
who was spared by the former Zulu ruler Dingane, wants to kill him.
Therefore he ordered Gqugqu’s killing in 1843.

With his action, he initiated another wave of migration in the
direction of Natal because a number of people surmised that Gqugqu'’s
death was only the beginning of further massacres. Therefore many of
them wanted to settle down in a safe distance from the Zulu borders.
The leader of this group was Mpande’s aunt, Mawa.

It was a large scale migration, the south-eastern areas of Zululand
were almost completely abandoned. Meanwhile the number of native
inhabitants in Natal significantly expanded to the point that the Boer,
and later on, the British administration were forced to act and handle
the escalating situation.s

The Volksraad worked up a suggestion in 1841 in which they
planned to relocate the whole African population. For this purpose,
one massive reservation was appointed between the Mtamvuna and

2 Of course the whole process did not end up here. The last remarkable regulation
of the 19t century was published in 1891.

3 This solution, which was pushed by Theophilus Shepstone, was not the only
conception. The original plan by Henry Cloete was meant to introduce the British
legal system. There was an attempt to apply this conception in 1845, however, in a
short time it turned out that the instant introduction of the European legal system
would be impossible. So in the end Shepstone’s indirect ruling conception was
triumphant.

4 RICH, Paul, Segregation and the Cape liberal tradition. IN: Collected Seminar
Papers on The Societies of Southern Africa in the 19" and 20t Centuries. Vol. 10.
University of London, London, 1981. 31.

5 The source of the expanding native population in Natal was not only the people
from Zululand, but from other areas also began a homecoming of those clans, which were
formerly expelled. These clans saw in British presence the guarantee of stability.
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Mzimvubu Rivers.® The council preferred voluntary relocation, but
they made an authorization to apply force if it became necessary.”
However the implementation was delayed in the next years and in
May of 1843, the territory was occupied by the British forces.

In November 1843, the Boer Volksraad renewed the plan of
relocation, but British Special Commissioner Henry Cloete stood for
another conception. He worked out his own suggestion in which
instead of a big reservation out of Natal, he envisioned a few smaller
locations inside the borders of Natal.

His suggestion contained three major cornerstones. Firstly, he
recommended creating at least six locations. Secondly, he considered
it very important to establish mission headquarters in the new
locations. Thirdly, he found it necessary to assign a governmental
officer who would be entrusted with the task of supervising the
African inhabitants.8

The Cape government supported his ideas as they immediately
appointed an agent to intermediate between the government and the
Africans. The new post was occupied in 1846 by Theophilus
Shepstone.9 He had similar ideas as Cloete. He thought, that as long
as the thinking of the Africans shows such great differences from the
European standards, it would be better for both them and the settlers
to live in separation. In his opinion, the segregated locations could
provide places where the Africans could learn the European ways and
customs in their own pace without any external interference.™°

The elaboration was executed by a whole team. In 1846, the
government created an independent Locations Commission to
examine the state of the Africans. During this examination, the
commission decided that it would be subservient to station local
magistrates or superintendents in all the planned locations.

6 The idea of segregating settlers and Africans was not predestined. But during
the interactions between the two groups, as an answer for the local governmental
and economical environment, almost everywhere was practiced.

POPKE, Jeffrey, Managing colonial alterity: narratives of race, space and labor in
Durban, 1870-1920. Journal of Historical Geography, Vol. 29. N° 2. 2003. 249.
(POPKE (2003). GUY, Jeff, Theophilus Shepstone and the Forging of Natal: African
Autonomy and Settler Colonialism in the Making of Traditional Authority.
University of KwaZulu-Natal Press, Pietermaritzburg, 2013. 42. (GUY (2013).

7 IVEY, Jacob Mckinnon, The White Chief of Natal: Sir Theophilus Shepstone
and the British Native Policy in Mid-Nineteenth Century Natal. University of
Central Florida, Orlando, 2008. 17-18. (IVEY (2008)

8 GUY (2013), 52-53. IVEY (2008), 20-23.

9 GUY, Jeff, Creating Customary Law. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban,
2008. 3.

10 IVEY (2008), 3.
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Additionally, they also found it very useful to create local police
forces under the control of European officers.

Local commissioners would have had multiple tasks. Of course their
main task would have been to supervise the Africans, but moreover they
would have made the local statistics and census, just as they would have
occupied a key position in the local judiciary system. Later on they were
adjudicating the minor crime and civil cases. Their work was supported
by a board formed by local chiefs. During the suit, when it was possible,
the unwritten African law was adopted.™

The commission found it extremely important to set up mission
stations and schools for the Africans. The main goal of maintaining
schools would have been to transmit practical agricultural knowledge
to the African youth.:2. The estates of the locations were regarded as
state property, the Africans only had the right to crop the fields.:s

Without governmental permission, trade was prohibited with
those Africans who lived in the locations. For receiving such &
permission, the merchant was obligated to submit an itemized list
about the wares.™

The number of the locations was eventually determined at ten.
There were 1.168.000 acres’s of land detached for this purpose and
the relocation concerned roughly 100.000 Africans.® The locations
were settled in a way that none of them affected the farmlands of
British or Boer inhabitants. However, the borders of the locations
were not traced out in a detailed way. As a general rule they followed
a principle: the frontier ran along where the farms of the settlers
came to an end. In many cases these farmlands belonged to
generations of African families who did not leave their ancient lands.
If the new settler owners did not occupy their lands, these families
did not experience any disturbances.’” With the relatively high
location number, they tried to avoid the hostility between rival clans.

1 GUY (2013), 111.

2. MCCLENDON, Thomas, Who Put the Mission in Civilizing Mission?
Reconsiderations of Shepstone’s Early Career. North Eastern Workshop on
Southern Africa, 2002. 19. (MCCLENDON (2002.)

13 IVEY (2008), 27-29.

14 TVEY (2008), 30.

15 Approximately 4730 km2.

16 The number of the locations at the 1880° reached forty. CELE, Nokuthula,
Mpondos or Natalians? The Boer-British Struggle for Control and Manipulation of
Boundaries in Natal, South Africa in the 19t Century. IN: Global Encounters European
Identities. Ed. HARRIS, Mary Noelle, Plus-Pisa University Press, Pisa, 2010. 46.

17 This was the situation in such cases, when the new owner was a land
speculator. GUY, JEFF, The Remarkable Mr. Peppercorne: (or Adam Smith in
Msinga). Durban, University of KwaZulu-Natal, 2011. 8. (GUY 2011.)
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During the process the clans were deliberately mixed up to prevent
any incidental uproar.

Creating multiple locations was not only done for the purpose of
separating Africans and European settlers, they also fulfilled strategic
considerations; namely many of the locations were placed in a way
that they functioned as buffer zones between settlers and hostile
clans on the borders of Natal.’8 In these locations - after Shepstone’s
concept — the native unwritten law was in force with a few
modifications. For example murder could not be redeemed with
cattle and the old superstitious customs were abolished.

In practice only the establishment of mission stations was
subsidized by the government. Each of the stations received a 200
hectare fields for personal purposes and another 2.400-3.600
hectares in the vicinity for those African families who planned to
settle down near the stations after converting to Christianity.2°

Moreover an African militia was created under the supervision of
five European officers. At first it consisted of one hundred men, but
later on this number was doubled. However, that militia was
disbanded in 1851 due to financial issues and no other similar
organization was set up until 1874.2

With lacking sufficient financial resources, only one possibility
proved to be realistic, namely to carry on with the indirect ruling
system.22 Thank to this mish-mash of achievements, the whole
framework proved to be very unstable. The locations could not
maintain the whole African population, hence more and more natives
tried to find a job on settler farms or on governmental fields.23

During the relocation process, the British forces rarely used violence.
In the 1840° only two major cases are known. In 1847, they used force
against Fodo, the chief of the Dumesa, and in 1849 they confronted the

18 MCCLENDON (2002), 18.

19 A full document about the regulation concept of Shepstone was published by
George von Welfling Eybers. Select Constitutional Documents Illustrating South
African History 1795-1910. Ed. EYBERS, George von Welfling, George Routledge &
Sons, London, 1918. 235-238.

20 TRELAND, William: Historical Sketch of the Zulu Mission in South Africa.
American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, Boston, 1864. 13.

21 MAHONEY, Michael, How the British Stayed in Power in Early Colonial
Natal. Durban, University of Natal, 2001. 21-23.

22 Officially until 1848 the same rules were applied for settlers and Africans. In
practice for the Africans these changes meant nothing. They lived exactly the same
way as before. In theory they accepted the British rule, but their settlements were so
isolated, that de facto they have not experienced any difference. MCCLENDON
(2002), 15.

23 MCCLENDON (2002), 20.
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Hlubi refugees under the leadership of Langalibalele.24

In 1850 the government appointed local magistrates for the first
time.2s The magistrates supervised the clans, made reports for the
government, collected the taxes and mediated the orders of the
government.2® At an early stage they did not receive any detailed
instructions and they did not have any independent budget. In most
cases they had very little notion about governmental intentions until
Theophilus Shepstone wrote them an instruction. In this document he
defined the idea of an indirect ruling system. The task of the magistrates
was to control the power of the chiefs instead of honeycombing it.
Accordingly, if any hostility occurred, they were obliged to find a
solution using the chiefs and their influence instead of direct
intervention. In practice, magistrates were used as an alternate court by
the Africans. In cases when they were unsatisfied with the judgment of
the chief, they made a petition to the magistrate. The settlers were
motivated by rather different reasons. They hoped for worker
recruitment and the return of stolen cattle from the magistrates.27

Between 1849 and 1852, a significant number of settlers arrived to
Natal. The newcomers blamed the location system for the insufficient
labour market.28 In the meantime the locations could not maintain
the growing African population, so in time many Africans left their
appointed locations and tried to settle down in other places. By the
1870° more than a half of the African population lived on fields which
did not belong to them.29 As a result, the original segregation system
was totally broken because of the massive migration by the 1880s.3°

Surveying the contemporary press articles and books, it is clear
what was the settler’s opinion about the increasing African migration.

24 MORRIS, Donald R., The Washing of the Spears: The Rise and Fall of the Zulu
Nation. Da Capo Press, Cambridge, 1998. 165. 171. 173-174. BRYANT, Alfred T.,
Olden Times in Zululand and Natal. C. Struik Publisher, Capetown, 19658 (1929).
679. THOMPSON, Leonard, Co-operation and Conflict: The Zulu Kingdom and
Natal. The Oxford History of South Africa Vol. 1. Ed. WILSON, Monica -
THOMPSON, Leonard. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1969. 374-376. WALKER, Eric A.,
The Formation of New States 1835-1856. IN: The Cambridge History of the British
Empire Vol. VIII. Ed. WALKER, Eric A. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge,
1963. 359.

25 IVEY (2008), 38.

26 IVEY (2008), 47-48.

27 GUY (2011), 8.

28 Actually the real issue was caused by the low wages. MCCLENDON (2002), 14.
GUY (2011), 24.

29 GUY, Jeff, The Destruction of the Zulu Kingdom. 3. edition. University of
KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, 1994. 43. (GUY (1994).

30 POPKE (2003), 251.
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For example in 1886, one of the articles in the Natal Mercury
contained the following phrasing: ‘the social pest ... spreading like an
epidemic ... undermining all sense of security’.3!

In this period the Africans were treated in the cities as visitors or
passersby. One main method was implemented for the controlling of
the migration wave after 1873. The local clerks tried to control the
migration and security by only allowing entrance to Africans who
were employed in the cities.

The underdevelopment of the locations was extensively examined
by Norman Etherington. He diagnosed three main causes in the
background of the failure for any developmental and
industrialization attempts in the locations. Firstly, the cooperative
mentality of the Africans hindered the individual initiatives.
Secondly, they did not have adequate organizing experience. And
thirdly, they could not accumulate proper capital.32 Of course besides
the negative observations there are some positive ones as well. For
example, in this period the African parents learned to appreciate the
significance of the school system. At least this was the impression of
the Inspector of Native Education, Fred B. Fynney in 1885.33

The missionary maintained schools, which were created to discipline
the African youth, were superior in number as well as in quality when
compared to the schools maintained by the government. The mission
schools were upheld mainly by American missionaries. Since they were
able to guarantee the continuous teacher reinforcements, the standard
of their education was consistently high.

The other side of the coin was that the mission schools provided
only elementary knowledge. The secondary schools were created for
settler pupils and they rarely admitted African students. The
situation was even worse after 1903, because the Natalian
government reduced the annual financial support in several steps
from 1 pound 2 shillings 8 pennies to 13 shillings 3 pennies per capita
between 1893 and 1903.34

In summary, it could be argued that the location system, which
today is named after Shepstone, was not created as a singular act, but

31 Quoted by Jeffrey Popke. POPKE (2003), 258.

32 ETHERINGTON, Norman, African Economic Experiments. IN: Enterprise
and Exploitation in a Victorian Colony: Aspects of the Economic and Social History
of Colonial Natal. Ed. GUEST, Bill — SELLERS, John, University of Natal,
Pietermaritzburg, 1985. 270.

33 His statement is quoted by Duncan Du Bois. DU BOIS, Duncan: Natal south
coast region: a review of African interaction with colonization. 2014. 1. and 12. (DU
BOIS (2014).

34 DU BOIS (2014), 11-12.
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in many steps building on many local, regional and state changes, not
to mention ideological influence.35

In the opinion of Norman Etherington, there was never any
coherent and reasoned conception. The so-called Shepstone-system
could be summarized as the complex bunch of ad hoc reactions given
for the different situations which occurred over the decades.3¢

At the same time it could be argued that the location system was
one of the most important and most lasting establishments in the
history of the colony and later on it was introduced in all British
governed colonies of the Sub-Saharan Africa.3”

Segregation made it possible to separate the Africans from
European settlers on political, legal and territorial bases at the lowest
cost. By the end of the 19" century, this method fully supplanted the
alternative solution of assimilation.

On the downside, the system ossified over the years and it could
not adapt to the altering circumstances. It artificially conserved the
archaic customs and conditions of the Africans. Furthermore, these
circumstances directly lead to more drastic forms and methods of
segregation politics during the 20t century.

Native policy in the United States

The settlers in North America faced similar problems. From the
beginning of the United States history, clarification and regulation of
the status of the natives had been a continuous issue.38 There were
two political groups, the gradualists and the supporters of relocation.
The former party presumed that through teaching and developing the
natives, they could acquire enough knowledge to get integrated into
the society. Members of the other party believed that although the
natives could be civilised, there is not enough time to do this due to
the white settlers’ greed for land, so they recommended the
relocation of the natives to the western bank of the Mississippi
River.39

It is a common opinion that the main supporter of the latter
fraction was President Andrew Jackson and the policy of relocation

35 MCCLENDON (2002), 2.

36 GUY (1994), 42.

37 IVEY (2008), 1.

38 Obviously the problem has a longer history, but this study has no intention to
depict the period of British ruling.

39 WEEKS, Philip, Farewell, My Nation — The American Indian and the United
States in the Nineteenth Century. Harlan Davidson Inc., Wheeling, 20012 (1990).
29-31. (WEEKS (2001).
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was his ‘Tnvention’. In fact, the roots of this political idea had
originated much earlier, at around the beginning of the 19t
century.4°

In the early period, the government tried to regulate and restrict
the relations between natives and settlers. This effort primarily
served the interests of the natives. Throughout this period, the so
called Trade and Intercourse Acts’ was in force. From these acts the
most important was an act acknowledged on 30 March 1802, which
was substantially influenced by the previous trade acts.4! Until 1834
the act went through only minor modifications.42

The act defined the exact borders between the United States and
the native tribes. The trespassers were punished either with a fee or
with imprisonment. If a settler stole something from a native, he had
to pay twice the worth of the stolen goods. If the culprit did not have
the money for the fee, then the government paid to the aggrieved
party. If the aggrieved party took revenge, there was no
compensation liability. Settling down on a native territory without
permission could lead to expulsion even with the assistance of the
army. Killing a tribesman was equal to death sentence.

Trading was only legal with governmental permission, in case of
misuse, the permission was ambulatory. Trading with land was an
exclusive right of the government commissioners. If a tribesman
committed a crime on a settler’s territory, the evidences were
supposed to be passed to the commissioner and only he had the right
to negotiate with the tribe. Revenge was culpable.43

If all these rules could be enforced in practice, then presumably
the natives would have had much less harm. But in the everyday
routine these principles were never applied consistently.

In 1803, during Thomas Jefferson’s presidency, the Louisiana
Purchase came into force. This treaty contained such terms which
later eased the implementation of the relocation policy. In article 15,

40 This fact was stated by contemporary politicians. For example in the
memorials of Charles Eaton Haynes it is underlined that President Jefferson and
President Monroe were instrumental in the development of the relocation policy. In
Jefferson’s case, Haynes mentioned a negotiation with the Cherokees in 1809, where
he urged the relocation of the natives. In Monroe’s case, Haynes quoted a message to
Congress in 1825, which also dealt with the question of relocation. The Makings of
America: The United States and the World Vol. 1. Ed. MILLER, James - MALLORY,
Sylvia, D. C. Heath and Company, Lexington, 1993. 307-308.

41 This previous trade acts arose in 1790, 1796 and 1799.

42 Documents of United States Indian Policy. Ed. PRUCHA, Francis P. University
of Nebraska Press, Lincoln, 1975. 17. (PRUCHA (1975).

43 PRUCHA (1975), 17-21.
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which was ratified by the Congress in 1804, Jefferson promised lands
from the newly gained territories for the tribes living on the eastern
bank of the Mississippi River if they were willing to transfer to the
western bank.44

The commissioners dealing with the natives were instructed to
convince the tribes to discuss the relocation conditions with the
government. In his instructions, Jefferson distinguished between the
tribes. He urged primarily to deal with hunter tribes, because these
tribes needed significantly more land to secure their food supplies
than the tribes dealing with agriculture. To secure their living stocks,
hunter tribes needed almost 2.000 acres of land per capita, whereas
settler families required only a few acres per capita.4s In this early
period of the relocation policy, the government tried to convince the
natives instead of using violence.

The efforts had some results. Members of the Cherokee tribe
wandered to the West firstly only to hunt, but later they settled down.
This promising process was stopped by the Second War of American
Independence.4¢

The evolving cotton plantation seduced many settlers in the 1810°
and they outnumbered the natives soon enough, generating more and
more tension. Oftentimes slaves were seeking refuge from the
natives, because the living conditions were better than on the settler’s
plantations. Runaway slaves and poor natives formed robber bands
and they endangered the safety of the roads.47 The problems were
more and more acute because of the differences between the native
and settler law and order. The states also aspired to extend their
jurisdiction on native territories.

During the presidency of Monroe, the question of dealing with the
status of the natives turned up again. The main opinions — just like
during Jefferson’s presidency — focused on two alternatives. The
tribes must either migrate to the West or switch to cultivation.
Monroe wrote in a letter to Andrew Jackson in October 1817, that the

44 BORSANYI Laszl6, Hontalanok a hazdjukban: az els6 amerikaiak térténelme
az Egyesiilt Allamok torténetében (XVII-XIX. szdzad). Helikon Kiadé, Budapest,
2001. 68. (BORSANYI (2001).

45 WHAPLES, Robert, Were Andrew Jackson’s Policies "Good for the Economy"?
The Independent Review Vol. 18. N° 4. 2014. 547. (WHAPLES (2014).

46 PRUCHA, Francis P., The Great Father: The United States Goverment and the
American Indians Vol. 1. Universty of Nebraska Press, Lincoln, 1984. 183-184.
(PRUCHA (1984).

47USNER, Daniel H. Jr., American Indians on the Cotton Frontier. IN: Major
Problems in American Indian History — Documents and Essays. Ed. HURTADO,
Albert L. - IVERSON, Peter, D. C. Heath and Company, Lexington, 1994. 190-191.
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hunting tribes need much more land to maintain their welfare than
the ‘civilised’ tribes. This is the same idea as Jefferson’s.

This letter initiated that the main problem was still the settlers’
demand for soil. Most of the politicians of the period thought the
problem would have been solved if the government could have
distributed all of the tribal lands east from the Mississippi River
between the settlers. Thus the government instructed the agents
dealing with the natives to work out new treaties with the tribes, but
just like before the war, they were not allowed to use violent
methods.4® However, this patient policy changed drastically because
of external circumstances.

This twist was induced by the tensions between the State of
Georgia and the Cherokees — ironically enough, the conflict was
caused by gradualist ambitions. These natives had effectively adopted
the settler’s achievements so they were able to interpret the objects of
the settlers and they could estimate the real value of their territories.
Therefore they were very hostile towards the idea of voluntarily
migrating to the West.49 Moreover they were fully aware of the fact
that the western bank of the Mississippi River was inhabited by other
tribes, who would not welcome their arrival. Finally, they presumed
that it would be only a temporary solution, because in the course of
time the swarm of settlers will invade the western territories too.5°

The root of the discordance between the Cherokees and the State of
Georgia was a treaty created on 24 April 1802. In this agreement the
state gave up its claims over the western territories, but in exchange
got the promise that as soon as the circumstances were suitable, they
could take over the native fields which were inside the borders of the
state. On several occasions, the Cherokees and the governor of Georgia
requested the federal government to settle the disputed question: the

48 President Monroe essentially shared the viewpoint of the gradualists. This is
well supported by the Civilisation Fund Act, which was ratified after his initiative on
3 March 1819. According to the law the government founded 10.000 dollars worth
annuity, which served the purpose of training ‘capable persons of good moral
character’. This person’s task was to teach the natives the knowledge of writing,
reading, calculating and cultivating. WEEKS (2001), 36. PRUCHA (1975), 33.

49 In his account to President Monroe the Secretary of War, John Caldwell
Calhoun refers to this fact. Tt cannot be doubted,” he wrote ‘that much of the
difficulty of acquiring additional cessions from the Cherokee nation, and other
southern tribes, results from their growing civilisation and knowledge, by which
they have learned to place a higher value upon their lands than more rude and
savage tribes. WEEKS (2001), 39-40.

50 TOCQUEVILLE, Alexis de, Democracy in America: Historical-Critical Edition
of De la démocratie en Amérique. Vol. 2. Ed. NOLLA, Eduardo, Liberty Fund,
Indianapolis, 2010. 543. (TOCQUEVILLE (2010).
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natives because of the threatening attitude of Georgia and the state in
order to get the conditions of the treaty fulfilled.

In this situation Monroe envisioned a great western native
territory with a governmental system and without any threat from
the settlers. In this territory the tribes could have chosen the proper
pace of their ‘civilisation’ progress. This conception was espoused by
the Indian Affairs Committee.

Senator Thomas Hart Benton on 1 February 1825 suggested to
endow the president with the right to work out treaties with the
tribes living on the eastern bank of the Mississippi River to migrate
to the western bank. The conception promised a guarantee that the
government would defend their new, western territories from settlers
and would help to create their own governmental system. For this
purpose, Senator Benton earmarked a 125.000 dollars foundation.
The suggestion was accepted by the Senate but members of the
House of Representatives voted against it.

In the meantime the Cherokees followed their own way. On 26
July 1827 they passed their own constitution, which was based on the
United States Constitution. In this document they declared the
establishment of their own, independent, sovereign state. The
constitution enabled the integration of the different Cherokee groups.
The document was in many aspects modern, although wherever it
was possible, they tried to preserve the ancient tribal traditions.5!

This measure necessarily resulted in a counter-move by the settlers
of Georgia. The state expanded its supremacy and jurisdiction over the
Cherokee territories.5> From that time on the settlers were allowed to
move into the native territories. They purchased the lands dirt-cheap or
took them using violence. Furthermore, they created such a sharp
competition on the market that the native farmers would go broke
sooner or later. The state obligated the native inhabitants to pay taxes
and the men were enrolled in the local militia — the greed of the settlers
finally coupled with the oppression of the state.53

In the next years other states followed the example of Georgia and
extended their jurisdiction and authority. The new regulations and
adjudications together with the steady attitude of the governors lead to

51 YOUNG, Mary, Pagans, Converts, and Blacksliders, All: A Secular View of the
Metaphysics of Indian-White Relations. IN: The American Indian and the Problem
of History. Ed. MARTIN, Calvin. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1987. 80-81.
(YOUNG (1987).

52 BORSANYI (2001), 80-81.

53 ROGIN, Michael Paul, Fathers and Children — Andrew Jackson and the
Subjugation of the American Indian. Vintage Books, New York, 1976. 212-213.
(ROGIN (1976).
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the impression that their only intention was to banish the natives.54

The situation was so serious that the Indian Affairs Committee
could not find any other loophole, but the policy of relocation. At this
juncture Andrew Jackson was elected as the 7t president of the
United States in 1828.

His experiences led him to the point of view that traditional native
policy had limited efficiency and on many occasions the contracts were
not observed. He wrote a report to President Monroe in 1817 wherein
he pleaded the method of negotiating with the natives. In his opinion,
the natives were also living on the territory of the United States,
therefore they did not have complete independence and this pointed to
the fact, that the Senate had an equal right to govern them as it had
governing the settlers living on the territories. He thought, that the
natives only have the right to possess the lands, but not to own them.55

Jackson preserved these ideas as a president. His firm belief was
that the natives cannot live in the states as independent tribes — they
should either migrate to the West or observe the law of their states.5¢

After the State of Georgia arbitrarily extended its jurisdiction, the
Cherokees sent protesting deputations either to the Senate or the
president. Nevertheless they did not get remedy, although their
arguments suited the European standards. They did not refer to their
tribal virtue or ancestral spirits but they emphasised their rights.5

This kind of reasoning appeared in a petition to the Congress dated
on 19 November 1829. The land on which we stand we have received
as an inheritance from our fathers, who possessed it from time
immemorial, as a gift from our common Father in Heaven. They
bequeathed it to us as their children, and we have sacredly kept it, as
containing the remains of our beloved men. This right of inheritance
we have never ceded nor ever forfeited. Permit us to ask what better
right can the people have to a country than the rzght of inheritance and
immemorial peaceable possession? We know it is said of late by the
State of Georgia and by the Executive of the United States, that we
have forfeited this right; but we think this is said gratuitously. At what

54 TOCQUEVILLE (2010), 540-541.

55 PRUCHA (1984), 191-192.

56 Jackson’s understanding was a sort of junction between the standpoint of the
gradualists and the opinion of the relocation supporters. He had no doubt that the
natives could be civilised and be integrated into the white society in the long run. On
the other hand he was aware of the increasing greed for cultivatable lands of the
settlers. Whereupon he thought, the gradualist program wass functional but only on
the western banks of the Mississippi River, far away from the settlers. WEEKS
(2001), 41-42.

57 YOUNG (1987), 80-81.
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time have we made the forfeit? What great crime have we committed,
whereby we must forever be divested of our country and rights? Was it
when we were hostile to the United States, and took part with the King
of Great Britain, during the struggle for independence? If so, why was
not this forfeiture declared in the first treaty of peace between the
United States and our beloved men?’8

The report prepared by John Bell59 on 24 February 1830 makes it
obvious that this kind of reasoning did not have any effect. The
fundamental principle that the Indians had no right by virtue of
their ancient possession either of will or sovereignty, has never been
abandoned either expressly or by implication.®°

The Cherokees’ other typical reasoning stands for the gradualist
attitude of mind. A good example for this was written by Elias Boudinot
on 13 March 1828 in the Cherokee Phoenix. He put down, that lately the
main opinion about the native question suggested that the tribes could
not be civilised while continuously getting harassed by the settlers. After
that he — following the train of thought by Jefferson — asks a question: if
the tribes leave the civilised environment for a savage one, how could it
be expected, that they will get civilised ?6

On 8 December 1829, President Jackson in his first message to the
Congress reviewed his opinion about the dangerous situation. In his
introduction he summarised the issue. Some of the natives — living in
the southern region — have recently made an independent self-
government on the territory of the State of Georgia and the State of
Alabama. The states mentioned above, reacting to the violation of
their sovereignty, extended the validity of their laws on areas
inhabited by natives, whereon the natives have turned to the
government of the United States.

In his opinion the government in this case did not have any legal
right to act against the states, because the constitution unequivocally
prohibited creating a new state on a territory of an existing state.

After that — in his message — Jackson suggested to establish a
territory on the western bank of the Mississippi River for the native
tribes. On this territory they would be allowed to settle down freely
and there they would be able to acquire the fundamental knowledge

58 TOCQUEVILLE (2010), 545-546.

59 John Bell was a representative of the State of Tennessee between 1827 and
1841 in the Congress. In the years mentioned above he was a member of the House
Committee on Indian Affairs.

60 TOCQUEVILLE (2010), 547.

61 Major Problems in American Indian History — Documents and Essays. Ed.
HURTADO, Albert L. - IVERSON, Peter, D. C. Heath and Company, Lexington,
1994. 210. (HURTADO-IVERSON (1994).
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of the European civilisation without any pressure.¢2

In case the natives were willing to accept this conception, he made
up several promises to attract them for choosing the relocation. He
warranted autonomy on the new territory for the tribes.
Furthermore, he guaranteed that the government would never get
involved in internal matters, only in case of tensions among the tribes
or dispute about the borders. Like his predecessors, Jackson pointed
out, the relocation would be organised voluntarily.®s

As a result of Jackson’s conception, two draft bills were prepared.
Finally the Congress passed the one framed up by the Senate. Before
reviewing the contents of the act, it is worth to examine the reasons
that lead to the victory of the relocation policy supporters.

The most important reason was of course the settlers’ greed for
cultivable fields. It had a huge impact on the southern areas
especially, where the cotton plantations needed broad areas. The
effect of the economic boom after the Second War of American
Independence has just escalated the need for soil. Moreover, the
plantations used extensive agricultural methods instead of intensive
ones. The greed for new territories was intensified in 1828 because
the settlers found gold on Cherokee territories in that year.64

The conflict, escalating between the natives and the states — as
mentioned before — also had a significant consequence. The federal
government was not ready to confront the states, especially using
force. Therefore the easier way was to relocate the tribes.%

Humanitarian reasons can be mentioned as well. In the early
18309, it turned out that while the idea of the gradualist's method
was appropriate, in practice it could only be carried out partially.
The process of integrating the natives into the white society proved
to be much longer than it was previously presumed. Furthermore,
together with the useful achievements destructive phenomena also
streamed into the native territories, for example the consumption of
spirits.6®

62 PRUCHA (1984), 194.

63 HURTADO-IVERSON (1994), 209. CAVE, Alfred A., Abuse of Power: Andrew
Jackson and the Indian Removal Act of 1830. The Historian Vol. 65. N° 6. 2003.
1332. (CAVE (2003).

64 ROGIN (1976), 219.

65 This consideration is mentioned by Tocqueville. The federal government did
not want to fight with the states endangering the integrity of the Union. They rather
undertook the task to relocate the tribes on the account of the federal budget.
TOCQUEVILLE (2010), 542.

66 MARTIN, Calvin, Ethnohistory: A Better Way to Write Indian History, IN: Major
Problems in American Indian History — Documents and Essays. Ed. HURTADO, Albert
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Under these circumstances, a number of politicians bona fide
professed that civilising the tribes can only be successful if it is not
accelerated by external factors and it is happening while being
separated from the white society in a controlled manner so that the
negative effects can be prevented.

This attitude is well represented by Thomas Loraine McKenney who,
as the head of the Bureau of Indian Affairs created in 1824, wrote very
trusting reports about the propagation of civilisation among the natives
and about the establishment of new schools in the beginning. By 1827
however, when he made a trip to native territories, he recognised that
the positive examples were Tike green spots in the desert’.

About the northern tribes he wrote straight from the shoulder
with the following words. ‘They catch fish — and plant patches of
corn; dance, paint, hunt, fight, get drunk when they can get liquor
and often starve’. After that experience the previously zealous
gradualist, McKenney changed his mind and thought that the only
chance for natives would be the instant relocation.¢”

Eventually the Indian Removal Act was passed in 1830. The
Senate passed it on 24 April with a 28:19 ratio, the House of
Representatives passed it on 26 May with a 102:97 ratio and
President Jackson signed it on 28 May. The act empowered the
president to mark out areas west of the Mississippi River and to
truck these areas with the eastern tribes for their lands. The act
gave a permanent guarantee that the government is willing to
protect them on their new lands. It also guaranteed that the
relocation would be organised on federal expense and the
government would warrant the natives’ supplies for a year, until
they could become self-sufficient. For this purpose the Congress
passed 500.000 dollars.8

In the new situation, it was crucial to work up the frames of the
intercourse with natives. The Secretary of War, Lewis Cass formulated
his standpoint in 1831. In his opinion the natives should be guaranteed
that their new lands would be secured from entering settlers and they
would not be perturbed anymore. The government should prohibit the
trade with spirits. To prevent the hostility between the tribes it is
necessary to station sufficient military forces on the border. The
government should support all those natives who are willing to establish
a ranch with seeds and domestic animals. The tribes’ traditions and
customs must be preserved as much as possible. For the education of

L. - IVERSON, Peter, D. C. Heath and Company, Lexington, 1994. 27.
67 WEEKS (2001), 35. PRUCHA (1984), 198-199.
68 CAVE (2003), 1333. PRUCHA (1984), 206.
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the natives the government should assign suitable specialists.®9

By 1830, when the Indian Removal Act was passed, many of the
Cherokees already moved to the West. Initially at the end of the 1810¢
they settled down in the Territory of Arkansas, later on in 1828 they
gave up these territories as well and moved to the western bank of the
Mississippi River. Accordingly, over 6.000 Cherokees lived in the
West by 1836. In his letter on 18 April 1829, the Secretary of War,
John Henry Eaton urged the others to follow the example above. He
mentioned in his letter that the natives deluded themselves with false
hopes, if they thought they could hold their lands in the future. At the
same time he pointed out, that if they would migrate to the West,
they would never be insulted by the settlers ever again.”

Those who stayed on their ancient lands stoutly insisted on their
territories. Even though they were warned, that if they would stay,
they must obey the laws of the settlers. For Jackson this attitude did
not make any sense. He was sure that the relocation is for the good of
the natives.”

Over the 1830¢ the situation of the natives got worse step by step.
The settlers impatiently and more and more violently intruded upon
them and the federal government did not give effect to any counter-
measures, so in time many of them were amenable to leave their
territories. The leader of this party was Major Ridge, whereas the
intransigent party was led by John Ross.

The former party hoped to convince Ross to follow their wish and
sign a new treaty. Their attempts were futile in 1833 and again in
1835. Ross considered this point of view unacceptable. He judged
assimilation was more reasonable than leaving their homelands.

At the end of the year 1835, it seemed possible that Ross was ready
to negotiate with the government. He planned a trip to Washington.
Indian Commissioner John Freeman Schermerhorn took advantage
of this opportunity and achieved that the removal agreement got
signed by several members of the Ridge party in New Echota. Since
Ross could not work out another more suitable agreement, the
remaining members of the Ridge Party also signed the Treaty of New
Echota. The State of Georgia also threatened them with violence if
they did not agree to sign the treaty.

In Ross’opinion this tractable attitude was a dead end. He thought
that if they were not able to achieve any success in Georgia, then they
would not be able to defend their rights in the future either. On the

69 PRUCHA (1984), 271.
70 TOCQUEVILLE (2010), 544-.
71YOUNG (1987), 80-81.
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other hand, the Ridge party hoped to buy a few peaceful and
quiescent years for the tribe.”

The government was ready to accept the treaty, although it was
signed only by the minority of the tribe. The government alluded that
those who were not present at the signing lost their right to the
deliverance. After a fierce discussion about the legality of this
treatment, the Senate passed the treaty by a single vote in May 1836.73

Under the terms of the agreement, the Cherokees gave up their
territories and received new lands in the West in exchange and
5.000.000 dollars as compensation. For the transference they had two
years from the ratification. The small group of people who signed the
agreement left the eastern tribal territories without any difficulties.?#

Those Cherokees who hanged back tried to stand up against the
decision. In the end, Ross was disposed to make a new agreement with
even-handed terms but the government had no intention for
negotiations. The deadline for fulfilling the terms of the agreement was
in May 1838. Since the rest of the natives did not leave the affected
territories, the government ordered General Winfield Scott to execute
the terms of the agreement. The Cherokee leaders came to an agreement
with Scott and they promised to organise the relocation themselves. The
great ‘exodus’ started off in October; approximately 13.000 Cherokees
were forced to leave their old homes behind. The severe winter caused
remarkable casualties. Over the wanderings, roughly one fourth of the
Cherokees died because of the harsh circumstances.”s Hiding the
difficulties, Jackson described the removal policy as a great success
in his ‘Farewell Address’ of 4 March 1837. ‘This unhappy race — the
original dwellers in our land — are now placed in a situation where
we may well hope that they will share in the blessings of civilisation
and be saved from that degradation and destruction to which they
were rapidly hastening while they remained in the States...7°

Generally speaking the prognostications made by Jackson’s
antipodes proved unjust. The relocation did not result in the
vanishing of the tribal structures. On the new lands the tribes
continued to put the previously acquired settler developments into
practice. Of course this does not mean that the relocation policy

72 YOUNG, Mary, The Cherokee Nation: Mirror of the Republic. IN: Major
Problems in American Indian History — Documents and Essays. Ed. HURTADO,
Albert L. - IVERSON, Peter. D. C. Heath and Company, Lexington, 1994. 232.

73 BORSANYI (2001), 84-85.

74 BOYER, Paul S. et al., The Enduring Vision — A History of the American
People Vol 1. D. C. Heath and Company, Lexington, 1990. 282.

75 PRUCHA (1984), 234-241.

76 PRUCHA (1984), 242. WEEKS (2001), 50.
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subserved integrating the natives into the society. On the contrary, it
only served the purpose of segregation.””

In the 1840° and 1850s, the relocated tribes lived in peace and
prosperity and they achieved a significant development; this
statement could be best demonstrated with the example of the tribal
school system.

This school system had three main pillars. Firstly, the natives tried
to establish work-schools. In these institutes the students learned not
only theory and English language but they obtained agricultural and
domestic knowledge as well. Secondly, the schools were mixed schools
so they tried to educate not only the boys, but the girls as well. Finally
they urged the establishment of schools on native territories. By this
they hoped that all of the natives could acquire a basic knowledge.

Usually the educational program was a shared project between the
tribes and the federal government. The two parties put up the money
together. The school systems operated by the natives were so well-
functional that in this period their systems were better, than the
educational institutes in the States of Arkansas and Missouri.”® In
these years the reports about the tribes were generally very positive
and trusting. Only in a few occasions could have been found moderate
opinions — yet even these less positive reports never questioned the
development, they only highlighted the tardiness of the progress.

These achievements partly legitimated the justness of the
presidential policy accomplished by Jackson. The situation later —
principally after the Civil War — has drastically changed. Of course
this was not the supporters of relocations’ fault. In the 1830s it was
not obvious what the second-half of the 19th century will bring.79

It is certainly true, that the removal policy was not the only
solution for the native question but it would be unjust, to consider
President Jackson’s conception was wrong and unsuccessful as a
whole. The core idea took the interest of the natives into account and
offered real solutions but the execution was far from flawless. Neither
the relocation nor the subsequent happenings were perfectly
organised and often the best intentions could not achieve any

77 FIXICO, Donald, Federal and State Policies and American Indians. IN: A
Companion to American Indian History. Ed. DELORIA, Philip J. — SALISBURY,
Neal, Blackwell, Malden, 2002.

78 PRUCHA (1984), 287-290.

79 The problems could be caught from the late 18409, correlating with the
discovery of gold in the West (Oregon, California). At this time the native territories
were not in real danger, the gold miners only transited their lands, but they caused a
lot of trouble with epidemics and trading spirits being the most notable damages.
WEEKS (2001), 63, 68, 71.
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development because of certain officer’s interest or malpractice.8°

Moreover almost nobody expected that this solution would prove so
ephemeral and in a few years the natives will suffer from problems
similar to the ones before the removal.8* Of course clairvoyant writers
could be found, who previously foreboded the future prospects.

For example Tocqueville thought that by the time the settlers will
reach the Pacific Ocean, all of the natives will be exterminated. In
context with that harsh assignation, he quoted a statement by Lewis
Cass. Judging of the future by the past, we cannot err in
anticipating a progressive diminution of their numbers, and their
eventual extinction, unless our border should become stationary,
and they be removed beyond it, or unless some radical change
should take place in the principles of our intercourse with them,
which it is easier to hope for than to expect. 2

Maybe in not so drastic measures but these worries came true
from the middle of the 19®™ century: a few years after the settlers
reached the new native borders and caused subsequent hostilities.

Conclusion

Two examples, two continents, two situations, but in terms of
methodology they had very similar results. Dealing with the natives
was a crucial issue during the colonization period. There were different
conceptions and suggestions, but at the end in the name of cheapness
and amenity, segregation proved to be an ultimate solution.

Handling the differences in culture and way of life would have
been a very long process and although this process could have been
accelerated by the presence of European groups, the settlers’
intolerant and greedy attitude did not make the peaceful social
integration and assimilation possible.

This is why the original inhabitants were expelled from their
original territories step by step — as a result, the ambitious plans for
assimilation either totally failed or significantly slowed down.

80 WHAPLES (2014), 553. CAVE (2003), 1338.

81 A good parallel example can be found from this period by the Mormons. They
suffered from permanent persecution because they allowed bigamy in their church.
In 1846, with the leading of Brigham Young, they left the United States and
established Salt Lake City while seeking new territories. The Mormons hoped that
they could live without any vexation from other settlers for a couple of decades but
the United States in a few years extended its borders as far as Salt Lake City,
correlating with the California Gold Rush.

82 TOCQUEVILLE (2010), 529.
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Jozsef Krisztian Szalanczi

sAntartida Argentina”
Argentine interests and activities in the south polar region
before the Antarctic Treaty (1820-1959)

Abstract

Argentina — as one of the closest country to the White Continent —
always paid great attention to the south polar issues, since the Republic
declared its independence from Spain in 1816. The irreconcilable dispute,
which began in 1833 between Argentina and Great Britain about the
sovereignty rights over the Falkland Islands is the starting point of the
international debates in the far South Atlantic region, but the overlapping
claims of the above-named countries in Antarctica — inclusive also Chile —
is a lesser-known segment of this topic. As an introduction, an attempt to
present the Argentine Antarctic policy will be followed from the second
decade of the 19t century to the signing of the Antarctic Treaty in 1959, in
particular with regard to the Argentine activities, which led to the official
announcement of the Argentine territorial claim under the name Antdrtida
Argentina (Argentine Antarctica) in 1942/1943.

Keywords: Antarctica, territorial claims, Argentina, Great Britain,
Antarctic Treaty, Falkland Islands, sovereignty rights.

owadays the main questions about the ice-covered

southern continent are first of all the large scale of

environmental and economic challanges such as the global
warming, the status of the ozon layer, the immeasurable amount of
raw materials in the dephts of the Antarctic mainland, the oil
reserves in the continental shelf of the surrounding waters — and last
but not least the huge amount of fresh water, which is located in the
form of ice in the region. Nevertheless, the multiple political issues
about Antarctica — which date back in a wider sense to the first half of
the 19t century — never played a leading role in the mainstream world
politics. Seemingly, there is no reason to be inquisitive about this topic
while the Antarctic Treaty — which was signed in Washington in 1959
and entered into force in 1961 — put the whole area south of 60° South
Latitude under international control. This agreement permits the
scientific research but strictly prohibits the military activities in the
south polar region in particular with regard to nuclear weapon tests.!

1 The Antarctic Treaty. National Archives of Australia, Canberra (NAAC) A10728
DOCUMENT 28. Article I; III; V-VI.
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Officially, all of the signatories observe the principles of the Antarctic
Treaty but beside the scientific observations, the national research
stations emphasize also the physical presence of the concerned
powers in Antarctica.2 In the light of the former events and
experiences about the ,,conquest” of the White Continent, it is not so
surprising. Seven countries had announced official territorial claims in
Antarctica in the first half of the 20th century.3 Because of the
Antarctic Treaty, at this moment these pretensions are in frozen, but
not in invalid status.4 The above-named agreement appeased the
former disputes about the sovereignty rights in Antarctica but didn’t
solve the problem in its entirety. The territorial claims are in not
current status — but only during the period while the Antarctic Treaty
is in force.5 As an introduction, an attempt to present the Argentine
Antarctic policy will be followed from the second decade of the 19t
century to 1959. The Argentine ambitions and activities reveal the
origins and also the lesser-known contexts of the most irreconcilable
territorial disputes in the region — first of all between the Argentine
Republic and Great Britain.

2 The original 12 signatories of the Antarctic Treaty were: Argentina, Australia,
Belgium, Chile, France, Japan, New Zealand, Norway, the Union of South Africa, the
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and the
United States of America.) Nowadays the Antarctic Treaty System — which includes
the original treaty and also the supplementary agreements such as for example the
Protocol on Environmental Protection to the Antarctic Treaty which entered into
force in 1998 — comprises 53 member states. Ibid; CSATLOS, E.: Az Antarktisz
nemzetkézi jogi helyzete a XXI. szazadban Miskolci Jogi Szemle, 2012/1. 54.;
Official website of the Antarctic Treaty System. Http://www.ats.aq/devAS/ats_
parties.aspx?lang=e. Visited: 06.22.2016.

3 The United Kingdom (1908), New Zealand (1923), France (1924), Australia
(1933), Norway (1939), Chile (1940) and Argentina (1942/43).

4 The Antarctic Treaty does not take stand definitely on territorial claims. Article
IV of the Agreement prohibits any new claim and also the enlargement of an existing
claim, but it doesn’t repeal the pretensions which had officially announced in the
pre-treaty era. NAAC A10728, DOCUMENT 28. Article IV. The above-named seven
countries which proclaimed their claims before 1959 were also the original
signatories of the agreement. Moreover, the United States and the Soviet Union also
reserved their rights to assert claims in the future. It was obvious that the treaty can’t
be effective without the ratifications of the most concerned states and especially the
two superpowers in the Cold War period, such as the USA and the USSR. Because of
the political situation the most satisfying solution was to put the existing claims to a
so-called ,,frozen” status while the Antarctic Treaty is in force.

5 We need to mention, that the hypothetical cancellation of the Antarctic Treaty
in the future would not only renew the former claims in the area, but it would lead to
the announcement of several new pretensions, because the United States, China, the
Russian Federation, Japan, Brazil, India and the Republic of South Africa are also
very concerned in this question.
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Because of its geographical location, Argentina always paid great
attention to the South Atlantic (and later to the Antarctic) matters
since the Republic declared its independence from Spain on July o,
1816. After the collapse of the Spanish Empire in South America, the
United Provinces of the Rio de la Plata® expanded its sovereignty to
the Falkland Islands (Malvinas in Spanish) which are situated some
500 miles northeast from the Cape Horn and exercised its authority
over the archipelago between 1820 and 1831/1833. Buenos Aires
inherited its rights about the islands from the legal principle uti
possideitis and also on the basis of old contracts from the colonial
age. On purpose to avoid the conflicts between the newly founded
states in South America, the borderlines were delimited after the
independence war generally along the boundaries of the former
Spanish viceroyalties in the area.” Before 1810 the above-named
islands were officially the dependencies of the Spanish Empire. In
this interpretation, because of the uti possidetis the sovereignty
rights over the Falkland Islands demised to the United Provinces.8
From the point of view of Argentina, the uti possidetis and the
Spanish ,historical heritage” are the most important keywords in the
South Atlantic and also in Antarctic issues from nowadays. But
despite all of these claims, Buenos Aires lost the Falkland Islands
because of a conflict which evolved between the Argentine governor
of the Malvinas, Louis Vernet and the United States of America. In
1831, Vernet confiscated some North American fishing boats because
of the violation of the exclusive Argentine fishery rights around the

6 Or: United Provinces of South America. The predecessor of the Argentine state
after the independence war against the Spanish which comprised generally the
former territories of the Spanish Viceroyalty of the Rio de la Plata with Buenos Aires
as its capital. The denomination changed to Argentina officially in 1853. SZILAGYI
A.: Valtozatok a fiiggetlenségre: Argentina, Paraguay, Brazilia, Uruguay, IN:
ANDERLE Adam (ed.): Latin-Amerika: a fiiggetlenség titjai. University of Szeged,
2012. 81.

7 The meaning of the legal principle uti possidetis in English: ,as you possess”.

8 This time it is not possible to introduce the history of the Falkland Islands in its
entirety, but — as an important component of the topic — we need to emphasize the
following: although the islands were discovered belike by Spanish sailors in the first
half of the 16t century (probably under Magellan’s expedition between 1519—1522),
the British state that the archipelago was sighted first by their navigators such as
Captain John Davies and Richard Hawkins at the end of the 1500s. MANANA
LAINO, D.: Harc a Falkland- (Malvin-) szigetekért 1982. Zrinyi Katonai Kiado,
Budapest, 1985. 7—8. In the second half of the 18t century, French and British
settlers also visited the former uninhabited islands for a while — so much so that
after a military expedition the Spaniards expelled the British colonists from the
Faklands in 1770 —, but before 1810 the Spanish rule was generally indisputable over
the islands. Ibid. 9—10.
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islands. It was not a wise decision because Andrew Jackson,
President of the United States called out the sloop-of war USS
Lexington to avenge Vernet’s insolence. The captain of the ship, Silas
Duncan attacked Vernet’s headquarters with fierce cannon fire in
Puerto de la Soledad°, seized the settlement, expelled the colonists,
captured and arrested the governor itself and charged him with
piracy. Before the Lexington set sail, Duncan ,declared the islands
free of all governments, 31 December [in 1831 — Sz. K.]”.* The
British swiftly realized the situation that the territory is partially
unowned. Officially in order to repair their derelict fort at Port
Egmont on the West Falkland Island, they returned back, hoisted the
Union Jack in Puerto de la Soledad and declared the British
sovereignty over the islands on 2 January 1833.2 From that time,
except the weeks of the Falkland War in 1982 while the troops of
General Leopoldo Galtieri, leader of the Argentine military junta
invaded the territory, the Falkland Islands are de facto under British
rule — although Buenos Aires never recognized the occupation. After
the valorization of the South Atlantic and Antarctic regions from
economic and strategic aspects, the loss of the Malvinas became for
Argentina not only a moral but also a serious political question which
affected very adversely the positions of the country in the area. The
significance of the underpopulated Falkland Islands was never the
territory itself, but the geographical location of the archipelago such
as the gate of Antarctica. For that very reason the sovereignty
questions over the territory are in the centre of the insoluble British
and Argentine disputes in the region.!3

9 HEADLAND, R.: Chronological List of Antarctic Expeditions and Related
Historical Events. Cambridge University Press, Irthlingborough, 1989. (HEADLAND
1989) 139. Beside the Falkland Islands, Buenos Aires also tried to monopolize the
fishery rights in the area of Tierra del Fuego, southernmost part of South America.
Simultaneously with Vernet’s official appointment as governor in 1829, Buenos Aires
issued a decree which announced the Argentine sovereignty over the Malvinas and
also some small uninhabited islands in the vicinity of the Cape Horn. Of course,
Great Britain protested officially against this Argentine action. Ibid. 135-136.

10 Puerto de la Soledad was a former French settlement (Port Louis) on the East
Falkland Island, which was renamed by the Spanish and later became the residence
of the Argentine governor. Ibid. 72.

11 Tbid. 139.

2 Thid. 140. Although Silas Duncan expelled the Argentine colonists in 1831, the
settlement in Puerto de la Soledad was not absolutely deserted. The British commander,
Captain Onslow found there ,,the remnants of Louis Vernet’s garrison, who...withdrew
under duress to Buenos Aires and British occupation was resumed.” Ibid.

13 Of course the Falkland Islands are situated in the South Atlantic region and not
in the polar zone. But in this regard, there is an inseparable connection between this
archipelago and Antarctica.
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Although we cannot speak about elaborated Antarctic policy on
the part of Argentina in the 19" century, the country also tried to
investigate the economic possibilities in the region. British and
Australian archival sources refer to the journey of Captain Carlos
Timblén from Buenos Aires to the South Shetland Islands in 1819—
1820 as the first classic commercial entertainment in the far South
Atlantic area, very close to the Antarctic mainland.*4 Beside this it
should be noted that in 1844 an ,,administrative post in Ushuaia in
Tierra del Fuego established by the Government of Buenos Aires.”™5
This step was an important one in the race for the conquest of
Patagonia between Argentina and Chile and made it clear that
Argentina also claims Tierra del Fuego which region is situated on its
southernmost edge — in the vicinity of Cape Horn — the closest to the
Antarctic mainland.® The boundary disputes between the two South
American countries were settled by the so-called Boundary Treaty of
1881 (Tratado de Limites de 1881) which was signed in Buenos Aires.
Although the main questions revolved around the delimitation of
borders in Tierra del Fuego and also about the status of the Strait of
Magellan, ,both states have considered its extension to Antarctic
regions™7

14 During the expedition Timblén collected 14.600 fur seal skin. Territorial
Claims in the Antarctic by Research Department, Foreign Office, May 1st, 1945.
Secret. NAAC A4311, 365/8. 143. The South Shetland Islands (62°S; 58°W) are
situated some 80 miles north from, the Antarctic Peninsula. Ibid. 43.

5 HEADLAND (1989): 159. Ushuaia is situated on the shore of the Beagle
Channel and nowadays the city is the capital of the Argentine Province Tierra del
Fuego. On the basis of a decree from 1957 Ushuaia is also the administrative centre
of the so-called Argentine Antarctica (Antartida Argentina) which comprises beside
the Argentine Antarctic territories — of course only in the point of view of the
Argentine Republic — the Falkland Islands, the South Georgia and also the South
Sandwich Islands. MORRIS, M.: Great Power Relations in Argentina, Chile and
Antarctica. Palgrave Macmillan, New York, 1990. 45.

16 Before the organization of the Argentine administrative post in Ushuaia, Chile
also established a fort on the Brunswick Peninsula (which is the southernmost part
of the mainland in Tierra del Fuego) in 1843 to demonstrate its sovereignty claims
about the territory and especially the Strait of Magellan. PERRY, R.: Argentine and
Chile: The Struggle for Patagonia 1843—-1881. The Americas, 1980/3. 349.

17 HEADLAND (1989): 204. The treaty guaranteed the neutrality of the Strait
Magellan. Patagonia and the eastern territories of Tierra del Fuego became parts
of the Argentine Republic. Chile obtained the western side of the area, which
situated close to the Pacific Ocean. Boundary Disputes: Argentina and Chile.
Foreign Relations of the United States diplomatic papers, 1938: The American
Republics. Washington, United States Government Printing Office, 1956.
(UWDC 1938/5.) 212. NAAC A4311, 365/8. 177. Later disputes evolved about the
sovereignty over three small island such as Nueva, Lennox and Picton in the
vicinity of Cape Horn, which led almost to a military conflict between Argentina
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In the last quarter of the 19" century, Argentina began to prepare to
exploit the possibilities in the polar zone, but it was not easy to create a
well-founded claim on the basis of the international law to prove the
right of the Republic to possess Antarctic territories. The main problem
was that there were not former Argentine discoveries in the region and
the country also didn’t take part in the great wave of the national
research expeditions which started at the very end of the 1800s,8
although the members of the Swedish South Polar Expedition were
rescued from the Snow Hill Island (64°S; 57°W, very close to the
Anarctic Peninsula) in 1903 with the help of Julian Irizar, captain of the
Argentine naval vessel Uruguay.’9 Because of the above-mentioned
reasons, along the same lines with the Falkland Islands, Buenos Aires
tried to support its claims with old treaties from the age of the Spanish
rule in South America and also with the legal principle uti possidetsis.
Beside them the Republic also referred to its geographical closeness to
the Antarctic mainland and tried to emphasize its physical presence in
the area first of all with whaling enterprises2° and from 1904 with the
maintenance of a permanent meteorological station on Laurie Island
(60°S; 44°W) which is the part of the South Orkney Islands some 400
miles northeast from the Antarctic Peninsula.2! Contrary to the British
attitude which always preferred to recognize first of all the geographical
discoveries in territorial disputes, we can clearly observe that the
essence of the Argentine Antarctic policy — which is analogous to the
Chilean claims — based very strongly on the Spanish historical heritage.
This sharp contrast between the British and Argentine aspects also led
to confrontations in Antarctic issues.

and Chile not long before the outbreak of the Falkland War in 1982.

18 Between 1897 and 1914, Belgian, British, German, Swedish, Scottish, French,
Norwegian, Japanese and also a common Australian — New Zealand research
expeditions visited the White Continent in order to explore the coasts and later the
interior of Antarctica — or try to reach the geographic South Pole. RIFFENBURGH,
B.: Encyclopedia of the Antarctic I-II. Routledge, New York, 2007.
(RIFFENBURGH 2007) 1111—1112.

19 NAAC A4311, 365/8. 147; HEADLAND (1989): 231. The leader of the Swedish
expedition was the famous geologist and geographer, Otto Nordenskjold.

20 At the turn of the 19th and the 20th centuries, whaling was the most
important economic activity and also the generator of the geographical
discoveries and territorial disputes in the Antarctic region. Because of the
industrial whaling, cetacean stocks became very thin in the northern hemisphere
and whaling companies began to search new areas in the second half of the 19th
century to find numerous whale populations in the far southern waters.
STOKKE, S. — VIDAS, D.: Governing the Antarctic: The Effectiveness and
Legitimacy of the Antarctic Treaty System. Cambridge University Press,
Cambridge — New York — Melbourne, 1996. 385.

21 NAAC A4311, 365/8. 147.
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The first reference about the validity of the Argentine claims about
Antarctic territories was the famous papal bull Inter caetera which
was issued by Pope Alexander VI in 1493 — and still more the Treaty
of Tordesillas in 1494, which divided the influence zones between
Spain and Portugal in the western hemisphere, drawing the line of
demarcation from the North Pole to the South Pole.22 Strictly
theoretically, western parts of the Antarctic mainland which situated
south of the Strait of Magellan became Spanish possessions on the
basis of the agreement — although in this period the White Continent
was an undiscovered area.23 In the interpretation of Buenos Aires, the
successor of the Spanish rights is the Argentine state because of the
Vice Viceroyalty of the Rio de la Plata. But we need to mention that
the relevance of the Treaty of Tordesillas became more and more
questionable after the beginning of the British, French and Dutch
colonization, because these countries never recognized the exclusive
Spanish and Portuguese rights in the New World.2+

Of course, in the 20th century the theory of the Spanish heritage
was an insufficient reference to enforce territorial claims in polar
questions, thus Argentina tried to enhance its historical right also
with whaling and scientific activities. After the arrival of the above-
mentioned Irizar relief expedition to Buenos Aires, the Compaiia
Argenina de Pesca, a pioneer Argentine—Norwegian fishing company
was formed with Argentine capital in 1904 under the lead of a
Norwegian whaling manager, Carl Anton Larsen.2s The company
eftsoon organized an expedition which established ,the first
Antarctic whaling station on South Georgia, at Grytviken, 16
November 1904 [and — SZ. K.] made biological [and also
meteorological — Sz. K.] observations and collections...This event
was the beginning of the modern whaling industry and permanent
occupation of the island.”™® In order to convey coal and other
supplies, the Argentine naval vessel Guardia Nacional (which was
chartered by the Compariia Argenina de Pesca) also visited the

22 The line of demarcation ran along about 2200 kilometres (370 leagues) west
from the Cape Verde Islands. Spain claimed the western part of the zone while the
eastern part became a Portuguese possession.

23 HAYTON, R.: The ,American Antarctic’. The American Journal of
International Law, 1956/3. 585—587.

24 Of course Santiago — as the successor of the Captaincy-General of Chile — also
referred to the old Spanish treaties and grants about territorial issues in Antarctica.
(Ibid. 585.)

25 HEADLAND, R.: The Island of South Georgia. Cambridge University Press,
Cambridge, 1984. 110. HEADLAND (1989): 231.

26 HEADLAND (1989): 233.
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island in 1905. Beside the whaling activities, Buenos Aires decided to
send out yearly expeditions to the South Orkneys to relieve the
meteorological station on Laurie Island, which was officially under
the control of the Argentine Meteorological Office (Oficina
Meteorolégica Argentina) from the beginning of 1904.27 In the
following decades, Argentine vessels systematically visited the
Orcadas?® to maintain the station and of course to emphasize the
physical presence of the Republic in the area.

While Buenos Aires tried to enhance its polar positions, Edward
VII, King of Great Britain proclaimed a so-called Letters Patent in
1908, which contained, that ,,the groups of islands known as South
Georgia, South Orkneys, the South Shetlands, and the Sandwich
Islands and the territory known as Graham’s Land, situated in the
South Atlantic Ocean to the south of the fiftieth parallel of south
latitude and lying between the twentieth and the eigthieth degrees of
west longitude, are part of our Dominions and it is expedient that
provision should be made for their governments as Dependencies of
Our Colony of the Falkland Islands.” The British announcement —
the first official sovereignty claim, which contained an Antarctic
mainland territory, such as the Graham Land in the Antarctic
Peninsula — was a severe blow for the Argentine ambitions and also
escalated the conflict about the Falkland Islands. Great Britain began
to build up its exclusive polar empire without compromise — first of
all in order to control the whaling in the region —, annexed the whole
area between 20—80°W to the 50°S to and placed it under the
administration of the governor of the Falkland Islands.3° The British
state that there was no official Argentine protest against the
declaration: ,Following the issue of Letters patent on July 21
1908...the Argentine Minister for Foreign Affairs expressed a wish,
on November 13™" 1908, to be informed of the terms of the
«declaration» made by His Majesty’s Government in the previous
July. As the reference was presumably to the Letters Patent, a copy
of the Falkland Islands Gazette containing that instrument was sent
to His Majesty’s Chargé d’Affaires for communication to the

27 Ibid. 229. 234. The meteorological station was built by the Scottish National
Antarctic Expedition in 1903, but the Argentine government took over the
maintenance of the building on 22 February 1904. Ibid. 229.

28 Or: Islas Orcadas del Sur. The Spanish name of the South Orkney Islands.

29 Antarctic Control I — to Imperial Conference 1921. Pt. I. NAAC A981, ANT 4
PART 1. S. C. 499/1. Falkland Islands. (Dependencies.) Letters Patent. Dated 215t
July, 1908. 1.

30 Officially the British Sector was formed under the name Falkland Island
Dependencies.
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Argentine Government, who acknowledged the receipt of this
communication on March 18t 1909, without comment.”3!

The lack of any Argentine (or Chilean) protest is very implausible,
because theoretically the northern boundary of the British sector
(50°S) ,sliced off” the southern parts of Patagonia and grossly
harmed the territorial integrity of the Argentine Republic and Chile.
Contrary to the above-mentioned citation, the Norwegian Journal of
Commerce and Shipping (Norges handels og Sjofartstidende) which
was well-informed in polar questions, refers back to the
remonstration in 1933 and says that the two South American
countries ,protested against this [against the British declaration in
1908 — Sz. K.] with the result that Great Britain by Letters Patent
dated 28" March 1917 altered the boundary of the so-called
Falkland sector in such a way that it no longer included Argentine
and Chilean territories...”s2 Of course, the British expansion was very
unpleasant for all countries — first of all Norway and France — which
explored territories in the area before the establishment of the
Falkland Islands Dependencies, but absolutely unacceptable for
Argentina.3s Despite the British annexation, Argentine called out its
yearly expeditions to the Laurie Island without break to emphasize
its sovereignty rights over the South Orkney Islands. The British
Admiralty formerly investigated the question in 1907 in order to
disprove the legal base of any possible Argentine claim and ,,pointed
out that no Spaniards had ever explored or discovered anything in
that region; that the land in question [the South Orkney Islands —
Sz. K.] was far outside any territorial limits to which the Argentine
Government could lay claim; and further, that the South Orkneys
had been formally taken by British subjects long before the
Argentine Government had ships to visit the locality.3* The

31 NAAC A4311, 365/8. 55.

32 Norwegian Claims Part 3. NAAC A981, ANTI 51 PART 3. Annex B. Extract
from the Norwegian Journal of Commerce and Shipping. Oslo, Thursday, December
21, 1933. Norway and the British Claims for Antarctic Sectors. 3. Otherwise the
British didn’t plan to annex South American territories and they really altered the
northern boundary of the Falkland Islands Dependencies in 1917 in the area between
50—80°W to 58°S instead of the incorrect 50°S. NAAC Ag81, ANT 4 PART 1. S. C.
499/1. Falkland Islands. (Dependencies.) Letters Patent. Dated 28th March 1917.

33 Norwegian Claims Part 3. NAAC Ag81, ANTI 51 PART 3. Annex B. 3.

34 NAAC A4311, 365/8. 54. The South Orkney Islands ,,were discovered by the
sealer George Powell and Nathaniel Palmer on 6 December 1821 while searching
for fur seals. Finding very few seals of any kind, Palmer appers to have shown little
interest in the islands as Powell claimed possession for Great Britain...” MILLS, W.:
Exploring Polar Frontiers. ABC Clio, Santa Barbara (California), 2003. It was
important that Powell was a British subject, but Palmer is an American citizen.
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Admiralty also referred back to the Treaty of Tordesillas and
concluded that ,its validity as an argument in support of a claim to
territory could not be admitted by His Majesty’s Government, the
meridian of partition between the Spanish and Portuguese
possession would place the South Orkneys under Portuguese and
not Spanish rule.”ss

At the same time as the third important participant in these
conflicts, Chile also tried to increase its influence in the Antarctic
region. Santiago issued a whaling license about the South Shetland
Islands — which were the main target of the Chilean Antarctic policy
— and founded the Magallanes Whaling Company (Sociedad
Ballenera de Magallanes) in 1906.3¢ Two years later, members of
this company established a station with storehouses for stock of coal
on Deception Island (62°S; 60°W).3” The South Shetlands also
became part of the Falkland Islands Dependencies in 1908 but
despite Argentina, Chile was much less confrontational with regard
to Great Britain. Of course Santiago upheld its claims about
Antarctica and never recognized the British sector, but carefully
avoided all islands (first of all the South Orkneys) which were under
dispute between Argentina and the United Kingdom.

While Chile was slightly inactive in polar issues in the interwar
period, Great Britain and Argentina continued their duel in the far
South Atlantic region. Buenos Aires focused its efforts to the South
Orkney Islands and after the establishment of a radio station on Laurie
Island in 1925, the Argentine government announced its official claim
about the territory which was extended also to the South Georgia and
the South Sandwich Islands in 1927.38 Of course, both of the above-
named islands were also British pretensions, thus the conflict
escalated to a higher level between the two countries. Moreover, the
Yacimientos Petroliferos Fiscales, ,the Argentine state oil company,
began to prospect for oil in southern Argentina and Tierra del
Fuego™9 in 1937. The presumable existence of offshore oil fields in the
continental shelf of the Southern Ocean presaged an increase in the
significance of the Antarctic region at the end of the 1930s, but the
outbreak of the Second World War pushed forward also the military

35 NAAC A4311, 365/8. 54.

36 PINOCHET DE LA BARRA, O: Chilean Sovereignty in Antarctica. Editorial
del Pacifico S. A., Santiago de Chile, 1955. (PINOCHET DE LA BARRA 1955) 36—38.

37 Ibid. 38. Deception Island is situated some 100 miles north from the Antarctic
Peninsula and belongs to the South Shetland Islands.

38 HEADLAND (1989): 274.

39 Ibid. 299.

76



OT KONTINENS, az Uj- és Jelenkori Egyetemes Torténeti Tanszék tudomanyos kozleményei, N° 2014/1.
ELTE, BUDAPEST, 2016.
aspects in the area beside the political and economic debates.

After 1939, Argentine and Chile realized, that Great Britain’s
influence in the South Atlantic region temporarily weakened because
of its serious war efforts and both of them tried to maximize their
possibilities in this situation. Chile took the opportunity first and
after careful investigations, Santiago announced its official claim in a
presidential decree on 6 November 1940 to the area between 58—
90°W, south of the 60°S to the South Pole.4 The Chilean Antarctic
Territory (Territorio Chileno Antarctico) contained the South
Shetland Islands and also the Antarctic Peninsula. Of course
Argentina also prepared to annex Antarctic mainland territories and
during his naval expedition to the South Shetland Islands, Alberto J.
Oddera, captain of the Primero de Mayo declared the foundation of
Argentine Antarctica (Antartida Argentina) on Deception Island on
8 February 1942.40 Oddera was permitted by the Argentine
government to carry out this action, but Buenos Aires officially
informed London about the announcement only on 15 February
1943.42 Despite the Chilean claim which clearly avoided the South
Orkney Islands and first of all concentrated on the Pacific side of the
Antarcic Peninsula, Argentina annexed the territory between 25—
68°W, south of the 60°S which contained beside the Antarctic
Peninsula both the South Orkneys and South Shetlands.43

Because of Oddera’s action the Royal Navy called out an armed
merchant cruiser, HMS Carnarvon Castle to solve the dangerous
situation, which threatened with the loss of British control over the
far South Atlantic territories. Seemingly, this part of the World Ocean
was very far from the main naval confrontation zones and trade
routes, but the Admiralty suspected that German (or Japanese)
submarines and commerce raiders try to use the area for their
operations.4 On January 1943 ,,a [British — Sz. K] party landed at

40 PINOCHET DE LA BARRA (1955): 53. Julio Escudero, Professor of the Chilean
University and expert in international law was entrusted by the Chilean government
in 1939 to investigate the question of the legal basis of the pretension. Santiago
decided to claim the sector between 53—90°W after the proposals of Escudero. Ibid.

4 HEADLAND (1989): 306.

42 Thid.

43 Ibid.

44 The British fear about the German raiders was not unfounded. After a
successful raid, captain of the German auxiliary cruiser Pinguin, Ernst-Felix Kriider
captured the whole Norwegian whaling fleet (two factory ships, a supply ship and
eleven whale-catchers) in the Antarctic waters (59°S; 02°30'W) in January 1941 and
he tried to do the same with the British whaling ships which also operated in the
area. But because of the prospective arrival of a British warship, at the end Kriider
decided to retreat and the Pinguin left the South Atlantic district. After his action the
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Deception Island, obliterated all traces of the Argentine visit in
1942...hoisted the Union Jack and left a record of the ship visit.”5
But not so long after — while Buenos Aires notified officially the
British government about the Argentine territorial claim - the
Primero de Mayo returned back to Deception Island under the
command Captain Silvano Harriague, who removed the British
emblems and replaced the Argentine flag. Two Chilean naval officers
also took part in the expedition, but henceforth the co-operation
between the two South American countries against the British was
not successful.4¢ ,The Argentines erased the British marks at
Deception Island with the cognisance of the Chileans, but
endeavoured to keep secret from the latter the fact that, on the eve of
departure, they also restored the Argentine marks.”*” Both
Argentina and Chile agreed that Great Britain is an intruder in the
~American” segment of Antarctica — but because of the ,,great rivalry
and distrust between them™3 they never formed a real alliance
against the United Kingdom. Although Harriague’s expedition was a
secret mission, the British obtained the informations about the action
and gave a resolute answer to the challenge. The Royal Navy
organized a partially military manoeuvre under the name Operation
Tabarin and called out the HMS Scoresby and the steamship Fitzroy
to the Deception Island. They established a permanent
meteorological station on the island, removed the Argentine
emblems again and built an another station in Port Lockroy (64°S;
63°W) which is situated on the Antarctic Peninsula.49 The expedition
— which also carried out a comprehensive scientific program during
the winter 1944 — continued into the next year (Operation Tabarin
II) and beside the erection of two small huts in the area, ,a new

»Southern Ocean pelagic whaling was ceased until the end of the war.”
HEADLAND (1989): 303. Irrespectively from the Antarctic disputes, British
merchant cruiser HMS Bermuda Queen destroyed the above-mentioned 01l fuel
installations and coal stocks on Deception Island to deny their use to enemy
raiders” in 1941. Ibid. There was about 7.000 tons of fuel oil in the abandoned
station, which was out of use since 1932. Deception Island, South Shetland Islands:
possible use by German raiders and Japanese submarines; Anglo—Argentine
disputes over sovereignity of Antarctic regions. The National Archives, London
(TNA) ADM 116/4662. Secret. M/N.I.D.01660/39 on the outside of the envelope as
well a sin the text. 20th December 39.

45 NAAC A4311, 365/8. 65.

46 Thid. 65-66.

47 Ibid. 66. Of course the replacement of the Argentine emblems was
unacceptable for the Chileans because they also claimed the South Shetland Islands.

48 Tbid.

49 HEADLAND (1989): 308.
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meteorological station [was — Sz. K.] established at Hope Bay [63°S;
56°W, Antarctic Peninsula — Sz. K.]”5° These operations were
organized in order to make the British sovereignty clear over the
questionable regions and also to emphasize the physical presence of
the British Empire in the Antarctic region. And beside them the
above-mentioned observation points (which worked also as radio
stations) were installed in order to locate the German raiders or
submarines in Antarctic waters.5!

Argentina didn’t risk an armed conflict with Great Britain at the
very end of the Second World War. But despite the unsuccessful
attempts during the war to increase its influence in the polar region,
Buenos Aires upheld its claims about Antarctica so much so that
extended its pretension to 74°W (instead of the former 68°W) in
1947.52 Before the signing of the Antarctic Treaty in 1959, the conflict
revolved first of all the around the Deception Island and the Antarctic
peninsula. ,The United Kingdom invited Argentine and Chilean
Governments to submit the dispute about Antarctic sovereignty to
the International court of Justice, 17 December [1947 — Sz. K.]...”53
but both countries rejected the offer. The most serious confrontation
happened at Hope Bay in 1952 while members of the Argentine
meteorological station Esperanza ,opened fire with machine guns
over a Falklans Islands Dependencies Survey Party”™+ As we
mentioned above, the Antarctic Treaty didn’t solve the problem, but
partially reduced the intensity of the conflict about the overlapping
claims of the three countries. But the antagonism — which increased
still more after the Falkland War in 1982 — between Argentina and
Great Britain is so deep that a peaceful solution and a truthful
arrangement is practically unimaginable in this question.

50 Tbid.

5t RIFFENBURGH (2007): 124.

52 HEADLAND (1989): 315.

53 Tbid.

54 Tbid. 338. After this action, Sir Geoffrey Miles Clifford, Governor of the
Falkland Islands and their Dependencies personally visited the stations to
investigate the circumstances of the attack in 1952. Ibid.
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Boer Communities and the British Colonial Policy, 1846-1881.
Differences between the Boer Republics from the Aspect of
the British Colonial Policy*

Abstract

The political, economic and above all ethnical heterogeneity had crucial
impact on the history of Southern Africa. Although vital tensions existed
between the three main ethnical blocks (Africans, Boers, British), essential
conflicts emerged between the subgroups. Especially the relation of the
different Boer communities and republics (Orange Free State, South African
Republic) was hectic. Despite the fact that Boers had same origin, spoke the
same language, shared common traditions and followed similar religious
views, in the field of politics and denominational issues, serious differences
rose chiefly between the Orange Free State and the South African Republic.
This diversity among the Boers influenced Great Britain’s South African
colonial policy as well as the Colonial Office attempted to take advantage of
the said circumstances.

Keywords: Boer republics, Orange Free State, South African Republic,
Sir George Grey, 34 Earl Grey, 4t Earl Of Carnarvon, Colonial Office,
constitution, Volksraad, Cape Colony

half of the 19t century which is among the most important

periods in the history of the subcontinent. Key events, for
instance the emergence of the Boer republics, or the mineral
revolution (discovery of the enormous diamond fields in Griqualand
West and the gold layers in the Transvaal), then the South African
war (1899—1902) inevitably shaped the face of the subcontinent.
South Africa during almost the entire 19* century was from cultural,
ethnical, economic and above all political aspects divided. The
territory of the subcontinent was controlled mainly by three political
groups: Great Britain, Boer settler communities and numerous
African polities. Relation between these political/ethnical groups as
well as the high degree of diversity and the conflicts it resulted had
the most essential impact on the history of Southern Africa.
Moreover, the importance of Great Britain’s colonial policy (as the
fourth factor in that order), which was elaborated mainly in the
Colonial Office, London but it was executed in the colonies by British

S outhern Africa witnessed crucial changes during the second

1 The research was supported by the Ministry of Human Capacities, Human
Capacities Grant Management Office and financed by the National Talent Program
NTP-EFO-P-15 grant.
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colonial officers (men on the spot), is inevitable as well.

Further distinctions can be easily carried out within the borders of
the said columns. For instance the British colonies (Cape Colony,
Natal, British Kaffraria, Griqualand West) differed from each other in
the field of their political/governmental status, structure of economy
etc. The situation was the same in case of the Boers and the
independent and semi-independent African communities.
Concerning the Boers, the Great Trek was the first borderline which
disunited the Dutch speaking part of the European society of
Southern Africa. About ten thousand of Boers (the trekkers,
trekboers or Voortrekkers) left Cape Colony between 1836—1854 in
order to find a new country independent from the British control.2
Although, that meant a serious migration and a great challenge for
the leaders of the British colonial policy, the bulk of the Dutch
speaking society of Southern Africa remained in Cape Colony, in
Western Cape exactly. The annexation of the Voortrekkers’ territories
(Republic of Natalia, Orange River Sovereignty) was the first British
response for the Great Trek. Natal became a British colony, but the
mother country abandoned the Sovereignty and guaranteed the
independence of the Voortrekker communities beyond the Vaal River
by the Sand River Convention (1852)3 and the Orange Free State by
the Bloemfontein Convention (1854).4 Although it seems that these
facts, namely the annexation determined evidently the Anglo-Boer
political relations, but the relationship between Great Britain and the
Boer communities in the second half of the 19th century can’t be
described as a fierce hostility.

One of the main characteristic elements of the British colonial
policy was the intention to unite the divided subcontinent under the
union jack and form these fragments into a modern, unified, self-
governing, whites, but particularly British-dominated South African
dominion which would be loyal to the mother country. Great Britain
attempted to realize that scheme three times between 1850-1881.
Although, all of these plans failed, in my opinion, this factor was one
of those which inevitably influenced the Anglo-Boer relations. The
attitude of the Boers towards the British conceptions was not
evidently and always critical and negative.

2 HAMILTON, Carolyn — MBENGA, Bernard K. — ROSS, Robert (eds.): The
Cambridge History of South Africa I. From Early Times to 1885, Cambridge
University Press, Cambridge, 2010. 287. 314-318.

3 The Sand River Convention, NA (The National Archives) CO 879/18 N° 237.

4 The Bloemfontein Convention, in EYBERS, G. W. (ed.): Select Constitutional
Documents Illustrating South African History, 1795—-1910, George Routledge &
Sons, London, 1918. 281-285.
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Hypothesis of the present article is that the hostility is far not the
only factor by which the Anglo-Boer relations can be characterized.
From that point of view the British colonial policy attempted to
exploit the differences and conflicts between the South African
Republic and the Orange Free State and obstacle the union of the
Dutch speaking communities of South Africa because it would
jeopardize the British interests in the subcontinent. The Boer
communities were far from being homogenous and unified. The
Boers were divided not just in the field of politics and economy, but
from cultural and some ways religious aspects (liberal — conservative
Calvinists) as well. Furthermore, Great Britain’s South African
colonial policy can be characterized as the relation of tendencies and
changes. These trends shaped the Anglo-Boer relations, moreover the
relationship of the said two groups affected the direction of the
British colonial policy, thus the tendencies as well.

Present article focuses on the characteristic, direction and changes
of the Anglo-Boer relations with a special emphasis on the political
and cultural aspects regarding four decades of the second half of the
nineteenth century. The examined period is marked by the
milestones of the British unification policy, strategy. The first plan
for the united subcontinent was elaborated in 1850 by Earl Grey who
was Secretary of State for War and the Colonies (1846-1852) under
the premiership of John Russell. 1881 was the year of the downfall of
the first official British attempt made for the unification. The present
article aims to offer answers for the following issues: What were the
main differences between the Boer communities (then republics)?
How did the Great Britain colonial policy influence the relationship
between the said Boer republics? How did the Boer republics treat
the presence of Great Britain: as a ,careful” mother country or a
dangerous great power?

Regarding the historiography of the topic it is necessary to
highlight a trend. The historians during the last few decades turned
their attention from the classic imperial history to the impact of the
mineral revolution (discovery of the diamond and gold fields) on the
social and political relations and improvement of the South Africa. If
one compare the books of Cornelis de Kiewiet (written in the first
half of the 20t century) like the The Imperial Factor in South Africa.
A Study in Politics and Economicss or British Colonial Policy and the
South African Republics, 1848-1872° with the recent studies and

5 DE KIEWIET, C. W.: The Imperial Factor in South Africa. A Study in Politics
and Economics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1937.
6 DE KIEWIET, C. W.: British Colonial Policy and the South African Republics,
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materials of Norman A Etherington such as Labour Supply and the
Genesis of South African Confederation in the 1870s” the difference
is easy to note. The Cambridge History of South Africa I-II®
published in 2010 and 2011 belong to the later approach. Most of the
monographies and articles tend to emphasize the importance of one
factor (mineral revolution or strategic importance of the Cape of
Good Hope) over the others. Opposite to them, one can argue that all
of the elements, the complexity of the reasons and factors could have
impact on the British colonial policy.

The examined sources can be divided into different categories, for
instance there are official, non-official documents (such as the
constitutions of the Boer republics — it is necessary to emphasize the
importance of the official documents collected by G. W. Eybers),
parliamentary papers, the Hansard’s Parliamentary Debates,
contemporary press and pamphlets. Furthermore it is important to
highlight the correspondence between the leaders of the Colonial
office and the men on the spot the British Governors, Lieutenant-
Governors and High Commissioners in Southern Africa.

The main element of the core hypothesis of the research is that
Great Britain’s South African colonial policy during the second half of
the nineteenth century can be described through the relations of
different tendencies and changes. One can ask that what kind of
tendencies could exist. At the present state of the research few of
these historical processes have been already identified. At first
according to the hypothesis Great Britain’s South African colonial
policy was enormously influenced by several phobias. One can find
that quite odd or strange especially regarding that Great Britain was
the super and world power of the second half of the nineteenth
century, but by examining the official correspondence and
despatches of the leaders of the Colonial Office different fears and
phobias can be easily found. The anxieties similar to the tendencies
can be traced back to three factors. The first was the fact that the
Africans overwhelmed the Europeans in numbers. Moreover, the
settler population of Southern Africa was heterogeneous and the
Boers outnumbered the English speaking communities. At last but
not at least, the strategic importance of the Cape of Good Hope
inevitable influenced the direction of the British colonial policy. For

1848-1872. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1929.

7 ETHERINGTON, Norman A.: Labour Supply and the Genesis of South African
Confederation in the 1870s. The Journal of African History 20. N° 2. (1970),
235—-253.

8 HAMILTON — MBENGA — ROSS: op. cit.
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Britain the most problematic of them was the native alert. Namely
the British officials were afraid of the probable unity of native tribes
and they believed that a general anti-British and anti-European
native revolt and war would mean the end of the British and
European presence in Southern Africa.9 This was the most
characteristic and crucial one among the listed elements. Besides of
the native confederation the Colonial Office feared from the unity of
the Boers as well, namely that the different so called Dutch speaking
communities would unite in one Boer state and that could be a real
threat for the British colonies. Furthermore especially some officials
of the Colonial Office found possible some kind of Americanization of
South Africa and the British Colonies. Moreover there were fears
which derived from internal factors, such as Russo-phobia. For
instance in case of the wars with the Xhosas and the Zulus, the
Colonial Office found the Russian intervention possible. The Russian
invasion chiefly during the Russo-Turkish War (1877-1878) was
considered as a real possibility by the leaders of the British Colonial
policy.*> Carnarvon, who paid much attention to these threats, was
afraid of that the Russians would take advantage of the tension
between the Africans and the British. Thus he kept alarming and
attempted to convince Prime Minister Disraeli about the necessity of
improving the defence of Cape Colony and Simon’s Bay.!* He believed
that the control over the Cape of Good Hope was the cornerstone of
the architect of the British Empire and its defence system. The loss of
that territory would result the demolish Britain’s status in Southern
Africa as the paramount power in the region, but would cause the end
of Great Britain’s position in the world politics as well.:2

Furthermore, especially from the 1880s, during the years of the
scramble for Africa, the British colonial political elite were afraid of
the colonial plans of other European powers like Germany.:3 At last
but not at least the bulk of the British Governments in the examined
period treated the South African colonial politics mainly from one

9 Sir George Grey to Sir George Grey. Bart., 30 Dec. 1854. In HCPP 1854-1855
[1969], 36. 39. Hansard, 3™ Ser., CCXXXIII, col. 1647-1648. Carnarvon in Lords, 23
Apr. 1877.

10 Sir Bertle Frere to Lord Carnarvon, 11 Jun. 1877. NA PRO 30/6/33, 167.

1 GOODFELLOW, C. F.: Great Britain and South African Confederation,
1870-1881, Oxford University Press, Cape Town, 1966. 137-138.

12 Hansard, 3" Ser., CCXCIII, col. 1538. Carnarvon in Lords, 13 Nov. 1884.
CLARKE, Sir George Sydenham (ed.): The Defence of the Empire, John Murray,
London, 1897. 114. 119.

13 Notes on Travels, South Africa & Australia, 1887-8. Carnarvon Papers, BL
Add. 60809, 11-12.
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aspect: money. Namely they, especially the liberals, like William
Ewart Gladstone attempted to reduce as low as possible the colonial
expenditures.4

These fears especially the first and the second one (native- and
Boer-phobia) can be traced back to fact that Southern Africa during
the entire long nineteenth century was ethnically, economically,
culturally, socially and above all politically divided. The European
population was highly outnumbered by the natives and among the
Europeans the Dutch and not the British element dominated. Thus
although Britain was the paramount power in that region, the
position of the British, especially from ethnical aspects was far from
being solid.

What did the British colonial policy do in order to neutralize these
sources of problems? According to my research two main strategies
were implemented by the Colonial Office (and these belong to
another level of tendencies):

1, Reluctance and Abandonment

The abandonment of the territories controlled by the British was
preferred mainly by some of the economic minded politicians who
could not find profitable and even justifiable the maintenance of the
British colonial administration in Southern Africa. They argued that
the high costs of the maintenance of the British troops in South
Africa should not be such a heavy burden on the shoulders of the
British taxpayers. From their point of view the population of Cape
Colony was mature and prosperous enough to take over the financing
of the mentioned military expenditures. Furthermore, according to
their opinion, Cape should organize the defence of its own borders.
The voice of these critics just became more harsh in Britain during
the second half of the 1860s, when year by year Cape got closer to the
attain the self-governing status. Some of these politicians would
reduce the imperial presence only for the naval base in Simon’s Bay
through Britain could control the Cape of Good Hope which was
extremely crucial from an imperial point of view regardless for the
fact the British Government was liberal or conservative.'s Three

14 GALBRAITH, John S.: Reluctant Empire: British Policy on the South African
Frontier 1834-1854, Greenwood Press, Westport, 1978. 5.

15 The history of the idea of the abandonment can be easily traced back to the first
decade of the 19t century. Even just four years after the Congress of Vienna, where
the British ownership of Cape Colony was confirmed, critical opinions already
appeared in the Imperial Parliament. On 10% June 1819 a Scottish radical
representative, Joseph Hume according to the issue of the ,,Colonial Establishments”
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significant milestones, peaks of the tendency of the abandonment can
be defined. In a chronological order to the first one belong the Sand
River Convention (1852) and the Bloemfontein Convention (1854),
by which Great Britain abandoned the annexation of the Orange
River Sovereignty as well as declared the entire freedom and
independence of the ,emigrant farmers beyond the Vaal River™®,
which became the Transvaal, and the ,Orange River Territory”,
which became Orange Free State, from Great Britain. The late 1860s,
when the Colonial Office made serious attempts to reduce the South
African imperial responsibilities meant the second important
milestone. The third one was the Pretoria Convention (1881)8, in
which Great Britain after four years of British rule restored the
almost entire independence of the Transvaal.

2, South African Unity

To the second belong the schemes and plans for the South African
unity. The British intended three times between 1846 and 1881 to
unite the British colonies and the Boer communities, later republics
in a unified South African state (confederation or union) which
would be loyal to Britain. In line with the British conceptions this
would solve several acute problems, such as the native and the Boer
questions. The first plan was elaborated during the Secretaryship of
State the 34 Earl Grey, the second one belong to Sir George Grey who

proposed the reduction of the imperial military expenditures in case of ,the newly
acquired colonies of Ceylon, the Mauritius, the Cape of Good Hope, Malta”
(Hansard, XL, col. 1077. Hume in Commons, 10 Jun. 1819.). Three and four years
later Hume attempted again to draw the representatives’ attention to this question
again: ,In a time like this, every shilling that could be saved ought to be saved. Why
should individuals in this country be called on to pay for the garrisons of Canada
or the Cape of Good Hope, any more than for the troops employed in Jamaica?”
(Hansard, XIV, col. 1127. Hume in Commons, 6 Mar. 1826.) He was supported by
another radical MP, Sir Robert Wilson. Sir Robert with reference to his former visit
in Cape, suggested to the honourable members of the parliament that Britain should
slevy sufficient in the colony, for the maintenance of the garrison, [...J, without
calling for a shilling from the mother country”, just as the former possessors of
Cape, the Dutch had done before. (Hansard, XIV, col. 1127. Wilson in Commons, 6
Mar. 1826.) The primary elements of the later rhetoric and arguments in favour of
the reducing the imperial responsibilities were akin to the opinion of Hume and
Wilson.

16 Sand River Convention, in George von Welfling Eybers, Select Constitutional
Documents Illustrating South African History 1795-1910, London, 1918. 358.

17 Bloemfontein Convention, in ibid., 282.

18 Convention for the Settlement of the Transvaal Territory (Pretoria
Convention), 1881. HCPP [C. 2998], 3.
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was Governor of Cape Colony and High Commissioner between
1854-1861 and the last one in that order was the plan of Lord
Carnarvon (1877-1881).

Earl Grey created three federal schemes in order to deal with
difficulties occurred in Southern Africa. In a chronological order, the
first one proposed to merge the African communities of the Lake
Ngami into a confederation. The African confederation would stop
the trek of the Boers, moreover the scheme according to Earl Grey’s
argument, through the free trade and the missionaries would be the
best mean of civilizing the Africans. Two of the plans aimed to unite
Cape Colony, Natal, British Kaffraria and the Boer settler
communities located between the Oranje and the Vaal rivers.2c These
plans were never realized, mainly because Earl Grey could not gather
enough supporters among the leaders of the colonial policy.

The second milestone was the Governorship of Sir George Grey
(1854-1859, 1860-1861). Grey as Governor of Cape Colony worked
out several plans for the sake of solving acute and actual problems of
the subcontinent. Grey’s conception focused on the federal union of
Cape Colony, Natal, British Kaffraria and Orange Free State. The
whole scheme was induced in the summer of 1858 by the political
elite of the said Boer state which was threatened by the probable
invasion of the Africans.2! That inspired and encouraged Grey in the
attempts he made for convincing Sir Edward Bulwer-Lytton the
Secretary of State for the Colonies (1858-1859) about the inevitable
implementation of the plan. Although initially the plan met with the
ideas and conception of Bulwer-Lytton, the Governor started to
negotiate with the Government of the Orange Free State and did not
wait for the confirmation and instructions of the Imperial
Government, which caused the fall of his scheme. Nevertheless, Sir
George Grey’s activity is reviewed and examined in a later part of the
present article.

Opposite to Earl Grey and Sir George Grey, Henry Howard
Molineux, the Fourth Earl of Carnarvon had a chance to realize his
own grand design about the unification of the divided subcontinent.
As Secretary of State for the Colonies (1874-1878) Carnarvon turned
his scheme to the main direction of the British colonial policy
regarding to Southern Africa. At the centre of the scheme stood the
unification of the South African Republic and the territories stood

19 Earl Grey to Sir H. G. Smith, 12 Nov. 1850. In HCPP [1360], 94.

20 WARD, John: The Third Earl Grey and Federalism, 1846-1852. The
Australian Journal of Politics and History 3. N° 1. (1957), 28-29.

21 Sir G. Grey to Lord Stanley, 5 Jul. 1858. In HCPP 1860 (216), 1.
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under British control (Cape Colony, Natal, Griqualand West). The
Colonial office took serious steps to create the South African Union.
The most significant moment in that process was the annexation of
the Transvaal in 1877.22 In that case the resistance of Cape Colony as
the most developed British colony and the resurrection of the Boers
in the Transvaal resulted the end of Carnarvon’s system.

Regarding the limits of the present article there is no space to
review all the said tendencies, phobias, thus two issues were chosen
which are worth to show in their details. The first is concerned with the
differences between the Boer republics especially from political
aspects. Besides the mentioned tendencies the leaders of the British
colonial policy attempted to treat the listed threats in other ways as
well. For instance they reflected for the differences and conflicts
between the different Boer communities — and this is explained
through the colonial administration of Sir George Grey in South Africa.

Differences between the Boer Republics

It is not so difficult to see and treat the Dutch speaking part of the
European population of South Africa as homogeneous and united
community. Some books and mainly British historians tended to
share this belief and suggested that the three groups, the Bantus,
Boers and Britons as homogeneous blocks which are mainly isolated
from each other.2s Furthermore the relationship between these
groups was characterized by conflicts. That happened with the Anglo-
Boer relations as well. From that aspect it is worth to highlight that
while the Anglo-Boer conflicts were always emphasized, the Boer-
Boer clashes were in many ways neglected.

One can say that the relationship between the Boer settler
communities located from Capetown to Zoutpansberg must be
cordial because these groups belonged together from many aspects.
They had a same origin, family relations bounded together the trek-
Boers and those who stayed in Cape Colony after the Great Trek. The
Boer people spoke the same language and had same religious views,
namely they followed the principles of Calvinism. Moreover the legal
system (Dutch-Roman law — Rooms-Hollands recht) and the political
structure of the Boer republics showed a high level of similarity. So
the former approaches emphasized these connections. Although it is

22 SCHREUDER, D. M.: The Scramble for Southern Africa, 1877-1895,
Cambridge University Press, New York, 2009. 13.

23 MACMILLAN, William M.: Bantu, Boer, and Briton: The Making of the South
African Native Problem, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1963.
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not so difficult to find the said similarities, but in case of a non-
superficial examination the differences appear as well and after that
the most of the listed elements can be easily refuted. For instance
although the trekkers left relatives in Cape Colony after the Great
Trek, in the field of politics it meant a real advantage only for a very
few times. Despite the fact that the written language of the Boers,
especially in official matters was Dutch, during the second half of the
nineteenth century the language spoken by the descendants of the
voortrekkers started to alter from the Cape Dutch. In case of religion
that’s true that all of the Boers were Calvinist, but there were two
sources of conflicts which were caused by religious matters: in the
field of churches, and the conservative and liberal approaches of
Calvinism.

Both of these bunches of problems caused not only religious but
political conflicts as well. There are several examples for these issues.
The voortrekkers lived beyond the Vaal river desired to have an own
church which would be independent from the Cape Synod, but the
inhabitants of Lijdenburg wanted else. They kept the connection with
the Cape Synod alive. Because of the denominational conflict the
Court of the Transvaal accused and found guilty eight members of the
Volksraad from Lijdenburg for violation of the constitution.
Following this the representatives for Lijdenburg left the Volksraad.
This led in 1856 to the secession of the said eastern province which
became the Lijdenburg Republic with own and independent
government and Volksraad.24 It took four years for the political
leaders of the Transvaal to restore through tough negotiations the
territorial integrity of the South African Republic. The document
which set the framework of the reunification was assigned on 24t
November 1894 aimed to settle the problematic issues between the
republics, with a special emphasis on the denominational conflicts:
»~The Dutch Reformed Conregation at Lijdenburg shall never be
forced to assimilate its form of church government to that of any
other congregation.”5

The election and the campaign of 1871 in the South African
Republic offer the best example for the influence of the difference
between the conservative and liberal interpretations of the Calvinism.
Transvaal could not have had more different two presidential
candidates. Commandant General Paul Kruger was an excellent
marksman and military leader but he was uneducated and learned

24 The political elite seated in Pretoria grasped the opportunity and the Volksraad
of the Transvaal accepted a new constitution which came into force in 1858.
25 Resouliton of the Volksraad, Sep. 1858, in EYBERS: 425.
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reading from the Bible. According some narratives Kruger believed
till the end of his life that the Earth is flat. Opposite to him, the other
presidential candidate, Thomas Francois Burgers was a highly
educated Calvinist minister who graduated at the University of
Utrecht in Netherlands. During the theological studies he became
familiar with the liberal and modern religious views of Professor
Cornelis Willem Opzoomer. Opzoomer was rationalist and denied the
literally truce of the Bible. Thus Burgers after the election as a
president supported the liberal wing of the Calvinists opposite to the
conservative Nederduitsch-Hervormde Kerk. Kruger was in a totally
different standpoint. He was extremely conservative and belonged to
the dopper wing of the Transvaaler Calvinists. He found Burger’s
views absolutely unacceptable and dangerous for the future of the
Transvaal. As he said to the freshly elected Burgers: ,,Your Honor, I
have done my best to prevent your election, principally, because of
your religious views, which appear to me to be mistaken. But as you
have now been elected by the majority, I submit as a good
republican to this vote of the people, trusting that you are a more
earnest believer than I thought, in which case I congratulate you
with all my heart.”2® According to the quoted lines the political
opposition criticized heavily Burgers’ liberal point of view. 27

That kind of difference between the qualities and background of
the political leaders of the Boers, especially their education occurred
in case of comparison of the political elite of the Orange Free State
and the South African Republic as well. While the politicians,
presidents of the Free State were more educated (studied in Cape
Colony or even in Europe, like Sir Johannes Henricus Brand), the
Transvaalers were mostly (except Burgers) farmers.

Both of these states gathered their freedom from the British by
conventions. The Transvaal became free in 1852 by the Sand River
Convention, the Orange Free State two years later in 1854 by the
Bloemfontein Convention. While in the Free State the centralization
of the state and the elaboration of the political system of the country
went quite smooth and quick, in the Transvaal the government in
Pretoria had to make enormous efforts to save the territorial integrity
of the South African Republic and hold together the provinces. This
resulted an acute problem in the Transvaal, a long lasting conflict
between the central power, the government and the local, provincial

26 KRUGER, Paul: The Memoirs of Paul Kruger, The Century Co., New York,

1902. 73.
27 ENGELBRECHT, S. P.: Thomas Francois Burgers, H.A.U.M. v/h J. DUSSEU
& Co., Cape Town, 1946.
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or regional political elite. Thus while the Constitution of the Orange
Free State came into force only three weeks after the signal of the
Bloemfontein Convention, the Grondwet of the South African
Republic was established in 1858 four years after assent of the Sand
River Convention. These differences can be identified in the
constitutions of the said Boer states as well. That is why it is
important to compare the constitutions because these texts reflect
well the state, position, aims and conditions of the Boer republics.

Constitutions

Although both the Transvaalers and the politicians of the Free
State took few important principles from the Constitution of the
United States of America28, several differences can be found between
the constitutions, grondwets of the Boer states. Not only the structure
and the langue of the two constitutions but their content differ from
each other. The Grondwet of the Transvaal is much longer and more
narrative (for example it includes the presidential and the electoral
oaths) than the Constitution of the Orange Free State. The language
of the constitution of the South African Republic is more democratic,
it operates many times with the form: ,,The people desire to” or ,,They
shall’, while the Grondwet of the Orange Free State operates with
short sentences and its language more official. I find important to
highlight one element, namely the religious provisions of the two
constitutions.

The Constitution of the Orange Free State has only one religious
provision, the Article XXIV.: ,The Dutch Reformed Church [De
Nederduitsch Gereformeerde Kerk] shall be promoted and
supported by the Volksraad.”»® Opposite to it, the Grondwet of the
South African Republic is totally different. The Constitution of the
South African Republic refers for different kind of denominational
matters fifteen times. For instance the document has a chapter About
the Protection and Defence of Church and State.3° According to the
Grondwet only the members of the Dutch Reformed Church could
bear any kind of office, could be the members of the Volksraad,
President or a Veldcornet. Moreover, only the state church, the Dutch
Reformed Church was accepted, and the presence of other Christian
congregations was not permitted in the Transvaal: ,, They [the people]
prefer to allow no Roman Catholic Churches among them, nor any

28 GOODFELLOW: 8.
29 Constitution of the Orange Free State, in EYBERS: 291.
30 The Grondwet of the South African Republic, in EYBERS: 366.
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other Protestant Churches than those in which the same tenets of the
Christian belief are taught, as contained in the Heidelberg
Catechism.”s* That motive refers to the denominational conflicts of
the Transvaal, such as the secession of Lijdenburg and the activity of
European missionaries in the region.

What could be the reason of these differences between these texts?
First of all it is necessary and worth to approach the whole issue from
one aspect, namely that the constitutions always reflect for the given,
actual political and some ways the cultural state of a nation, a country.
Opposite to the Orange Free State, the South African Republic in 1858
was less organized and less centralized country than the Free State.
The government seated in Pretoria had slight influence in some of the
provinces, especially in the 1850s and the 1860s. This kind of limited
jurisdiction, the separatism which was popular in few provinces and
which was connected to a congregational tension could induce the
authors and elaborators of the grondwet to make such strict
limitations concerning the religion and terms of office. The central
political elite of the Transvaal desired to bind the provinces to the
government and save the integrity of the republic.

Apart from the denominational issues and the term of office, there
are other differences between the grondwets of the said Boer states.
In the Transvaal all the burghers3? reached the age 21 possessed the
right to vote, while in case of the Orange Free State he burgers above
age 18 shall be entitled to possess the franchise.

Furthermore, the Grondwet of the South African Republic has
serious regulations among the first provisions regarding the limit of
the size of the immovable properties, farms: ,The lands or farms

3t Ibid, 366.

32 Only whites had the right to possess the burghership in both of the republics.
In case of the Orange Free State the constitution dealt with that issue:

»The Burghers of the Orange Free State shall be:

1. All white persons born in the State;

2. All white persons who have resided in the State for one year and have
immovable property registered in their names to the value of at least 2000 Rds.”
(In Constitution of the Orange Free State, in EYBERS: 286.) In case of the Transvaal
the Resolution of the Volksraad of 18t June 1855 defined that “no strangers, who
come to reside in this country and who were not to born in Africa, shall enjoy the
franchise as a burgher of the Republic or be recognised as entitled to fill any public
office in the State, without having first purchased their rights of burghership,
which rights of burghership shall have to be bought for two hundred Cape Rix-
dollars (Rds. 200). And no person who is not recognised as a burgher shall have the
right to possess immovable property.” Through te quoted Resolution, the Volksraad
excluded all the coloured people from the burghership: ,/...] they may never be
given or granted rights of burghership.” (In Resolution of the Volksraad, 18 Jun.
1855, in EYBERS: 362.)
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situated within this territory which have not yet been given out are
declared to be the property of State, but are none the less obtainable
as heretofore by the public. No farm inspected for that purpose shall
be larger than 3000 morgen. And no one shall be entitled to apply for
or to obtain lands until he has reached the age of sixteen.”3 A great
land hunger emerged in the Transvaal because of the traditional
inheritance and economic system34 stood at the background of the
strict control over the properties and farms. Such a provision cannot
be found in the Constitution of the Orange Free State.

Sir George Grey

One can ask that what the British colonial administration did with
this situation. The British followed the events took place in the Boer
republics and they were interested in the Boer-Boer relations and the
British colonial policy reflected for the given situation and many
times took advantage of the difference between the Boer
communities.

The way how the British colonial policy treated the Boers changed
several times. In the late 1840s and the early 1850s the Colonial
Office as well as the Governor of Cape Colony, Sir Harry Smith found
unacceptable the Great Trek and made numerous attempts to follow
the trekkers and keep them under British control. First of all the
British were afraid of that the trek would result wars with the
Africans which inevitably would have bad impact on the colonies and
the British-African relations. Furthermore, Earl Grey was convinced
that the Boers could cause unpredictable damage for the Africans and
even exterminate them. Thus, the effective defence against the trek of
the Boers seemed to be one of the most advantageous point of the
scheme he created for the confederation of the Africans around the
Lake Ngami: ,I am persuaded that this is the only policy by which
there is any prospect of accomplishing that object, and that the
spreading of the Boers over the continent, and their oppression and
extermination of the native races, can never be successfully
contended against by endeavouring to follow them from the Cape as
far as they may think fit to go, and to extend British authority over
these vast regions.”ss

33 The Grondwet of the South African Republic, in EYBERS: 364.

34 According to the Boer traditions, a young man entering to adult age were
expected to get married and move to his own farm.

35 (Earl Grey to Sir H. G. Smith, 12 Nov. 1850. In HCPP [1360], 93.) Sir Harry
Smith shared same views with Earl Grey about the Boers: ,, These Boers being those
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Opposite to Earl Grey, Sir George Grey and Carnarvon attempted to
create a partnership and have a cordial relation with the Boers. The
main reason was that they believed in that only the confederation of the
Boers and the British could prevent Southern Africa from the probable
outbreak of a great war between the Europeans and the Africans.

The governorship of Sir George Grey (1854-1861) offers the best
example through the whole issue can be proved and explained. Sir
George Grey was from many aspects the first modern governor in
Southern Africa. He was deeply interested in the culture, traditions,
folklore and everyday life of those who lived under his governance.
Sir George Grey was the first among the British governors in this
region who learned the Xhosa language.3® Grey travelled a lot and
visited many times the African communities and attempted to keep a
personal contact with some of the chiefs, like Sandilli.3” The other
main characteristic of Grey’s colonial policy that he elaborated
grandiose schemes which were designed to solve the acute and actual
problems of South Africa, like the relations between the Europeans
and the natives or the conflicts between the British and the Boers or
the separatism of Eastern Cape.

One of these plans aimed the unification of British colonies (Cape
Colony, Natal, and British Kaffraria) and the Orange Free State. The
colonies and the Boer republic would form a federal union with
common federal government and legislation, but the independence of
the local governmental and other institutions, like the Volksraad
would be preserved.

As he saw the Boers: ,Although these European countries lying
behind our Colonies are treated as separate nations, their inhabitants
bear the same family names as the inhabitants of this Colony, and
maintain with them ties of the closest intimacy and relationship. They
speak, generally, the same language, not English, but Dutch. They are,
for the most part, of the same religion, belonging to the Dutch
Reformed Church. They have the same laws, the Roman Dutch. They
have the same sympathies, the same prejudices, the same habits, and

who have fled from the pale of civilization, and are the most violent, are so much in
the habit of moving from place to place that the expedition would cost them little
trouble, and they are so determinedly averse to British rule, that they will gladly
avail themselves of any opportunity of removing further from the country under Her
Majesty’s sovereignty. They are turbulent and restless people, and cannot fail to be
the enemies of civilization in the interior, especially if its approach from the side of the
colony.” (In In Sir H. G. Smith to Earl Grey, 12 Jul. 1850. In HCPP [1360], 29.)

36 Sir George Grey to Sir George Grey. Bart., 14 Feb. 1855. In HCPP 1854-55
[1969], 53.

37 Ibid.
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frequently the same feelings, regarding the native races, although
marked and rapid changes in public opinion, in relation to this subject,
are taking place, as also in reference to the increasing use of English
language and the adoption of English customs.”s8

Although he speaks about European countries in the quoted lines,
the Orange Free State had a key role in Sir George Grey plans. One
can ask why and why not the South African Republic? First of all, the
leaders and the Volksraad of the Boer republic took the first step
when they expressed their desire to join Cape Colony in the late
spring of 1858. The reason was that the political elite of the Free
State feared from the attack of Moshesh and the Sothos. They
believed that the Free State would not survive a war with the Sothos
and this case only under the protecting wings of a union with Cape
Colony could mean a real defence. The language of the said letter
which was in some aspects flattering proves this attitude: It is,
therefore, our earnest opinion, that unless this country called
Orange Free State is allied in federal union with our parent Colony,
it never will enjoy the blessings of peace and prosperity.”™9 It is
worth to note that the petitioners called Cape as a parent Colony.

Then Sir George Grey’s choice could be influenced by
geographical, geopolitical considerations. Without the Orange Free
State the successful unification of Cape, British Kaffraria and Natal
was impractical.

Opposite to the Free State the administration and the civil service
were less improved in the Transvaal. The South African Republic had
to face with serious domestic problems such as the separatist
movement. In comparison with the Free State the Transvaal seemed
to Grey a less organized country whose borders was not fixed — these
factors made for him the country not ripe enough for being part of
the planned union. Anyway he did not exclude the possibility of
taking the South African Republic to the federal unity — Grey only did
not find it practical in that situation.

Grey showed sympathy towards the Free State not in the field of
political theory but in the practice as well. He paid visits in the
Orange Free State several times. Furthermore, when Prince Albert,
son of Queen Victoria travelled to South Africa (the first member of
the royal family who ever visited the region) Grey who organized
the whole journey accompanied the Prince. Moreover Grey founded
a college in the capitol of the Free State, the Bloemfontein College
whose name was later altered for Grey College. The Grey College

38 Sir George Grey to Sir E. B. Lytton, 19 Nov. 1858.In HCPP 1860 (216), 6.
39 Sir G. Grey to Lord Stanley, 5 Jul. 1858. In HCPP 1860 (216), 1.
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still exists.4° So this sympathy was mutual.

There were symbolical elements of Sir George Grey’s efforts to
bring the colonies emotionally closer to the mother country and the
Boers to the British. One of the most significant moments of that
rapprochement was the said visit of Prince Alfred in Southern Africa.
Grey and Prince Alfred paid visit in all the British colonies of the
region and in Orange Free State as well. According to Grey’s
biographer, William Lee Rees, after a hunting nearby the borders of
the Transvaal, Sir George Grey and the Prince found a Boer hut
where they were ,gladly welcomed™ ,They were hospitably
entertained by the occupant of the little dwelling, an old woman,
who cooked some exceedingly greasy pancakes for them. The
Prince’s appetite was not at all spoiled by the fact that the
appointments of the table were rather more primitive than at
Buckingham Palace. In the absence of spoons and forks, he rolled up
his pancake and ate it from his fingers with intense relish, telling Sir
George it was ‘the most delicious pancake’ he had ever tasted. His
companion, less hungry, and accustomed to much longer fasting,
was quietly amused at such high appreciation of the greasy
compound. When, on leaving, the Governor told the kind hostess
who her guest was, the old woman was almost overcome with the
thought that she had been entertaining ‘the son of the Queen”.4*

Moreover, the Boers of the Orange Free State in case of tough
conflicts with the Africans or even with the South African Republic
tended to find shelter under the protecting wings of Great Britain.
The relationship between the republics was extremely strained in
1857, when Marthinus Wessel Pretorius, the President of the South
African Republic (1857-1860, 1864-1866, 1866—1871) went to
Bloemfontein in order to realize his political purpose: unification of
the Boer republics under his presidency. First of all he claimed the
Orange Free State on the ground that it had been granted for his
father, Andries Pretorius, by Queen Victoria. Although it was totally
unfounded, other elements of Pretorius’ strategy warned seriously
Jacobus Nicolaas Boshof, the President of the Orange Free State
(1855-1859). Namely, Pretorius promised that he would negotiate
with Moshesh, chief of the Sothos and forced him to restore the cattle
stolen from the Free State Boers.42 Boshof and his staff were worried
about the possibility that Pretorius supported by the border

40 REES, William Lee: The Life and Times of Sir George Grey, K.C.B. II.,
Hutchinson & Co. London, 1892. 338-340.

41 REES: 318.

42 DE KIEWIET: British Colonial Policy, 108.
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malcontents and Moshesh would have the power to overthrow the
Government in Bloemfontein and eliminate the independence of the
Free State. In order to preserve the separateness of his country
Boshof turned to the British for help. He reminded Sir George Grey
for the fact that the Governor had emphasized the common interests
of the Free State and Cape Colony. Boshof’s stratagem worked, he
had supporters even in the Transvaal as well. Lijdenburgh and
Zoutpansberg aimed to have more autonomy and decrease the power
of Pretoria, thus these provinces assisted Boshof. Although Pretorius
rode with a commando to the Free State and Boshof was ready to
fight, on 2rd June 1857 the treaty of peace was signed and Pretorius
left the Free State.43

Although Grey’s scheme about the federal union of the British
Colonies and the Free State was never realized because the Colonial
Office did not support it, the relationship between the British and the
Boer Republic stayed cordial especially under the long presidency of
Johannes Brand (1864-1888) who was knighted in 1882 and became
Sir Johannes Brand. Facts like the birthday of Queen Victoria was
celebrated in the Free State prove this positive and friendly
relationship.44 The British Colonial policy in many cases saw a
partner in the Free State which influenced the relations between the
Boer republics. Because of the qualities of the political elite of the
Orange Free State, the said geographical matters as well as satisfying
state of the domestic relations had impact on the British intentions
towards the said Boer republic. Apart from these there could be
another political factor: By preferring the Free State the British
interfered to the Boer-Boer relations (implemented the Roman divide
et impera principle) and obstacle the union of the Boer republics
which was among the phobias of Great Britain’s South African
colonial policy.

43 Ibid, 109.
44 DE KIEWIET: The Imperial Factor, 93.
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Doéra Czeferner

From Construction Workers to Tram Conductors.
Female Labour in Hungary during the Great War

Abstract

Before the outbreak of the First World War, the majority of the Austro-
Hungarian public opinion firmly believed, that women were incapable of
filling in certain fields of works. According to them, females were
irresponsible and they could not concentrate for a longer period of time to
serious tasks. This was the reason for the fact that until 1914 the members
of the ,,weaker gender” could not even think about gaining equal rights with
their male counterparts in the field of labour.

The declaration of war and the mobilization of the Central Powers’ troops
completely redrew the picture. Women living within the borders of the Austro-
Hungarian Monarchy did not salute to the war. Neither did the leading
bourgeois feminists associations of the two countries, who had been making
constant efforts for several years to promote the political, economic and social
rights of females. However, they did not inhibit the war preparations, but tried
to solve the more and more serious problems in the home front.

Keywords: First World War, Hungary, Bourgeois Feminist
Associations, Female Labour.

s it possible that I am not completely dull and foolish, not so
unreasonable, and not entirely incapable of doing anything
beneficial? Is it sure that there are other life choices than
marriage in front of me?”* From the beginning of the 19t century, a
long time had to pass until Hungarian women dared to formulate
these questions.2 After the Austro-Hungarian Compromise of 1867, a

1 A N6. Feminista Foly6irat. (The Woman. Feminist Journal) 1916, 5, 71. (Official
organ of the Hungarian Feminists’ Association and the National Association of Female
Clerks between 1914 and 1918. It was published in Budapest. Henceforth: TW.

2 Among the Hungarian theoretical literature in connection with this subject
matter see: Gébor GYANI, A févdrosi munkaerd foglalkoztatottsaganak
szerkezetvaltozasa 1880-1941 kozott (Structural Alternations of the Rate of
Emploment in the Capital City between 1880 and 1941), BFL, Budapest, 1979, 165—
188. Katalin KERI, N&i munkavdllalés (Women’s Wage Earning Activity), IN:
Katalin KERI: Holgyek napernyével. N6k a dualizmus-kori Magyarorszagon.
1867-1914. (Ladies with Parasols. Women in Hungary during the Dualistic Era), Pro
Pannonia Konyvek, Pécs, 2008, 124—145. Katalin KONCZ, N6k a munka vilagaban
(Women in the World of Labour), Kossuth, Budapest, 1982. Katalin KONCZ, N6k és
férfiak — hiedelmek, tények (Women and Men — Beliefs and Facts), Kossuth,
Budapest, 1985. Bedta NAGY, N6k a kavésok és a kavéhazi alkalmazottak kézott
(Women among the Proprietors of Cafés and among the Employees of Cafés),
Budapesti Negyed. Budapest, a kdvévaros (Budapest Quarter) 4, 1996, 12—13.
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dynamic economic and social evolution begun, which especially
accelerated between 1900 and 1914 but in terms of the traditional
female roles as well as in terms of the subordinated situation of
women only minor alternations can be observed for several decades.3
Consequently, the world of labour remained fundamentally a men’s
world until the end of the 19t century. Wage earning activity of the
weaker gender became gradually common from the 1880s.4 The
reason for this is twofold: due to the demographic alternations, which
evolved during the 1850s and accelerated from the 1890s, a
significant surplus of women emerged to the centenary. The lack of
enough prospective husbands resulted that marriage was not a
possible ‘solution’ for every single member of the weaker gender.5
Naturally, those who did not start a family had to work for a living.
For them, the continuously expanding industrial and tertiary sectors
provided an opportunity, but we cannot forget about certain
intellectual and academic professions which opened during the years
preceding the First World War.¢

3 KONCZ, N6k, 1982, 39. Although, it is essential to emphasize that this situation,
namely that lives of women changed very slowly characterised not only Hungary but
the more developed Western European countries, too. Kaari UTRIO, Evas Tochter —
Die weibliche Seite der Geschichte, Rasch und Rohring, Hamburg—Ziirich, 1987.
Gisela BOCK, Frauen in der Europdischen Geschichte. Vom Mittelalter bis zum
Gegenwart, Beck, Miinchen, 2000, 142.

4 Because of the divergent developmental tendencies, a phase delay can be
observed in this respect between Hungary and the western countries. While the
industrial revolution started in Western Europe as early as in the 18t century, the
large-scale industrialization in Hungary begun only during the 1870s. Mariann
NAGY: A nék a magyar gazdasagban a dualizmus koraban (Women in the
Hungarian Economy during the Dualism), IN: Gabor GYANI - Beata NAGY (szerk.):
A nék a modernizalédé magyar tarsadalomban (Women in the modernizing
Hungarian Society), Debrecen, 2006, 205-222.

5 The fact that more and more women were not able to find husbands is often
detailed in the press organs of the feminist associations. For these articles see: A NG
és a Tarsadalom (The Woman and the Society). Official organ of the Hungarian
Feminists’ Association and the National Association of Female Clerks between 1907
and 1913. It was published in Budapest. Henceforth: WS, 1, 1909, 9—11.: In this
article the author argues for the importance of girls’ proper education. She claims
that it is not sure that with a successful marriage women will be able to enjoy the
financial support of their husbands. This topic remained extremely popular after the
outbreak of the war as well. The reason for this is naturally the fact that with the
death of thousands of young man ,marriage prospects of women have deeply
descended”. TW 6, 1916, 88. Tamas FARAGO, Bevezetés a torténeti demografiaba
(Introduction to the Hiscorical Demography), Corvinus, Budapest, 2011, 12-13.

6 Gabor GYANI and Gyorgy KOVER, Magyarorszag tarsadalomtorténete a
reformkortol a masodik vilaghaboriiig (The Social History of Hungary from the
Reform Era until the Second World War), Osiris, Budapest, 2006, 77—78. This
process can be followed with the observation of the female press of the Dualistic Era
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The ratio of female workers in the three different branches of
economy proved to be about 30% in Hungary at the beginning of the
20t century which in general was equivalent with the Western
European proportions. According to the statistics and to the census of
1910, the ratio of wage earning women (above seven years) in
Budapest was 38,5%, while in the provinces it remained lower,
altogether 24,1%.7 The social estimation of these working girls proved
to be rather negative before the outbreak of the Great War. The
majority of the Hungarian public opinion firmly believed that the only
duty of women is to become ,the angels of the house” as the Anglo-
Saxon literary tradition specified this ideal. According to this idea,
women would have had to be loving wives, mothers and careful
housekeepers as well.8 Abusive series of judgements of male — and
sometimes even female — intellectuals, politicians and artists were
shared in the columns of the contemporary periodicals about the
physical and mental capacities (or disabilities) of women. In 1907,
when the majority of the western countries public opinion had already
acknowledged that certain rights should have been expanded to the
weaker gender, a Hungarian member of the Parliament Karoly Kmety
still termed well-educated and working women ,,cosmopolitan female
monsters”.9 This kind of discourse informs us and represents properly
how women were treated within the frames of the Hungarian society in
general as well as in the national jurisdiction and in the legislation.°

In the light of the above mentioned facts, it is obvious, that the
common knowledge of almost the entire Dualistic Era (from 1867 until
1914) showed a rather rejecting attitude towards every initiative in
connection with female emancipation. Consequently, the discourse

as well as with the survey of the Hungarian feminist press which emerged during the
first decade of the 19t and 20t centuries. (In my opinion, the following periodicals
are the most important: Vasdrnapi Ujsdg. (Sunday Journal), 1854-1921, NGk
munkakdére (Women’s Field of Work), 1872, A NG és a Tarsadalom. (The Woman
and the Society), 1907-1913, A NG. Feminista folyoéirat. (The Woman. Feminist
Journal), 1914—1918. These were family journals, female journals as well as papers
published by the specific feminist press.

7 Beata NAGY, NGk keres6tevékenysége Budapesten a 20. szazad elsé felében
(Wage-earning Activity of Women in Budapest during the First Half of the 20th
Century), IN: Miklés HADAS (ed.), Férfiuralom. Irdsok nékrél, férfiakrdl,
feminizmusrél, (Male Dominance. Studies about Women, Men, Feminism), Replika
Kor, Budapest, 1994, 155—175.

8 BOCK (2000), 134—135.

9 WS 2.1907, 1—2.

10 This event had a huge press reaction both in the national and in the local papers.
For the details see: Katalin KERI, Kmety képuisels tir és a néi szérnyetegek. Egy 1907-es
parlamenti felszolalas sajtévisszhangja (Mr. Kmety and the Female Monsters. Press
Reaction of a 1907 Parliamentary Speech), Iskolakulttira 3, 1996, 101-103.
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related to this subject was characterised by several public debates
primarily about the following questions.* Can women step out from
their traditional spheres of action and leave the household chores for
appearing in the public sphere? Why should it be essential to open the
doors of secondary schools and universities in front of younger girls?2
Are females able to do any wage-earning activities outside their homes?
What might be the possible outcomes of their presence in the labour
market? These proposals indicate us that the Hungarian society
remained highly sceptical about the question whether women were
capable (or not) of filling in certain jobs. They were considered to be
irresponsible and incompetent. Women — either alone or within the
frames of females’ associations — had to struggle for a long time for
getting a proper education, professions, social security acts etc. Only the
declaration of war and the mobilization of the Central Powers Troops
during the first days of August of 1914 started to alter this situation.'s

Historiography, Sources and Aims of the Paper

The primary aim of this study is to fill in the large gap in the
Hungarian historiography connected to the history of female labour

1 Anna FABRI, ,A szép tiltott tdj felé.” A magyar iréndék térténete a két
szazadfordulé kozott (1796—1905) (,Towards the Nice but Forbidden Sphere” The
History of Hungarian Female Authors between the Two Centenaries 1795-1905),
Kortars, Budapest, 1996, 141-143. Katalin N. SZEGVARI, Ut a ndk
egyenjogusagahoz (Route towards the Emancipation of Women), Kossuth,
Budapest, 1981, 87—92. These issues were discussed not only in the periodical press.
Funny and sometimes even offensive caricatures and jokes were published; scientific
lectures and series of debates were organized.

12 Women gained the right to pass the school leaving exam in 1896. The decree of
Gyula Wlassics, contemporary minister of public education, about letting women go on to
higher education was accepted in the December of 1895. In Austria, women were allowed
to study at different faculties of universities from 1896, too, which is a considerable phase
delay in comparison with e.g. Switzerland, where women were able to obtain a university
degree as early as from 1871. Elisabeth BERGER, Das Frauenstudium an der Universitcit
Wien im Zeichen des Liberalismus. Cajeten-Felder Institut, Wien, 2007, 8. Agnes
JOBST, A néi szerepek hataratlépésének értelmezése az elsé magyar orvosnérél szolo
narrativakban. Hugonnai Vilma (1847-1922) (Interpretation of the Crossing of Borders
in terms of Female Roles with Special Regard to the Narratives about Vilma Hugonnai,
1847-1922), Multunk, 2, 2008, 19—29.

13 Norman DAVIES, Eurdpa Torténete (The History of Europe), Osiris, Budapest,
2002, 839—843, 864. Judit SZAPOR, A magdanszférabdl a politikai kozéletbe: a néi
politizalas torténete a kezdetektél 1945-ig (From the Private Sphere to the Public
Life: the History of Females’ Engagement in Politics from the Beginnings until 1945.)
IN: Maria PALASIK (ed.), A né és a politikum. A nék politikai szerepvallalasa
Magyarorszagon. (The Woman and the Politics. Political Engagement of Women in
Hungary), Napvilag, Budapest, 2007, 129—145.
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as well as to the history of the Hungarian participation in the First
World War. Unfortunately, historians and social scientists in our
country tend to overlook the fact that women played an essential role
during the war on the home fronts. The direct result of this is that
several comprehensive and extensive works have been published
about the blood-stained battles of the Austro-Hungarian armed
forces fighting on the different frontlines, but the self-sacrificing
work of the weaker gender has been almost entirely neglected yet.
The most important reason for this is undoubtedly the dominance of
those topics which are related to politics and diplomacy in the
Hungarian historiography over certain branches of social history
such as gender history. The other explanation for this is that the
study of women’s history begun in Hungary relatively late, only at the
beginning of the 1980s.15 And there is one more essential aspect of
this subject-matter, namely that among Hungarian scientists, who
deal with gender studies, the history of female labour proved to be a
less popular subject than e.g. the broadening of the institutional
frames of schooling system or the fight for female suffrage. On the
problems related to the wage-earning activity of women during the
First World War, only some short articles and chapters of books have
been published yet.’® On the other hand, there are a few studies
published either in English or in German by Hungarian female
historians eluding to this subject, however the majority of them
concentrates on the consequences of the war and its effect of the
national women’s movements.!”

14 Without the demand of completeness, some books that have been recently
published about the military history of the Great War: Tibor BALLA, A Nagy
Habor1 osztrak-magyar tabornokai (Austrian and Hungarian Generals of the Great
War), Argumentum, Budapest, 2010. Rébert BARTA, Az els6 és a masodik
vilaghaboru képes torténete. (The Illustrated History of the First and the Second
World War), TTK, Debrecen, 2001. Maria ORMOS, Vilaghdboru és forradalmak
1914—-1919 (World War and Revolutions 1914—-1919), Kossuth, Budapest, 2009.

15 This is a large phase delay to the western countries where the appearance of the
Annales School brought along the popularity of the research of these kinds of topics.
Fabrice VIRGILI, L'histoire des femmes et l'histoire des genres aujourd'hui, Revue
d'histoire 3, 2002, 5-14.

16 E. g. the above-mentioned works of Koncz Katalin, however they were
published before the democratic transition in Hungary.

7 E.g.: Judit ACSADY, Diverse Constructions: Feminist and Conservative
Women’s Movements and their Contribution of Gender-Relations in Hungary after
the First World War, IN: Ingrid SHARP and Matthew STIBBE (ed.), Aftermaths of
War. Women’s Movements and Female Activists, 1918—1923, Brill, Leiden, 2011,
307—-332. Katalin SOOS, Bemerkungen zur Geschichte der Frauenbewegung in
Ungarn, IN: Alida Mirella HUELLER and Helmut KONRAD (ed.), Die Frau in der
Arbeiterbewegung 1900-1939. Europaverlag, Wien, 1980. Judit SZAPOR, Who
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My primary aim in this study is to introduce one of the most
essential aspects of women’s field of activity from 1914 until 1918,
namely their wage-earning activity. Besides the social estimation of
women workers, I discuss the roles of Hungarian women during the
four years of war with special attention to the operation and
organization of war economy. I also study the — often rather
divergent — views about female work. Furthermore, I seek answers to
the following questions: how did the ratio of female labourers
increased after 1914? Why is it difficult to talk about exact statistical
data? How did women workers rush into workplaces in the industrial
and in the tertiary sectors? Which intellectual jobs opened for the
members of the ,weaker gender” during these four years?
Additionally, on the bases of case studies, I illustrate the poor
working conditions women labourers had to face with. Closely
connected to this subject, I consider it inevitable to analyse the role of
women’s associations, who took an important part in the
organization of female workers. I emphasise the activity of two
associations in greater details i.e. the Feministdk Egyesiilete
(Hungarian Feminists’ Association) and that of the Nétisztviselok
Orszagos Egyesiilete (National Association of Female Clerks) in
Budapest. As a conclusion, I summarize the transformation of the
Hungarian labour-market and support my propositions with
statistics (where it is possible).

During my research work, I have primarily studied the
contemporary periodical press. I completed the content analysis of
the official organ of the two above mentioned associations titled A
NG6. Feminista folyéirat (The Woman. Feminist Journal) between
1914 and 1918.18 Besides this, I have elaborated certain other journals
that shared news on this topic. In addition to this, I have studied the
official protocols of the Feminists and Female Clerks as well as other
contemporary documents reporting about the activities carried out
by the women who were making great efforts to cope with the
problems in the home front, while men were fighting.

Represents Hungarian Women? The Liberal Bourgeois Women’s Rights Movement
and the Rise of Right-Wing Women’s Movement, IN: Ingrid SHARP and Matthew
STIBBE (ed.), Aftermaths of War. Women’s Movements and Female Activists,
1918-1923. Brill, Leiden, 2011.

18 The Woman was the official journal of the Feminists’ Association and the
National Federation of Female Clerks. It was published in Budapest. In 1914, it
appeared in every two weeks. From 1915, it became a monthly periodical. Its editors
were Paula Pogany and Mrs. Sandor Teleki. Its editor in chief was Rosika
Schwimmer. TW 1, 1914, 1.
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Safeguarding of Female Labourers’ Interests until 1914

In order to see the curve of the process connected to the
protection of women worker’s interests, we have to examine the
antecedents very briefly. Before the outbreak of the Great War, the
protection of — female as well as male (!) — labourers was based on
three main pillars referring basically to three ideological branches.
According to their political interests, associations made constant
attempts to solve those problems of female workers that affected the
whole society. The Christian Socialist School — sealed with the name
of Sarolta GeGcze — and the several newly-found organizations
related to this (i.e. the NGi Kereskedelmi Alkalmazottak Orszagos
Szévetsége (National Federation of Female Commercial Employees)
and the Katokikus NétisztviselGk (Catholic Female Clerks) intended
to fight for the rights of women office workers in a Christian
spirituality from the turn of the 19t and 20" century.? Under the
aegis of the Social Democratic Party, the Magyarorszagi Munkasné
Egyesiilet (Hungarian Female Labourers’ Organization) was
established in 1903.2° One of its defining leader was Mariska Gardos.
In its official organ titled Nomunkds (Woman Worker) the leaders of
the organization emphasized that they fight for the interest of
labourers belonging to both genders working either in factories or at
home.2t The third branch, with which I intend to deal in greater
details in this paper, is the bourgeois feminist line. Within this, I put
the main emphasis on the activity of the Hungarian Feminists’
Association which operated as the subdivision of the International
Council of Women. The association was founded in 1904, partly from
the members of the National Federation of Female Clerks (1896) and
partly from those women as well as men — living either in Budapest
or in the more prosperous regional centres of Hungary — who wanted
to intervene for the social, political and economic rights of women.22

19 QOrsolya KERESZTY, N6k vdltozé tarsadalmi szerepei a dualizmus kori
Magyarorszagon (Changing Social Roles of Women in Hungary during the Dualistic
Era) IN: Ildiké6 PSENAKOVA, Ferenc MEZO (ed.) and Ildiké VICZAYOVA (seds.),
Teéria a Prax 11. Nitra, 2009, 77—-88.

20 N, SZEGVARI (1981), 95-102.

2t Némunkas. (Women Worker) 3, 1914, 6. It was the official organ of the Social
Democratic Female Labourers. It was published in Budapest since 1903.

22 According to several research works published on the Hungarian females’
associations, it is difficult to examine the social affiliation of the members, as the entire
documentation of the associations activity is in most cases inaccessible. Hungarian
Feminists’ Association, Tdjékoztatas a Feministak Egyesiiletének czéljairdl és
munkatervérdl (Information about the Aims and about the Working Schedule of the
Feminists’ Association), Markus Samu Konyvnyomdaja, Budapest, 1905, 3—8. Fanni
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The two associations stayed in a close connection after 1904 and even
during the war: they not only organized common programmes and
published their official organs together, but the majority of their
members participated in the work of both groups. There was a large
overlapping in terms of the leading persons as well, as e.g. Rosika
Schwimmer23 and Vilma Gliicklich,2¢ two of the most important
figures of the Hungarian and international feminist movement before
and during the First World War, belonged to the leadership of both
associations.

It has to be definitely highlighted that during the history of
Hungarian women’s movements that these clubs represented a new
tendency. Firstly, as it will be clearly visible from the next subpart of
the study, it was not charity work that constituted the forefront of
their activities.2s Secondly, besides their national dimensions, these
associations had very strong transnational relations all over the
world.2¢ Due to this factor, scholars dealing with this topic assert that
in the course of the history of Hungarian women’s emancipation
movement, this is the only period — lasting from the 1890s until 1914
or 1918 — when the activities and aims of the Hungarian women’s
movements were totally synchronous with the western tendencies.2”

BORBIRO, Budapesti néegyletek 1862—1904 (Females’ Associations in Budapest) IN:
Anna FABRI and Gébor VARKONYI (ed.), A ndk vilaga. Miivelbdés- és
taradalomtorténeti tanulmdanyok (The World of Women. Studies related to Culture
and Social History), Argumentum, Budapest, 2007, 185—211.

23 Rosika Schwimmer (1877-1948): journalist, one of the founding members of
the Hungarian Feminists’ Association. She had an essential role in the organization
of the 1913 Congress of the International Women Suffrage Alliance in Budapest.
Famous pacifist who negotiated during the war with Lloyd George and President
Wilson several times. She inspired the creation of Women’s Peace Party in 1915. She
was nominated for the Nobel Peace Prize in 1947, but she did not receive it.
Franciska de HAAN, Krassimira DASKALOVA and Anna LOUTFI, A Biographical
Dictionary of Women’s Movements and Feminisms. Central, Eastern and South
Eastern Europe, 19" and 20" Centuries, CEU Press, Budapest, 2006, 484—488.

24 Vilma Gliicklich (1872—1927): teacher in a girls’ school in Fiume. She was the first
woman who obtained her degree at the University of Budapest. She was the president of
the Feminists for several years. After 1918, she immigrated to Switzerland where she
worked as the secretary-general for the Women’s International League for Peace and
Freedom. HAAN, DASKALOVA and LOUTFI (2006), 162—164.

25 Fanni Borbir6 proves in one of her studies that females’ associations before the
1890s focused mainly on charity work. BORBIRO (2007), 185—211.

26 Rosika Schwimmer recognized that positive effects of the western countries
women’s movements make a positive impact on the work of the Hungarian
associations. As a result of this, she built up very close connection with several
foreign activists. HAAN, DASKALOVA and LOUTFI (2006), 484—489.

27 For the feminist periodization of the Hungarian women’s movements, which
was prepared by Rosika Schwimmer more than 100 years ago and which is still used
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This statement can be justified by the fact that the Seventh
International Congress of the International Women Suffrage Alliance
was held in Budapest right before the World War in 1913.28 For this
occasion, not only the most famous European figures of the
international feminist movement — among others Cicely Corbett and
Aletta Jacobs — visited Hungary, but also the Americans such as
Carrie Chapman Catt.

The Shifting of the Feminists’ Objects in August 1914

The declaration of war against the countries belonging to the
Triple Entente caused fundamental changes in the legal, economic
and social circumstances of Hungary.29 The limitation of the freedom
of press as well as the restriction of the freedom of assembly
prevented the feminists in practising their previous system of
agitation. Public demonstrations and gatherings were immediately
banned. Neither petitions nor scolding articles about politicians or
male factory managers could have been shared in the columns of the
periodical press.

These matters as well as the direct danger of war highly
contributed to the shift in the Feminists’ objectives. As it is
perceptible from the five extraordinary editionss? of The Woman
from August until December of 1914, their main aim became the
prevention of the collapse of the Hungarian economy as well as ,the
protection of the large family of the nation”.3* Behind these high-
sounding and elevated slogans, we have to observe the changing
attitudes of feminist activists. Instead of further struggle for women’s
right to vote, they noticed that they had a new mission namely to
preserve those material and mental values which had been created
during the previous decades.32 One of the most cardinal segments of
this duty proved to be the labour exchange for female workers (either

in our national historiography see: Rosika SCHWIMMER, A magyar némozgalom
régi dokumentumai (The Old Documents of the Hungarian Women’s Movements)
Maéarkus Samu Konyvnyomdaja, Budapest, 1907, 1—6. SZAPOR (2007), 129—144.

28 The preparation works, which lasted more than one year, as well as the
timetable and the outcomes of the congress can be followed through the 1912 and
1913 issues of The Woman and the Society.

29 Ignac ROMSICS, Magyarorszag torténete a 20. szazadban (The History of
Hungary during the 20" Century), Osiris, Budapest, 2005, 101-112.

30 These issues were relatively short, comprising only few pages. As opposed to
this, issues which had been published before had been much longer, approximately
about 20 pages.

31 TW 15, 16, 17, 18, 19 (1914); TW 15 (1914): 1—2.

32 Tbid.
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originally unemployed or fired due to the war).33 Besides this, the
protection of the already employed women as well as the
encouragement of female labourers’ trade unionism was integral
parts of their work.34

Although, before analysing this kind of activity of the associations,
it is worth taking a closer look, how the official organ of the two
groups interpreted the beginning of the war. In the 13 issue of the
journal, which was published right after the death of Franz
Ferdinand of Austria and his wife Sophie, only two short articles
reported on the Assassination of Sarajevo. The first one was rather
factual as it announced only the mere deed of the murder even
without mentioning the names of the crown prince and princess. The
event that lead to the outbreak of the war was introduced in two short
lines on the front page among many other problems that preoccupied
the interests of the feminists.35 The other article is rather short and
compact, too. Its title is The tragedy of Sophie who had to die
because of her husband. However, compared to the other piece, it is
not merely a news, but much more like a piece of 